

AS/A Level GCE

Teacher Support

GCE Religious Studies

OCR Advanced Subsidiary GCE in Religious Studies H172

OCR Advanced GCE in Religious Studies H572

This Teacher Support is designed to accompany the OCR Advanced Subsidiary GCE and Advanced GCE specifications in Religious Studies for teaching from September 2008.

Contents

1	Introduction	3
2	AS Units	4
2		
	G571: AS Philosophy of Religion	4
	G572: AS Religious Ethics	7
	G573: AS Jewish Scriptures	11
	G574: AS New Testament	15
	G575: AS Developments in Christian Theology G576: AS Buddhism	20 26
	G577: AS Hinduism	30
	G578: AS Islam	33
	G579: AS Judaism	37
3	A2 Units	41
	G581: A2 Philosophy of Religion	41
	G582: A2 Religious Ethics	44
	G583: A2 Jewish Scriptures	47
	G584: A2 New Testament	50
	G585: A2 Developments in Christian Theology	55
	G586: A2 Buddhism	61
	G587: A2 Hinduism	64
	G588: A2 Islam	67
	G589: A2 Judaism	71
4	Resources for AS Units	74
	G571: AS Philosophy of Religion	74
	G572: AS Religious Ethics	76
	G573 and G583: Jewish Scriptures	77
	G574: AS New Testament	79
	G575: AS Developments in Christian Theology	80
	G576: AS Buddhism	82
	G577: AS Hinduism	83
	G578 and G588: Islam	83
	G579 and G589: Judaism	86
5	Resources for A2 Units	88
	G581: A2 Philosophy of Religion	88
	G582: A2 Religious Ethics	89
	G583: A2 Jewish Scriptures	90
	G584: A2 New Testament	90
	G585: A2 Developments in Christian Theology	91

93

94

95

95

G586: A2 Buddhism

G587: A2 Hinduism

G589: A2 Judaism

G588: A2 Islam

1 Introduction

The new structure of assessment at Advanced level has been introduced for teaching from September 2008. The specifications are designed to provide candidates with an introduction to Religious Studies.

These specifications are set out in the form of units. Each teaching unit is assessed by its associated unit of assessment. Guidance notes are provided with these specifications to assist teachers in understanding the detail necessary for each unit.

It is important to make the point that the Teacher Support plays a secondary role to the Specification itself. The Specification is the document on which assessment is based and specifies what content and skills need to be covered in delivering the course. At all times, therefore, this teacher support should be read in conjunction with the Specification. If clarification on a particular point is sought then that clarification should be found in the Specification itself.

OCR recognises that the teaching of this qualification will vary greatly from school to school and from teacher to teacher. With that in mind, this Teacher Guide/Notes for Guidance is offered as guidance but will be subject to modifications by the individual teacher.

G571: AS Philosophy of Religion

As an introduction to elements of the early influences on Western Philosophy candidates will be expected to study some of the views of both Plato and Aristotle. There are a number of books which may be used to supplement any text books a class may use, for example *Sophie's World* by Gaarder, the *Story of Philosophy* by Brian Magee. It is important at this early stage to help candidates see that this introduction will give them an understanding they will be expected to build on through the issues studied at both AS and A2 levels.

Ancient Greek Influences on Philosophy of Religion

While candidates are not expected to have first hand knowledge of the texts, they should be able to demonstrate an understanding of the views that these philosophers expressed in the following limited areas of their writings.

• Plato: the Analogy of the Cave

The Republic VII. 514A–521B

As well as explaining the analogy, in this context, candidates should consider the meaning of the different parts of this particular analogy. They would need, for example, to be able to explain who and what might be represented by the prisoners, the shadows, the cave, the outside world, the sun and the journey out of and back to the cave.

• Plato: the concept of the Forms

The Form of the Good

Here candidates should be able to show that they understand the difference between concepts and phenomena, what is meant by 'ideals' and how this relates to Plato's understanding of Forms, particularly the Form of the Good. It is important to keep in mind that candidates may be returning to this topic again when they look at body/ mind distinction and the idea of 'soul' in the A2 part of this course.

• Aristotle: ideas about cause and purpose in relation to God

Metaphysics Book 12

In this section candidates are expected to gain an understanding of Aristotle's ideas about cause and purpose and how this leads to belief in a Prime Mover. Again it is important that candidates do not just look at these views in isolation; they will be part of the work they later study on proofs for God's existence.

Throughout all of the above study, candidates should be learning not just to describe these teachings but to analyse them in a critical and comparative manner. As the actual texts do not have to be studied to any great depth any standard text book will be helpful.

Judaeo-Christian Influences on Philosophy of Religion

Candidates do not have to study any prescribed Biblical texts for this section of the course. Teachers are therefore able to select any texts which can be used to exemplify the following topics. Taylor's *Philosophy of Religion for AS and A2* is a helpful starting point.

The concept of God as Creator

It is important that candidates do not approach this section in isolation; they should, for example, be able to compare the Judaeo-Christian understanding of God with the view, from the previous section, of God as a Prime Mover. They should be able to build on this by discussing the imagery of God found in the Bible and the ways that God is involved with his creation. It would be useful for candidates to develop an understanding of the Judaeo-Christian belief in God as 'omnipotent, omniscient and omnipresent'. Candidates should be able to discuss what is meant by the concept of 'creation *ex nihilo*', which is arguably a teaching not found before the writings of Augustine of Hippo.

• The goodness of God

In this area, candidates are being asked to understand beliefs about God being morally perfect and indeed the source for any human ethics. God is seen as a lawgiver and judge. It is within this context that candidates are asked to grapple with the ancient philosophical question as to whether God commands things because they are good, or whether things are good because God commands them.

In studying both the Greek and the Judaeo-Christian approach, it is hoped that candidates will see how Western Philosophies have been strongly influenced by these two interwoven strands which do not always fit well together. In a sense they are looking at a contrast between a predominantly Deist view of the universe and a Theist view.

To give an example, for Plato there is a very clear division between the shadow world we experience and the world of the forms; whereas throughout the Bible we see an expression of God as interacting with individuals and with a chosen people, even to the point of changing the laws of nature when necessary.

Traditional Arguments for the Existence of God

Candidates will need to have a good understanding of the main proofs for God's existence and their criticisms as listed in the specification. There are several textbooks which would give candidates the understanding they need such as, Cole's *Philosophy of Religion*, and Vardy's *The Thinker's Guide to God*, Hick's *Philosophy of Religion* (while older, still a useful resource for teachers), the AS Level Philosophy and Ethics for OCR textbook (Heinemann) and Taylor's *Philosophy of Religion*. There are also several useful articles to be found in publications such as *Dialogue, The Philosophers Magazine* or *Think*. There are also several internet sites with access to useful essays and explanations of the many critiques of these arguments.

It is important that candidates make an effort to read some of the proofs in their original form: Brian Davies: *Philosophy of Religion: An Anthology and Guide*, or the anthologies by Paul Helm, or that by Taliaferro and Griffiths. Alternatively there is the collection of writings edited by John Hick: *Classical and Contemporary Readings in Philosophy of Religion*, which could be a useful resource for teachers. This book covers such authors as Anselm and Descartes on the Ontological argument, Hume against the Teleological argument and it also includes a transcription of the famous 1948 debate between the Jesuit Father Copleston and the philosopher Bertrand Russell. Mill's challenge to the Teleological argument can be found in his *Three Essays on Religion*.

The final argument in this part of the specification, Kant's Moral argument, is an area where candidates can get bogged down in describing his ethics, forgetting about the moral argument. It is important while they are studying this section that they keep in mind where he is going with his description of an innate moral awareness. Candidates will need to be able to offer a critique of this argument using the psychological views of Freud. Candidates will need therefore to be able to demonstrate knowledge of Freud's challenges to religion and religious belief.

Challenges to Religious Belief

The problem of evil

In this part of the specification, candidates should be able to build on the philosophical understanding of God. It will be helpful at this point if candidates understand the implication of the triad of attributes – omnipotent, omniscient and benevolent. While schools are free to look at a number of theodicies, the specification only asks for a detailed knowledge of the classical versions of Augustine and Irenaeus. Candidates should be able to analyse both of these theodicies in a critical manner and be able to compare them with each other. This includes the question of the extent to which the God of classical theism can be held to be responsible for the existence of evil. The distinction between natural and moral evil should also be discussed both from the point of view of challenges to help human beings grow to their full potential and the nature of free will in this context. To this end it may be good to read the critique of the Free Will Defence by Mackie in chapter 9 of *The Miracle of Theism*.

There are several books which give a good access to this area of the course; Vardy's *The Thinkers Guide to Evil*, Taylor's *Philosophy of Religion*, and Hick's *Evil and the God of Love* still has one of the most thorough accounts of the Augustinian and Irenaean theodicies.

Religion and science

Candidates are likely to find a wealth of materials for this part of the course both in books and on line. The publication of Dawkins' *The God Delusion* has increased an already heated debate. In terms of this particular scientific challenge to religion candidates may find Alister McGrath's book *The Dawkins Delusion* particularly helpful in giving a clear account of some of the larger issues involved in this debate.

Outside this particular debate there are a number of writers of whom candidates could be aware. John Polkinghorne, for example, has written several easily accessible books on many aspects of the dialogue between science and religion. While there are a number of good critiques of the Intelligent Design debate, candidates should be familiar with the theories of Irreducible Complexity.

G572: AS Religious Ethics

Whilst the content of the specification is divided into two sections – Ethical Theory and Applied Ethics – it is important that these two sections be closely linked.

Thus it is essential to study medical ethics and war and peace in the light of the ethical stances found in Situation Ethics, Kant's theory, Utilitarianism, Natural Law Theory, and religious ethics. Some understanding of the concepts of absolutist or relativist morality should underpin the whole approach.

Candidates should be able to apply the theories to any given moral issue e.g. when considering abortion, euthanasia, IVF or genetic engineering, it is necessary to be able to evaluate the problems raised against the background of ethical theory. It is also important to introduce religious methods of decision-making, and this need not be confined to a Christian approach.

Candidates are required, therefore, to relate both non-religious and religious ethical systems, not only to each other, but also to the practical issues in the specification. Teachers should ensure that candidates are aware of this requirement.

There are a range of suitable textbooks that cover both Ethical Theory and Applied Ethics -*Ethical Studies 2nd Edition* (Bowie), *Religious Ethics for AS and A2* (Oliphant), *The Puzzle of Ethics* (Vardy and Grolsch), *Ethics* (Pojman) and *Practical Ethics* (Singer). All of these offer useful coverage, but in certain places they need to be complemented by the other recommended books on specific topics.

Religious Ethics

Since this topic underpins the rest of the module, candidates should try to understand how ethical theories depend upon the adoption of either an absolutist and objective view of ethics (deontological) or a relativist and subjective view (teleological).

Discussion is found in chapter 2 of Oliphant's *Religious Ethics for AS and A2*, chapter 2 of Pojman's *Ethics*, and in chapters 5, 6 and 7 of Geisler's *Christian Ethics*. Candidates should understand that Kant, Natural Law Theory and certain religious theories tend towards or are avowedly absolutist, whereas others, i.e. Utilitarianism are more relativist.

Teachers should ensure that candidates understand that even the more relativist theories have an absolutist element. It will be helpful for candidates to be able to discuss the advantages of a strict ethical code and the need for an ideal morality but also the need to consider each situation and the diversity of ethics in different cultures.

Consideration should then be given to how these different approaches would affect attitudes towards Practical topics.

Ethical Theories: Natural Law

Natural law

Candidates should understand the origins of Natural Law in Aristotle, but later championed by Aquinas, who uses the term 'Natural Law' to refer to the moral law. It will be helpful to understand that it is a deductive theory, starting with basic principles and from these deducing the right action in a particular situation. It should also be explained as broadly deontological – the motive for the action and the action itself, not the outcomes determine whether it is right or wrong. By using our reason we can discover precepts or laws, which if followed enable us to act

in accordance with our true nature and so in accordance with our final purpose. Both the strengths and weaknesses of Natural Law need to be examined, and the extent to which it is a basis for traditional Christian morality. Candidates should have a good understanding of the primary and secondary precepts and how they apply to the practical problems in the specification.

As well as the textbooks mentioned above, other useful resources for Natural Law are to be found in *Christian Ethics* (Hoose). Aquinas' writings can be found at: <u>www.newadvent.org/summa</u> Exercises on Aquinas and Natural Law by Gensler can be found at: <u>www.jcu.edu/philosophy/gensler/ethics.htm</u>

Ethical Theories: Kantian Ethics

Kantian ethics

Candidates need to understand Kant's emphasis on duty, obligation and the importance of doing duty for its own sake. The difference between the Hypothetical and the Categorical Imperatives and the various formulations of the Categorical Imperative: Universalisability; not treating others as a means to an end and living in a kingdom of ends. It is also important that students understand that Kant needs to postulate the existence of God, freedom and immortality. They also need to study his rejection of Consequentialism (as in Utilitarianism), the strengths of such a straightforward theory, based on reason and aiming to treat everyone fairly, but also the weaknesses: its rigidity and the conflicts of duty an how universalisation can be used to justify almost anything, without giving any guidance on what to do in particular situations. Candidates should then consider how this theory might apply to the practical problems in Section Two.

As well as the textbooks mentioned above, other useful resources for Natural Law, with exercises and criticisms, are to be found in *Moral Problems* (Palmer).

Ethical Theories: Utilitarianism

• Utilitarianism

Candidates should understand Utilitarianism as a teleological and consequential system. They should have an understanding of the principle of utility, and the differences between Bentham and Mill.

The use of the hedonic calculus and the issue of quality versus quantity of happiness should be considered, as well as higher and lower pleasures. Candidates also need to know the difference between Act and Rule Utilitarianism, and strong versus weak Rule Utilitarianism.

Preference Utilitarianism from Peter Singer should also be explained – not counting our own preferences as greater than those of any other and taking account of all the people affected by an action.

The discussion of strengths and weaknesses could include the importance of happiness or pleasure, its democratic nature and the value we give in decision making to the consequences of our actions, but also the difficulty in predicting these consequences, the ignoring of duty and the value of the individual, and the lack of protection for the minority.

As well as the textbooks mentioned above, *Utilitarianism* by Smart & Williams offers a modern discussion of the strengths and weaknesses of the theory.

Ethical Theories: Religious Ethics

• Religious Ethics - a study of the ethics of the religion chosen by the candidate

It is not specified which religion is studied. Teachers are free to study the ethics of any world religion; however, most text books discuss Christian Ethics. If candidates are studying Christian Ethics, it is important that they are aware that there is a huge variation in approaches to ethical decision making among different Christian groups. This diversity means that it is not possible to generalise about Christian beliefs about moral issues. Examination questions can, therefore, be approached in two ways: with reference to biblical texts and teachings; or with reference to an ethical theory which is essentially Christian.

Teachers should compare religious ethics with other ethical systems such as Utilitarianism, Kant's theory and may also consider contemporary humanist ideas. The principles and religious methods of ethical decision-making such as the Divine Command Theory and the Natural Law Theory could provide students with the foundation for this approach.

Applied Ethics

Candidates should be encouraged to understand how ethical theories and systems might be applied to practical issues throughout the module, and also to be able to show what a religious response to the issues might be. They could use *The New Dictionary of Christian Ethics* as a reference book.

In the AS specification the issues to be studied are concerned with human life, and the text books recommended above have chapters on most of the problems. They are also discussed in *Causing Death and Saving Lives* (Glover) and *Issues of Life and Death* (Wilcockson) More detail is found in *Bioethics –an Anthology* (Kuhse and Singer), *Ethics in Practice – An Anthology* (Lafolette), *Rethinking Life and Death* (Singer), *A Brave New World* (Deanne-Drummond), *Playing God* (Peters), and for the right to a child there is the book that accompanied the BBC documentary series *A Child Against All Odds* (Winston).

War and peace are discussed well in the above books, also in *Ethics, Killing and War* (Norman) and *Issues of Life and Death* (Wilcockson).

• Abortion; the right to a child

Candidates should be aware of the many ethical issues raised by abortion – the most important being whether the foetus is a person, or a potential person. The criteria of personhood from different philosophers can be examined.

Candidates need to understand the issues surrounding the sanctity of life, and again this hinges on when life is believed to begin. It might be helpful to explore the difference between a strong sanctity of life stance and a weak sanctity of life stance, as well as the strengths of the argument: valuing all human life equally and giving all equal dignity; and the weaknesses: the challenges to *imago dei* from natural selection; the priority given to human over animal life and the conflicts of duty between the sanctity of life of the mother and that of the foetus.

Discussions about the right to a child cover issues such as whether a child is a gift or a right, the process of IVF, the involvement of a third party, and the moral status of the foetus. The candidates need some understanding of the different reproductive technologies and discuss the questions of who actually has a right to a child.

It is most important that candidates are able to apply the different ethical theories to the right to a child. Candidates need to be able to compare these different views on Abortion and the right to a child and discuss their strengths and weaknesses.

Euthanasia

Candidates should be aware of the many ethical issues raised by euthanasia: whether it is always wrong to kill, whether killing is the same as letting die and whether we have the right to die. The issue of personhood is also important, as are questions of personal autonomy and the quality of life.

Candidates need to be able to apply the different ethical theories to euthanasia.

• Genetic engineering

Genetic Engineering is a controversial topic and raises many ethical issues. Candidates need to have some understanding of the science, but it is most important that they understand the different ethical issues raised by Genetic Engineering. For instance, it might be helpful to know the difference between Somatic Gene Therapy and Germ Line Gene Therapy, and have some understanding of how animals are genetically altered and GM crops. It is, however, a vast subject and candidates do not need a detailed understanding of Genetic Engineering; the emphasis is on the application of the ethical theories.

Candidates might consider ethical questions such as whether altering genes is 'playing God', whether it is right to select genes to prevent or cure genetic diseases, the possible consequences of genetic testing and screening, the use of embryo or adult stem cells and whether the possibility of cures outweighs the risks.

Case studies can be very helpful in order to illustrate the different forms of genetic engineering – these can be found in newspapers and on the BBC website.

Human Embryo Research raises ethical questions such as whether the embryo is a person, whether the benefits outweigh the destruction of embryos, whether there are alternatives to using embryos and whether it is acceptable to create embryos for research.

Although no detailed knowledge is required, some understanding of how stem cells can be used and the ethical issues involved will be helpful.

• War and peace

Candidates need to understand that many issues arise from Just War Theory. They may start with the approaches to Just war from Augustine and Aquinas and then possibly examine other attempts to refine and improve the theory up to the 20th century. It would be good if candidates considered applying Just War Theory to recent wars, without too much historical and political detail, in order to assess its strengths and weaknesses.

Candidates also need to consider the approaches of the different forms of pacifism and even how some consider war to be a necessary evil.

For Just War candidates need to know that this covers going to war (jus ad bellum), the conduct of the war (jus in bello) and the ending of the war (jus post bellum). Candidates could discuss whether Just War criteria are still applicable today with modern methods of warfare.

Candidates could examine the different motivations for pacifism both religious and secular, as well as the example of individuals and organisations that have supported the pacifist view point.

As well as examining the strengths and weaknesses of Just War Theory and pacifism, candidates also need to be able to apply the different ethical theories to the problem of war.

For this unit, teachers are referred to Charpentier *How to read the Old Testament* and Drane *Introducing the Old Testament* as being text books of sufficient depth for students approaching this study. Students may study the text as Jewish Scriptures, the Old Testament of the Christian Bible, or both.

Background to Jewish Scriptures

• A time line of scriptures:

placing Jewish scriptures in their historical context and considering the probable dates of principal events and people, ie the life of Abraham, life of Moses, the Exodus, life of David, the Exile, the life of Isaiah, the Maccabean revolt, the destruction of the Temple. Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the different opinions about the dates of the Jewish scriptures and also, therefore, of the possible dates of the events contained in them;
- in their responses candidates should be able to consider two or three of the possible forms of evidence and their possible value and reliability.

Candidates may use either Gregorian or Jewish dating.

Candidates may employ historical, literary or archaeological evidence.

For an understanding of the scriptures and of their theological importance it is vital that candidates have some idea of the historical context in which they were written as well as the probable historical dating of the events to which they refer. Of the events listed, clearly only the destruction of the Temple in 70 CE can be given a fixed date, but it is nevertheless important for students to have some idea of the chronology and time scale involved in these scriptures. Any relevant evidence may be deployed and there is no need for students to have studied all these types of evidence in depth.

• Form criticism

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the types of literature found in Jewish scriptures: myth, history, prophecy, poetry, law, wisdom (hohma), liturgy; their origins and purpose;
- The main types of literature found in the Tenakh and be aware of examples of each of these.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically. The purpose of this section is to enable students to reach an appreciation of some of the various literary types found in the Jewish Scriptures. They should have an understanding of each of these types of literature and to know their basic origins and purpose with examples. Again, it is not expected that their knowledge will go beyond the basic textbooks suggested. Candidates might consider the approach of Coggins' *Introducing the Old Testament*, and the introduction and first two chapters of *Beginning Old Testament Study* edited by Rogerson. Some may wish also to refer to scholars such as Gunkel. It is, of course, possible to study this section from a faith perspective and the acceptance that although the forms of literature vary, the scriptures are nevertheless the divine word of G-d. In their approach it is equally acceptable for candidates to reject the theories of Form Criticism and prefer a purely faith-based approach but nevertheless they need to be aware that such theories exist and what they propose.

In dealing with the themes and texts in the specification candidates should be aware of the varied and changing approaches of scholars, that definitions and identifications of types of literature e.g. myth and legend are not cut and dried though historical, archaeological and literary methods may be useful tools. The main aim is to encourage interest in the text and exploration into theological insights, concepts and ideas. This pertains even if the general approach adopted is from a faith perspective.

Themes from the Jewish Scriptures: Covenant

Covenant

Genesis 1:26–30, (Adam) 8:20–9:29, (Noah) 12, 15, 17 (Abraham); Exodus 19–24 (Moses); 2 Samuel 7 (David); Jeremiah 31 (the new covenant)

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the idea of Covenant as a particularly Jewish concept and of the way in which this idea develops through the listed texts, moving from a largely single-sided agreement on the part of G-d to a two-way agreement between G-d and humanity;
- the development of covenantal ideas: the differences between each of the eight covenants listed and the way in which they show the developing relationship between G-d and the Jews and, in particular the idea of the Promised Land.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

The selection of texts is not intended to dictate a specific approach nor a preordained path progressing to a particular conclusion. Candidates should be aware of differing interpretations of biblical material and the significance of the ideas in their Jewish milieu. They should have considered the possible development of the idea of Covenant in the Jewish Scriptures from a largely single-sided agreement on the part of G-d to a two-way agreement between G-d and humanity. Whether or not Jeremiah's covenant is really new or the extent to which it presupposed the permanence of the Sinai Covenant, or of Abraham's covenant, remains a matter of debate.

The escape from Egypt is not a set text but the first commandment sets the Exodus deliverance as a key concept of covenant and salvation history. The Moses Covenant might lead back to the study of the start of the special relationship – the covenant with Abraham –or, for those who wish to do so, this might be the place for an introduction to the idea of the Pentateuchal traditions J E D and P. Names of scholars are not as vital as a general understanding of the idea of sources at the level of coverage in the books in the reading list e.g. Charpentier.

Genesis 1:26-30 (Adam)

The covenant ideas are here the focus, although some might wish to consider the debates about evolution, historicity and authorship. Students might consider the nature of the blessing and the – often abused – idea of stewardship based on the perception of mankind as being in G-d's image.

Genesis 8:20-9:29 (Noah)

Centres might wish to look at the background in the ancient near east in connection with ritual, sacrifice, sealing, signs, conditions and types of covenant and that the two traditions – J and P – seem to follow the mythical Gilgamesh epic. The main issues are of the Jewish covenantal themes with the universal G-d making a covenant with Noah, his descendants and the whole earth.

Genesis 12, 15 & 17 (Abraham)

In these three chapters (the call, the covenant of the cutting and the circumcision covenant)

from the Abrahamic cycle candidates should consider comparisons with the Noachide covenant, and the emphasis on the promise of descendants and of the land, covering such concepts as grace, faith and obedience. They may consider the extent to which a G-d initiated blessing has conditions and stipulations (implicit or explicit).

Exodus 19-24 (Moses)

In studying this section, candidates might consider the differences between casuistic and apodeictic laws, and kind of society implied by the laws given. The nature of the covenant given here, in comparison with other covenants from the Ancient Near East, would be a useful area of study. Centres might also wish to consider whether these passages show a complete monotheism, or whether they show evidence of a transition between henotheism and monotheism. The nature of the Jews as the chosen people, and the responsibilities which this gives, should be explored, as well as the possible date, authorship and historicity of the passage.

2 Samuel 7 (David)

In studying this section, candidates are likely to consider the possible different sources used here, and the different attitudes towards monarchy that are revealed. The purposes of the writers of this passage could be explored in relation to the theme of covenant and the role of David. The date of writing and the likely accuracy of the account might be discussed.

Jeremiah 31 (the new covenant)

Candidates will need some understanding of the context in which Jeremiah preached, in order to understand the key elements of his message. This passage concentrates on the 'new covenant', and candidates should consider what Jeremiah might have meant by this.

Themes from the Jewish Scriptures: G-d and Suffering

• G-d and suffering Job 1–14; 19; 38 & 42 Jonah

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the unique nature of the books of Jonah and Job;
- the particular teachings about the nature of G-d which are found within them;
- the suffering of the Jews as demonstrated in the texts, in relation to the Jewish understanding of the nature of G-d.

From Jonah, candidates should be able to demonstrate understanding of the following themes:

- Obedience;
- the inability to hide from G-d or resist G-d's wishes;
- the relationship with non-Jews;
- Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

Jonah

The book of Jonah raises issues about inspiration as a process and about historicity and various types of literature as well as themes such as the omnipotence and omnipresence of G-d, universalism, compassion etc. It will be helpful for candidates to have considered when and why the book was written, why it was preserved and whether or not the historical accuracy of the story is important. They might consider the issues raised by the story, such as the extent to which individuals have free will, and the concept of reward and punishment.

Job

For Job, candidates should have good textual knowledge of:

- the Prologue (chapter 1);
- the impact on Job of G-d speaking from the whirlwind (chapter 38) which led to his acceptance of G-d's will;
- the Epilogue (chapter 42);
- the first series of arguments with his 'comforters' (chapters 2-14) and his suffering (chapter 19).

Candidates are likely to have considered the purpose of this text, usually said to have been written soon after the Exile to reflect on the sufferings of the time. The type of literature and the purposes of the writer(s) could be considered, as well as the main themes. Candidates might want to consider whether the story of Job provides an adequate response to problems of suffering, and could consider issues raised by the opening discussion between G-d and Satan, and the implications of the encounter with G-d and the eventual outcome.

Themes from the Jewish Scriptures: The Prophet Elijah

- The Prophet Elijah:
- 1 Kings 18, 19, 21

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• the role of the Prophet as exemplified by Elijah: in particular they should be able to refer to the Elijah stories connected with Mount Carmel, Mount Horeb and Naboth's vineyard.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

This is an opportunity to look at the teaching and some of the events in the life of a Prophet – Elijah. Candidates need to be familiar with the three specific events given: Elijah's defeat of the Prophets of Baal on Mount Carmel, Elijah's flight from Jezebel and meeting with G-d on Mount Horeb with a consideration of the way in which Elijah is aware of G-d's presence, the story of Naboth's vineyard and G-d's sentence on Ahab.

First Century Gospel Setting

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

 Common Judaism: monotheism, law and covenant, Jerusalem temple, sacrifice and synagogue.

Points to cover may include:

Monotheism. Assumed to be the underlying principle which set Israel apart from other contemporary religions. The Decalogue establishes the principle (Exodus 20) and Isaiah extends it to its logical conclusion by ridiculing the gods of other nations as inert idols (Isaiah 44:6-8). But the question remains just how monotheistic were the ordinary people of Jesus' time? Could they have accepted the term 'Son of God' or 'son of god' of someone like Jesus who had exceptional powers without considering this to be blasphemous?

Law and Covenant. The Old Testament presents Israel's relationship in terms of covenant with Abraham (Genesis 12), Moses (Exodus 19-24) David (2 Samuel 7) and Jeremiah (Jeremiah 31). It expresses God's loyalty to Israel in return for Israel's obedience to God in particular in obedience to the Law. EP Sanders terms this 'covenantal nomism' and links it with 'restoration eschatology' which, he suggests, dominated first century Jewish thinking. It would be helpful for candidates to be aware of the difference between Written Torah and Oral Torah and the emergence of rabbinical Judaism which was developing the halakhah (oral law) as a distinctive means of establishing holiness in preparation for the messianic age.

Jerusalem Temple. Restoration was closely associated with the Temple as a symbol of the oneness of God and the covenant (see Isaiah 66:18-24 and Micah 4). The restoration of the Temple was a way of talking about the end of the diaspora and Israel's role as a light to the nations (eg 2 Maccabees 2:7). It was an important feature/symbol amongst the Essenes at Qumran. EP Sanders *Jesus and Judaism* chapter 2 will be helpful here.

Sacrifice. The cult of the Temple in the Old Testament demanded a range of sacrifices: communion sacrifices (Leviticus 3); holocausts (Leviticus 1); sin offerings (Leviticus 4-7) and sacrifices at special festivals such as Passover (Exodus 12). After the Maccabean revolt Judaism accepted that humans could also be sacrifices as martyrs (4 Maccabees 17). Sacrifices were therefore an intimate part of the establishment of the covenant.

Synagogue. The origin of the synagogues is obscure but probably occurred during the exile of 586 BCE onwards in Babylonia, and by the first century synagogues could be found through out the Graeco-Roman world including Palestine. Modern scholarship suggests that 'synagogue' was a broad term referring to two kinds of place; a place or worship and a place of study. In the first century these buildings served all kinds of civic purpose as places of education, council meetings, treasuries, hostels etc. The shift in the importance of the synagogue post 70 CE is worth noting.

Details on these topics may be found in CC Rowland *Christian Origins*, JDG Dunn *Parting of the Ways* and E.P. Sanders *Judaism*.

Distinctive ideas of the Jewish groups

Candidates should know about the influence and distinctive ideas of the four groups outlined below:

Pharisees. Non-priestly groups originating from the Hasidim from the second century. Involved with developing the oral Torah/halakhah.

Sadducees. Probably originated from the Zadokites and were from aristocratic priestly families who as chief priests were concerned with the governance of the Temple.

Essenes. They shared much in common with the Pharisees but their origins probably derive also from the Zadokites in particular their split from mainstream Judaism over the accession of the non-Zadokite high priest Jonathan Maccabee in 152 BCE. The main evidence of their existence and ideas is derived from their library and remains of one of their communities at Qumran (by the Dead Sea). Geza Vermes *The Dead Sea Scrolls* may provide useful background reading.

Zealots. Josephus calls them the 'fourth philosophy' but they were probably part of a wider movement deeply critical of Roman occupation and corruption of Judaism under the Hasmoneans and Herod's family. Their influence is hotly debated, see Horsley *Bandits, Prophets Messiahs*.

EP Sanders *Judaism: Practice and Belief* and CK Barrett *The New Testament Background: Selected Documents* pages 157-161 and chapter 9 are particularly useful here.

Roman occupation of First Century Palestine and its impact on Jewish life and religion

It will be helpful for candidates to know about Pompey's victory over the Seleucid Empire in 64 BCE and the relationship Herod the Great had with Rome and Palestine. He was a great builder (e.g. the Temple) and his sons subsequently ruled different areas of Palestine. Some knowledge may be shown of the rule by the prefects (eg Pontius Pilate, Marullus, Cumanus) and the effect all these people had on Jewish life and religion (see above on the four parties). Distinctions can be made between the official policy of tolerance and Roman rule in practice. For example: Pilate and the flags and aqueduct; Caligula and his statue; Cumanus and the flasher in the Temple.

CK Barrett The New Testament Background: Selected Documents chapter 7.

Source criticism of the Gospels

Source criticism is concerned with the way in which the written sources have been used by the Synoptic Gospel writers to establish what can be known about the historical Jesus; the history of the early church and the theology of the Gospel writers themselves. The opening of Luke's gospel is a helpful starting point (Luke 1:2-4). Scholars note the following problems with the texts: repeated material, shifts in style and vocabulary and unusual ideas which intrude into the narrative flow. From this the 'Synoptic problem' has emerged. The two source solution gives Mark priority as the source gospel from which Matthew and Luke have taken their material and added their own and a common set of material called Q. Candidates should be aware of other solutions such as the four source hypothesis and the Farrer-Goulder one source solution.

David Wenham and Steve Walton *Exploring the New Testament* pages 57-70 provides good background.

Mark's Gospel

Mark's gospel

Candidates should know about the arguments concerning the historical setting and date of the Gospel. Source criticism suggests that he was the earliest Gospel and tradition suggests that he was writing during or after Nero's persecution of Christians in 64 CE. Mark 13 may reflect these conditions. Candidates are likely to know about the Papias tradition that Mark was a scribe to Peter and look at supporting evidence in the New Testament. Other New Testament traditions

link him more closely with St Paul. His purpose might be to give hope to Christians during persecution (e.g. *Mark 8:34-38*).

These issues are covered in all major commentaries and New Testament introductions. For example, read Morna Hooker's *The Gospel According to St Mark* introduction.

Themes and Texts of Mark's Passion Narrative

• The Passion story, trial and death of Jesus *Mark 11, 14:1–15:41*

Candidates should know the content of the passion in detail. Although it is not necessary to know the other Gospels, variations in their narratives can act as useful commentaries.

Candidates should be able to comment on the following (wording from the specification in bold, suggested approaches underneath):

The significance of the triumphal entry into Jerusalem and Temple cleansing for the gospel writer and Jesus. The triumphal entry and Temple cleansing set the scene for Mark's passion narrative which occupies over a third of his gospel. The Triumphal entry from Mark's point of view appears to present Jesus as the peaceful messiah of Zecharaiah 9:9 - although there is no direct quotation. The focus is on Jesus as the son of David prepared for in Mark 10:47. Areas of debate include the Markan dramatic irony and the possibility that the story was created for Christological purposes. The cleansing of the Temple echoes the cleansing of the Temple by the Maccabees in 164 BCE but more particularly it presents Jesus as the restoration prophet whose symbolic actions (Cursing the Fig Tree and Cleansing the Temple) point to Israel's failure. Possible interpretations of the Temple incident include: a literal cleansing of a Temple polluted by a corrupt priesthood; and eschatological sign of the forthcoming destruction and heavenly rebuilding of the Temple; Jesus was replacing the Temple cult with the Eucharist.

The meaning of the Last Supper. There are various explanations as to what kind of meal the Last Supper might have been and therefore how it should be interpreted because the chronology between the Synoptic Gospels and John's Gospel (chapter 13) differs. Suggestions include a haburah or fellowship/covenant meal intended to cement the relationship between the master and his pupils; a special Kiddush meal; an Essene meal. Paul's account in 1 Corinthians 11:17-26 is important because, although he does not call it a Passover, the language is very close to that used by Luke 22:7-23 and reaffirms the tradition that Jesus celebrated the meal on the night on which he was betrayed. Consideration should be made of blood and the covenant (see Exodus 24:8) in Mark or the 'new covenant' of Paul and Luke (Jeremiah 31:31), the eschatological reference to the coming of the kingdom and Jesus' refusal/future abstinence in the drinking of wine.

Presentation and historical accuracy of women, Judas, Peter, Pilate. All of these characters may be analysed with reference to their place in Mark and to the other Gospels and Acts of the Apostles. Is Mark's portrayal of Peter linked to politics in the early church? Is Mark's portrayal of women liberating or an ironic comment on the failure of the disciples? The character of Peter might also be compared to his role in Galatians 2:14 and Pilate with Josephus' account in *The Jewish War* 2:169-177 (see Barrett *The New Testament Background* pages 155-157).

Jesus' death as sacrifice and atonement. For types of sacrifice see above. The Last Supper provides a possible view that Jesus' death was a communion sacrifice. Atonement may be understood in various ways either as propitiation or expiation. As propitiation Isaiah 53 is a model of one who dies on behalf of others. Expiation is closer to the Old Testament Day of Atonement when the scapegoat took on the sins of the nation (Leviticus 16). Jesus as the ransom for many (Mark 10:45) can be interpreted in a variety of ways: as righteous martyr, propitiation or expiation. Textual variants in Mark's Last supper of covenant and new covenant

(between Exodus 24:8 and Jeremiah 31:31) provide the basis for further discussion as to how Mark understands the theological nature of Jesus' death. Look also at the tearing of the Temple veil (15:38).

The role of Romans and Jews. How sympathetically does Mark present the Jews and Pilate? To whom does he apportion blame for Jesus' death – if at all? A comparison of Pilate from Mark's Gospel with the historical Pilate could help to decide this or a comparison with Matthew's presentation of Pilate might indicate how Matthew has understood Mark. Some suggest that the Barrabas incident is not historical but a product of the evangelists' anti-Semitism. The 'Jews' might include the crowds, the chief priests and the High Priest.

The use of the Old Testament. The Old Testament is quoted specifically at times eg the crowd's 'hosanna' at the Triumphal Entry (11:9-10) from Psalm 118:25; Jesus' quotation from Jeremiah 7:11 to indicate how the Temple has failed to offer the sacrifice of prayer; the cry from the cross (15:34) cites Psalm 22; reference to the 'blood of the covenant' (14:24) appears to refer to Exodus 24:4. Other references are more thematic such as the presentation of Jesus as the suffering servant of Isaiah 53 or implicit eg the 'Lord' who enters Jerusalem (11:3) points to texts such as Malachi 3:1. Some suggest use of that there is a conscious use of the vindication of the righteous sufferer from the wisdom tradition (Wisdom 2-5).

General questions of historicity versus theology. A comparison with the chronology of John's Gospel, for example, shows how differently Mark presents the events. For example the chronology of the cleansing of the Temple (John 2:13-17 – which is placed at the start of Jesus' ministry) and its relationship to the crucifixion. Other areas to be considered could include the historical legitimacy of the Jewish 'trial', Roman trial and mocking, and the details of the crucifixion itself. On the other hand consideration may be given to Mark's theology of suffering and martyrdom and the extent to which these have dictated the order of events. More general questions as to what is meant by 'history' should be considered.

For background, see Simon Légasse The Trial of Jesus, or Vermes The Passion.

Presentation of Jesus as Son of God, Son of Man, as righteous martyr. As righteous martyr a comparison could be made between the Maccabean martyrs and the notion that the sin of the nation could be removed through their atoning death (4 Maccabees 17:22); alternatively Mark may be developing the Suffering Servant theme of Isaiah 53.

The term Son of Man may be associated with the apocalyptic tradition of Daniel 7:14 and Enoch as suggested in Mark 14:62. Elsewhere in Mark the usage implies one who suffers for others (8:31, 10:45) or simply one who has authority to teach (2:10 and look at the discussion in 11:27-33). The question is whether Son of Man is a characteristic of Jesus' own language or whether it developed in the early Church because it avoided direct reference to Jesus' divinity. Morna Hooker's *The Son of Man in Mark* is helpful and there are extended notes in her commentary. The background to the phrase Son of God should be looked at. In the Old Testament it sometimes referred to the king (Psalm 2:7) or to the nation (Exodus 4:22f). Mark 11:1-11 presents Jesus as a Davidic king but in fulfilment of Zechariah 9:9 The reference to Jesus as 'son' by the High Priest (14:61) should be compared to its use at his baptism and transfiguration. Mark 11:12-26 presents Jesus in the role as restoration prophet. James Dunn's *Christology in the Making* Parts II and III provide a comprehensive survey of the Christological problems of the New Testament.

Themes and Texts from the Resurrection Narrative in the Synoptic Gospels

• The resurrection narrative in the Synoptic Gospels *Matthew* 27:57–28:20; *Luke* 23:50–24:53, *Mark* 15:42–16:20

Gerd Lüdemann's *What Really Happened to Jesus*? is a clear and accessible version of his controversial *The Resurrection of Jesus* and could be used throughout this section.

For comparisons of the Gospels, use a synopsis such as Throckmorton's *Gospel Parallels*. Certain features stand out such as:

• Matthew's guard at the tomb (*Matthew* 27:62-66); apocalyptic of the theophany (28:2-4); rumour of the body snatching (28:11-15); the command to make disciples of all nations (28:16-20);

• Luke's road to Emmaus (24:13-35); appearance of the risen Christ in Jerusalem (24:36-49); the Ascension and rejoicing in the Temple (24:50-53).

Debates about historical reliability. Candidates might begin by looking at the kerygma as presented by Paul in 1 Corinthians 15:1-11. Historical analysis might look at the procedure of the burial itself. Other details to look at might include the role of the women and their witness, the appearance of the young man (or angel) or men and the empty tomb. Luke diverges from Mark and Matthew in that Jesus is to appear in Jerusalem not Galilee. Consideration might be given as to whether the writers are attempting to give a historical account of the resurrection or (as appears to be the case in Luke) an extended apologetic stressing the inner or spiritual meaning of the resurrection.

The meaning of the resurrection by each Gospel writer. Candidates should be able to discuss the manuscript/textual traditions for the long and short ending of Mark (Mark 16:1-8; 16:1-9; 16:9-20) and whether there is a lost ending of Mark. This in turn raises questions about Mark's theology. Does he end at 16:8 because he feels that he has dealt with the Resurrection at the Transfiguration, for example? Morna Hooker deals with this issue in her commentary (pages 391-394) and her book *Endings*. Mark's notion of the resurrection should be part of a more general discussion about his presentation of Jesus (see above) and his theme of the 'mystery' of the Kingdom.

Luke's theology of the resurrection/ascension could be considered in relationship to Acts and the variation of ascension accounts (Luke 24:50-53 and Acts 1:1-11) in particular the role of the Holy Spirit as the Jesus replacement in the Church. Candidates might wish to consider to what extent the physical resurrection was important for Luke as opposed to the inner experience of the fulfilment of the messianic spirit-filled age (cf. Joel 2:28-32 and Acts 2:1-21) and the beginnings of the Church and mission. Hans Conzelmann's classic *The Theology of St Luke* provides many ideas to these questions.

Matthew's focus appears to be dealing with Jewish-Christian relations, in particular the problem of the physical resurrection. Matthew is particular that the resurrection happened exactly on the third day (fulfilling scripture) and this was witnessed. See Ulrich Luz *The Theology of the Gospel of Matthew* chapter 8.

Foundations of Christian Theology

A study of the foundations of Christian theology through particular theologians.

The purpose of this part of the specification is to provide candidates with a critical understanding of the foundations of Christian theology for AS and A2. Some of the ideas may need to be revisited throughout AS and A2. It is suggested that this part of the AS is taught before Liberation Theology, so that it will be easier to understand what the liberation theologians were building on and reacting to. The named theologians also provide an overview of the development of Christian theology from late classical (Augustine), medieval (Aquinas), reformation (Calvin) contemporary (Cone). Candidates should therefore be aware of historical developments in theology and the distinction between Catholic and Protestant approaches to central Christian theology.

God and creation

Candidates may study other approaches to this topic but questions will assume an understanding of Aquinas' teaching on God's relationship to the creation. The central text for Aquinas' teaching on creation and God is in the *Summa Theologica* I (questions 1-119) in particular the 'Treatise on Creation and Treatise on the Work of the Six Days'. In order to understand Aquinas' thinking here, a simple understanding of Aristotle's four causes and the relationship of matter and form will help. This establishes the fundamentally important notion that God is both efficient and final cause. There is no other creator of matter other than God. As God exists separate from matter, he cannot change.

On the other hand matter does change. A simple understanding of the relationship between matter and form and Aquinas' rejection of Plato is helpful here. Aquinas' teaching on angels illustrates the issue of something existing with an imperishable body which having no need of a body does not need to acquire knowledge because its intelligence is fully actualised. But angels' souls still position themselves in particular places unlike God who is the only fully actualised being and exists in all places and all times. The question is therefore how angels differ from humans and other types of creature. Although angels were created having the disposition to love God that does not mean that they automatically love God.

Alister McGrath *Christian Theology* pages 289; 296-307 provides a very good general introduction.

For a philosophical introduction to Aquinas read Anthony Kenny Aquinas on Being.

Knowledge of God

Candidates may study any approaches to this topic but questions will assume an understanding of Calvin's presentation of the twofold nature of knowledge of God: knowledge of God the Creator and knowledge of God the Redeemer. Likewise the relationship of natural theology to revealed theology is to be understood as the 'mirror' or 'theatre' of God's glory (read for example *Institutes* I, V, 1). Some understanding of the interconnection between knowledge of God and knowledge of self (*Institutes* I, I, 1-2) and the place of sin with respect to natural theology; 'if Adam had remained upright' (*Institutes*. I, II, 1) will be helpful. Knowledge of God is implanted in the hearts of humans as 'awareness of divinity' and 'sense of divinity'(*sensum*)

divinitatis) or 'seed of religion' (*semen religionis*) (*Institutes* I, III, 1; I, IV, 1). Knowledge in this sense is not restricted to Christianity.

Candidates should be aware of Calvin's important notion that because of sin, only faith can provide true knowledge and that God may only be known through Jesus Christ. Revelation must therefore be essentially Trinitarian.

Helpful, although not required, in this context is to see how Karl Barth handled these distinctions in his 'Faith as Knowledge', *Dogmatics in Outline* chapter 3.

Alister McGrath *Christian Theology* chapter 7 provides a very good general introduction (in particular pages 209-211 on Calvin).

• Human nature

Candidates may study any approach to this topic, but questions will assume an understanding of Augustine's theology on the Fall and human nature. It might help candidates to have a brief awareness of Augustine's own background and experience. A detailed biography is not necessary but some brief account of his own sexual life, his conversion and influence of his mother Monica as seen through the *Confessions* will help to illustrate his rejection of the Manichees, then the Pelagians, the importance of St Paul (*Romans 7:7-25* for example) on the place of the rebellious will (concupiscence) and the influence of Plato. Candidates should be able to explain why Augustine thought men and women have the same spiritual minds, whilst women lack male practical reason. Many of his ideas may be found in *The City of God* Book 14:16-26. Attention should be paid to Augustine's interpretation of *1 Corinthians 11* and his explanation as to why women are spiritually dependent on men.

A very clear and full exposition of Augustine may be found in Peter Brown *The Body and Society* (Columbia University Press 1988) chapter 19.

• The person of Christ

Candidates may study any approach to this topic but questions will assume an understanding of James Cone's theology. Cone's argument is vehement in its attack on the 'false consciousness' of white or classical theologians who attempt to present Jesus in politically neutral terms. Cone, along with others, argues that the liberal protestant distinctions between the Jesus of history and the Christ of faith, the 'transcendent and immanent', the 'sacred and profane', 'reason and faith' are false. All these are alien notions to the black mind – indeed to Christian theology.

Most of Cones' ideas are clearly set out in *A Black Theology of Liberation* chapter 6. Chapter 6 also gives a good overview of the quest for the historical Jesus and what has to be known of the historical Jesus to be the basis of faith. Some attention should be given to Cone's christological and soteriological claim of the 'Black Christ' (pages 119-124) as the expression of Jesus who, in siding with the oppressed, reveals himself as the God who acts against injustice. As Cone says, 'the meaning of Jesus is an existential question. We know who he is when our own lives are placed in a situation of oppression and we have to make a decision for or against our condition' (page 119).

Candidates might also find Cone's *God of the Oppressed* chapter 6 an accessible introduction. Alister McGrath *Christian Theology* pages 345-350 provides a very good general introduction.

• Interpretation of the Bible

Candidates may study any approach to this topic but questions will assume an understanding of hermeneutics and various views about the inspiration and authority of the Bible.

Hermeneutics is the art of understanding and interpretation of the Bible. The fundamental question it poses is what kind of authority the Bible has for Christians. There are various positions which might be held. Firstly, that as the inspired Word of God the fundamentalist holds the Bible to be the literal source of truth concerning human origins, the creation and miracles. Various theories have to deal with contradictions within the Bible.

A liberal approach is exemplified by the 'father of modern theology', Frederick Schleiermacher. As inspiration is mediated via the mind of the author, then the aim of exegesis is to determine through the genre of writing just what was intended. The hermeneutical circle, as suggested by Schleiermacher, is the means by which reader and text enter into a conversation, so that the mind of the author becomes apparent. This highlights the subtle relationship between exegesis (objective meanings of words and references) and eisegesis where the reader's involvement with the text is, the means by which the text becomes alive. It also suggests that the meaning of biblical texts is not fixed, but open ended and fluid.

Contemporary experience is important for those who suggest that all interpretations should be subject to a hermeneutic of suspicion as developed by Paul Ricoeur. Examples of the application of this principle might include Elizabeth Schussler Fiorenza's *In Memory of Her.*

Authority and inspiration of scripture might consider to what extent scripture is the direct Word of God, as expressed in the Chicago Statement (1978), for example the two level view of Origen and Barth's claim that the Bible is witness to God's Word but composed by humans under the usual historical constraints. Other views might be that Scripture shows a developing inspiration where later writers reflected and expanded on the views of earlier writers. Further analysis could be made of those who take an existential and experiential view of Scripture, such as Rudolf Bultmann, and see the texts as revealing powerful religious experience but expressed in prescientific and mythological terms.

Teachers might find The Cambridge Companion to Biblical Interpretation helpful.

Liberation Theology

A study of the main ideas to have evolved from liberation theology in Latin America.

• Preferential option for the poor

Gustavo Gutierréz' first major work, *A Theology of Liberation* (1971) develops the popular symbol of exodus as a metaphor of hope and liberation, a metaphor which also merges secular and sacred history into one, resulting in the crucial social message that the Kingdom of God demands justice for the poor now. Judgement is part of the historical process of justice as exemplified in the great parable of judgement of Matthew 25. Those who are rewarded are those who act spontaneously to side with the poor in solidarity. Gutierréz argues that as judgement/justice is characterised by reversal then liberation theology also has a responsibility to look at the underside of history, the poor, marginalised and oppressed. This shift in consciousness owes something to Marxism. Part of this change comes from reviewing what is meant by development. Liberation theology shares the same aim of Marxism in looking for a more radical understanding of the processes of production which challenges the European tendency to create a situation of dependency.

Gutierréz discusses this in *A Theology of Liberation* chapter 2. In addition Gutierréz's essay 'The task and content of liberation theology' in Christopher Rowland *Liberation Theology* chapter 1 is useful.

Praxis

A basic distinction is between orthodoxy (the official teaching of the Church) and orthopraxis – right action. Gutierréz describes first and second step or act praxis, as the dialectical relationship between action and theological reflection. The process is clearly explained by Leonardo Boff as the pastoral process of seeing, judging and acting i.e. the three 'mediations': socio-analytic, hermeneutical and practical. See Leonardo and Clodovis Boff *Introducing Liberation Theology*, (1987) chapter 3.

• Hermeneutics

'Hermeneutic circle' or the use of the Bible is the process of reflecting upon a given situation. Candidates should be able to refer to some of the important biblical passages used by liberation theologians and the people themselves. For example: Exodus 3:7-8 where the cry of the oppressed Israelites is a prototype for the poor of Latin America; prophecy and justice (Amos 8:5-6; Micah 2:2, Isaiah 3:14-15); the rejection of 'religiosity' (Amos 5:21-25, Hosea 6:6); the suffering of God with the poor (Luke 4:18-19; 6:20-24); judgement of those who have spurned and exploited the poor (Matthew 25:31-46); those who sacrifice themselves as martyrs (Matthew 5:11-12; 16:24-25). The book of Revelation is also used by many for its symbols of victory, martyrdom and justice.

The hermeneutic of suspicion refers to the phrase used by Ricoeur which places doubt on official interpretations of texts and looks for other power motives, such as maintaining the status quo, reinforcement of hierarchy etc.

'Conscientisation' is the term borrowed from the writings of Paulo Friere to refer to the empowering process whereby priests, educators and social workers enable the poor to realise their own predicament and change it.

However some argue that liberation theology is essentially conservative, that it supports the church as an institution (priesthood, bishops and linear hierarchical structure) when it should be applying its use of Marxism in a far more radical fashion. Finally, some consideration might be given to the hermeneutical process and the role of the theologian: is the use of the Bible too selective and uncritical? Does liberation theology fail because it is too abstract for ordinary people to use?

Jesus the Liberator

Candidates should be aware of the very significant use of political language by the bishops: sin is considered to be the result of social and 'structural conflict', revolutionaries are the prophets of change not traditionalists, and base communities are commended. Some knowledge of the Latin American Bishops' (CELAM) meetings at Puebla, Mexico (1979) and Medellín Colombia (1968) is useful background.

Gutierrez presents Jesus the Liberator in *A Theology of Liberation* pp167-177 and considers Jesus' political role as zealot leader as well as his role as the one who sides with the poor against oppression and justice. Jesus' action against religiosity, nomialism and hypocrisy might all be considered. However, in liberation theology's terms, liberation is ultimately from sin – however sin is defined. 'Sin demands radical liberation, which in turn necessarily implies political liberation' Gutierrez *Theology* p, 174). Some consideration might be given as to whether this presents too reductionist a view of the Kingdom and diminishes Jesus' spiritual role.

• Base communities

Candidates should be able to show how liberation theology emerged from the historical situation

in Latin America in the 1950s. Extreme poverty, the rise of communist groups and success of protestant churches acted as catalysts to parish priests to re-think their pastoral role. In the first instance liberation theology grew out of the practical need to provide for the people. Candidates should therefore have some knowledge of the development and purpose of base communities (*communidades eclesia de base*), how they function and how they are run (see C Rowland *Liberation Theology* chapter 5). Candidates may wish to consider liberation theology's challenge to 'religion' and its new ecclesial theology founded on secular and sociological principles. They might also consider the use of the term 'the people's church' as a challenge to the role and scope of the church and whether this notion of church undermines Catholic teaching and authority.

Candidates should show an understanding of how Leonardo Boff's attack on a 'fossilised' church resulted in his summons by Cardinal Ratzinger in 1984 and the subsequent ban on his teaching and writing.

Environment and situation

Types of poverty and oppression. Boff (*Introducing* page 25) defines oppression in infrastructural and socio-economic terms. Poverty can be viewed in empirical, functional, and dialectical terms. Dialectical poverty as oppression is due to the deep seated structures of society which marginalises human beings so as to become the objects, not subjects, of destiny.

Land is a powerful symbol in political terms, because the poor are tenants and subject to rich landowners; in theological terms because land is associated with the biblical covenants and eschatological because the renewed land is the manifestation of the Kingdom of God.

In Marxist terms environment shapes consciousness. Without land the poor are alienated from the means of production and subject to exploitation materially and spiritually. The future is a 'new humanity'. See Boff *Introducing Liberation Theology* chapter 7.

Influence of Marxism

Candidates should have some outline knowledge of Marxism to be of aware of how it has been used by many liberation theologians and in what respects it is different. Candidates should be aware, in general terms of Marxist views of history, class struggle, alienation and exploitation.

Candidates should know how liberation theologians have used Marxism as one tool to analyse the specific condition of the poor in Latin America. For example Boff uses the Marxist sociological critique as the most effective 'instrument' or mediation for the poor. Like many others they regard the prevailing European (capitalist) developmental model of social liberation to be fundamentally flawed as a system as it perpetuates the poor's dependency on the rich. Dialectical liberation seeks to change the infra-structure of society not its super-structure (see L and C Boff *Introducing Liberation Theology* chapter 3). 'Dialectic' refers to the existential process by which the poor become their own subjects through economic liberation from oppression.

Candidates should be aware that not all liberation theologians depend on Marx to the same extent. Whereas Segundo, Miranda and Boff do make explicit use of Marx, Gutierrez explicitly denies using Marx. Consideration could be made whether there has been too little or too much use of Marx. Alistair Kee's analysis that there has been too little use might be referred to.

For a full account of the debate see D. Turner in C Rowland *Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology* chapter 9.

• Impact and influence of liberation theology

Candidates should be aware of the impact directly or indirectly of liberation theology on other

theologies of liberation, eg gay and colour.

Candidates should have some knowledge of the responses to liberation theology from Roman Catholic and Protestant Churches. With an understanding of Boff's position stated above candidates might be aware of the key elements in Cardinal Ratzinger *Instruction on Certain Aspects of the 'Theology of Liberation'* (or *Libertatis Nuntius* 1984) which expresses the view that liberation theology has made uncritical use of Marxism. The *Instruction* reiterates the scepticism of the Church (e.g. *Octogesima Adveniens* 1971) and its mistrust of those employing Marxist ideology with its culture of violence. Nevertheless the *Instruction* is not dismissive of the notion of liberation as an essential Christian aspiration.

Good articles in C. Rowland *Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology* Part one and Part three.

G576: AS Buddhism

Origins of Buddhism

• The historical, sociological, economic and religious background in India at the time of the Buddha

Candidates should have an understanding of the nature of the society in which Buddhism originated and developed, and the ways in which this influenced early Buddhism. It would be helpful for candidates to be aware of social and economic issues such as the urbanisation of society and the resulting challenges to the caste system. Candidates should also be aware of the contemporaneous religious beliefs in India, as well as the religious developments taking place at the time of the Buddha. Understanding of Brahminism, the ascetic traditions, vedic rituals and beliefs would be appropriate. Candidates could discuss what the Buddha accepted and rejected from these movements, including for example, awareness of his view of the caste system, sacrifice and the Vedic deities, karma and reincarnation, and the concept of the atman. One of the best sources for teachers is *The Buddha* by Trevor Ling.

• Traditional accounts of the life of the Buddha

Candidates should be familiar with the key features of the traditional accounts of the life of the Buddha, such as birth stories, life in the Palace, the four signs, leaving the palace, asceticism, enlightenment, teaching and death. The different interpretations of these stories and possible mythical nature of them should be considered, as should the importance of historical accuracy within the Buddhist tradition. Candidates should focus on the significance of these stories as examples and teaching tools, and consider the beliefs and morals they convey. Teachers may wish to acquaint themselves with *The Life of the Buddha* by Bhikkhu Nanamoli for extensive coverage of the Buddha's life from Buddhist sources.

Origins of the sangha

Candidates should understand how the both the monastic and fourfold sangha developed in the context of early Buddhism, and the perceived purpose of the sangha at this time. The controversy surrounding the creation of bhikkhunis could be discussed. An awareness of the lifestyle of bhikkhus and bhikkhunis at this time would be advantageous, perhaps including the renouncing family ties, ordination practices, periods of travelling and housing during the rainy season. The fluid development of the vinaya rules as a response to issues which arose within the early sangha should be considered.

Spread of Buddhism

The early spread of Buddhism

Candidates should have a basic awareness of the life story of Asoka. Their focus should be on the impact Asoka had on Buddhism. Areas for consideration might include his role in spreading Buddhism, for example in sending his son to Sri Lanka and the use of pillars within his territory, his attempt to end corruption in the sangha, and the formalising of scripture. Candidates should be able to discuss whether Asoka was a positive or negative influence on Buddhism and the extent of his impact on Buddhism in the long and short term.

Core Concepts

Teachers may find that some of these concepts are effectively taught in conjunction with other aspects of the specification, for example in teaching the Four Noble Truths the concepts of nibbana and dukkha may be covered in some depth.

Kamma

Candidates should be able to explore the nature of kamma, as a system of actions and consequences. They could explore the role of intention in creating kamma. Candidates need to understand the difference between karmic formations and karmic consequences, and the relationship between them. An awareness of the role of kamma in dependent origination would be beneficial.

Nibbana

Nibbana will be studied in more depth at A2. At AS <u>candidates</u> should have a basic understanding of the concept of nibbana, and a basic awareness of the distinction between nibbana and parinibbana.

• Samsara and rebirth

Candidates should understand the nature of samsara, subject to dukkha and anicca. Some understanding of the different realms, as demonstrated in the Tibetan wheel of life, would be appropriate. Candidates might be able to discuss whether these realms are seen as literal or psychological states. The role of kamma in determining rebirths should be understood. Candidates should be able to discuss how rebirth occurs without a self, with reference to the 5 khandhas. Teachers may find the analogies within the Questions of King Milinda useful for demonstrating these concepts.

• The three poisons/three fires – greed, hatred and delusion

Candidates should be able to discuss the nature of the three poisons (or three fires). It will be beneficial for candidates to be able to discuss how they contribute to the process of dependent origination.

• The three refuges - Buddha, dhamma, sangha

Candidates need to understand the importance of the three refuges (three jewels), individually and together. They should be able to discuss why they are seen as a refuge, and how each might address this role. Candidates might for example be able to discuss the Buddha's importance as an exemplar, meditation focus and inspiration for Buddhists. Candidates should be able to discuss the relationships between the three refuges, and their relative importance. The term dhamma needs to be understood in its manifold nature, as scripture, teaching and eternal law. Buddha and sangha are discussed elsewhere in these notes.

• The three marks of existence - anicca, anatta, dukkha

Candidates will benefit from a good understanding of the various nuances of these concepts, for example the subtleness of dukkha experienced as dissatisfaction as well as the more obvious physical and mental suffering. Candidates may explore the Buddhist concept of reality as a series of momentary dhammas, and show how this links to the concepts of anicca and anatta. The five khandhas should be understood to show how rebirth can be achieved without a self. Candidates should be able to discuss these three concepts individually, and their relationship with each other. Some discussion of their relative importance would be relevant. Candidates could benefit from studying the analogies given in *The Questions of King Milinda* for this area of

the specification.

Key Teachings, Attitudes and Practices

• The Four Noble Truths, dukkha, samudaya, nirodha, magga (the eightfold path)

Candidates should have a detailed knowledge of the four noble truths and their importance to Buddhists. They should be able to explore relationships with related areas of the specification, such as the three poisons, the three marks of existence and samsara and rebirth. Candidates might discuss the relative importance each of the four noble truths. Candidates should be aware of the division of the eightfold path into morality, wisdom and concentration and might consider whether the different groups within Buddhism might place more emphasis on different aspects of the path. The way in which the path is followed by Buddhists could be considered. Candidates might consider why the path is depicted as a circle rather than a series of steps. Walpola Rahula's *What the Buddha Taught* provides good content for this section.

The Fourfold Sangha

Candidates should be aware that the term sangha might refer to the monastic community or to the monastic and lay community. Whilst not expected to memorise every vinaya rule, candidates should be able to discuss the different categories of rules, and give some relevant examples. Some thought could be given as to the costs and benefits of renouncing an 'ordinary' life for a spiritual path, including the difficulties which might be faced following the vinaya rules. Candidates should be aware of the relative status of bhikkhus and bhikkhunis, and might consider the difficulties caused where the ordination lines for females have died out. An awareness of the different lifestyles of forest and village dwelling bhikkhus and the impact this has on their relative status with the laity could be considered. Candidates should be able to discuss the nature of the relationship between the monastic sangha and the laity from a Buddhist perspective, including whether this relationship is potentially one-sided. Although Candidates will not be expected to know of specific practitioners, teachers may well find these areas easier to teach within the context of particular individuals and traditions. Buddhist Scriptures by Edward Conze remains the most convenient book through which to access the vinaya rules. The Access to Insight website has a comprehensive translation of the vinaya rules for bhikkhus and bhikkhunis.

• The arhat and bodhisattva paths

This and the following section begin to make candidates aware of the differing traditions within Buddhism.

Candidates should be aware of the path of the arhat, and the Theravadin aims. They should also be aware that the bodhisattva path has it origins in Theravada Buddhism. The Mahayana developments of the bodhisattva path should be understood. The focus on prajna (wisdom) and karuna (compassion) should be noted. Some awareness of the varied approach of different Mahayana traditions, such as Madhyamika (emphasis on sunyata) and Yogacara (development of the tathagatagarbha doctrine), would be appropriate. Candidates should be able to explore the taking of the bodhisattva vow, the stages and achievements of the path, and the difference between enlightened and unenlightened bodhisattvas. Comparison of the aims of the arhat and bodhisattva, and the view of what ceases when each is achieved would be useful. Candidates should be able to explore the issues from both the Theravadin and Mahayana perspectives, rather than offering one-sided analysis. Harvey, Gethin and Williams give detailed and scholarly discussion in this area.

• Attitudes to the Buddha

Candidates should be able to discuss ways in which the Buddha is seen within Buddhism. This might include his continuing existence within Mahayana traditions, and the explanations given for his apparent death. Candidates should be familiar with the trikaya doctrine, and able to

explain the implications of this for the status of the Buddha. Candidates should be able to analyse strengths and weakness of both the Theravada and Mahayana positions. Again Gethin, Harvey and Willliams are useful sources of information.

Origins of Hinduism

• The religious aspects of the Indus Valley civilisation

Candidates should have a basic grasp of the nature of the archaeological evidence of these societies in which proto-Hindu ideas developed. Study should focus on religious aspects such as figurines and images of male and female figures, animals and trees, suggestions of bhakti and yoga practices, fire rituals, bathing rituals, and the worship of female and animal deities. Sen's *Hinduism* and Thapar's *A History of India*, although rather dated, provide quite detailed discussion of the evidence. The Internet has several excellent web-sites showing recent discoveries connected with the Indus Valley civilisation; <u>www.harappa.com/har/har0.html</u> has aerial photography of the sites and detailed description and illustration of the various artefacts. Evaluation of the ways in which these findings might be linked to later Hinduism will be beneficial for candidates.

The Aryans

Candidates should have a basic awareness of the disagreement between scholars about the nature of the Aryan incursion into India. Detailed evaluation of this issue would not be expected. Some understanding of the possible origins of the class (caste) system resulting from this incursion would be appropriate.

Vedic ritual and theology

Candidates will probably need some background knowledge of the social and religious structures of the Aryans. The structure of the texts should be considered. An awareness of the importance and purpose of ritual as a relationship between humans and the deities in Vedic culture, supported by appropriate examples would be useful. Candidates should be aware of the ways in which deities are seen within the Vedas, and again may illustrate this with appropriate examples, such as Soma, Agni, Rudra and Indra.

Core Concepts

Teachers may find that some of these concepts are effectively taught in conjunction with other aspects of the specification, for example in teaching the relationship between atman and Brahman the concepts of karma, moksha and samsara may be covered in some depth.

• Monism, monotheism, polytheism

How these terms might be appropriately applied to different views of Hinduism should be considered.

Karma

Candidates should be able to explore the concept of karma as a system of actions and consequences. The importance of intention versus action could be discussed. Candidates should be aware of the difference between karmic formations and karmic consequences. Discussion about whether karma is it positive or fatalist, leading to belief in free-will or predestination would be appropriate. Candidates might evaluate whether rebirth determined by karma seems to support or undermine a sense of cosmic justice. A consideration of the path of karma as a means to liberation would be relevant.

Moksha

Liberation is studied at A2. At this level Candidates should have a basic understanding of moksha as a release from samsara.

Samsara and rebirth

Candidates should understand the nature of samsara as a series of rebirths determined by karma. They could explore the relationship between atman and samsara. Discussion of the possible fairness of the process could be considered.

Maya

Candidates should understand that some Hindus see the world as illusory, and explore what influence this has on other aspects of Hinduism.

Dharma

Candidates should understand the complex nature of the term dharma. The significance of duty in the lives of Hindus should be considered.

Brahman

Candidates should understand the nature of Brahman as the ultimate reality. They should be aware of the difference between saguna Brahman and nirguna Brahman, and the significance of this for Hindu beliefs.

Atman

Candidates should understand the eternal nature of the atman and its relationship to Brahman. Some awareness of what happens to the atman when moksha is achieved would be relevant.

Jnana

Candidates will benefit from an understanding of the importance of knowledge and learning within Hinduism. Candidates should have a good understanding of the path of jnana as a means to liberation.

Bhakti

Candidates should have a good understanding of the path of bhakti yoga as a means of liberation.

Key Teachings, Attitudes and Practices

• Worship

Candidates should have a good understanding of the practices of puja, but more importantly with the significance of these practices. The use of importance of murtis as a focus for puja, and their unique status should be considered. Candidates are recommended to broaden their grasp of Hindu puja by considering the symbolism of features of a mandir and the role of pilgrimage. A particularly important concept in which to assess all Hindu religious practice is *darshan* – the '*auspicious sight of the divine'*. Candidates may choose to illustrate their understanding with reference to the practice associated with particular deities.

Varnashramadharma

Candidates should understand the composite aspects of varnashramadharma, and be able to discuss how this concept might affect the ways in which Hindus choose to live their lives. The Purusha Sukta is a short section (Hymn of the Primeval Man) from the Rig Veda (10.90). Its character as myth should be understood, and analysis should include an appreciation of the nature and purpose of mythology. Koller's *The Indian Way* provides a good commentary on the text.

• Relationship between atman and Brahman

Candidates should be able to discuss the different relationships between atman and Brahman posited by different traditions within Hinduism. Consideration of whether the atman has an individual identity, or is simply part of a whole would be relevant. Centres may wish to consider using those traditions which will be studied at A2 as examples where appropriate.

Deities in Hinduism

The deities

Candidates should evaluate the reasons for focusing on or dismissing deities in different traditions. This could be linked to other concepts such as maya. Candidates should study and assess the importance of the named deities and the nature of devotion to them: comparing Saivism, worship of female deities, animal deities, gentle and fearsome forms, and Vaishnavism – in particular investigating the concept and popularity of avatars, and the status of the smriti texts which recount these deities. Mere knowledge of the deities is not enough; candidates will need to understand the symbolism and importance of them.

G578: AS Islam

Background and Origins

 Pre-Islamic Arabia: historical, geographical and religious context with a consideration of Jewish, Christian, Zoroastrian and Pagan influences

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the historical, geographical and religious background, including the particular importance of Makkah as the centre of a number of trading routes;
- how the various influences interacted;
- the environment in which Muhammad was born and Islam was introduced. This does not necessarily mean that teachers should start the course with a history lesson. Nor is there any intention that Islam should be portrayed as explicable by some interpretation

of the time and place in which Muhammad ive lived. Such ideas remain a matter for discussion and reflection.

Candidates need to have some understanding of the nature of Christianity, Judaism, Zoroastrianism and Pagan religions of the time as found in Arabia. Great detail is not expected but they should have sufficient information to answer specific questions on historical or geographical or religious context.

The Prophet Muhammad

Muhammad dia as the final messenger of Allah: the Seal of the Prophets

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the significance, importance and uniqueness of Muhammad for Muslims;
- Muhammad's *we upbringing, his life in Makkah and the influences he was under;*
- the religious significance of the Night Journey;
- the reasons for and importance of the migration to al-Madinah;
- the significance and relative success of Muhammad's dual role as both Prophet and Statesman in al-Madinah;
- the battles and the return to Makkah: Battle of Badr, Battle of Uhud, Battle of al-Khandaq;
- the implications of the social and political environment within which Muhammad is lived and worked.

Teachers will have their own preferred methods of teaching about the life of the Prophet but it is recommended that at some stage the students look at the life from both a book by a Muslim scholar such as Ghulam Sarwar and a secular textbook from the resources list. Guillaume's book on Islam has some useful reservations about the extent to which any biography can be truly factual and, like Montgomery Watt's biography, will be helpful.

This is not a paper on military history but candidates need to understand the significance and importance of the three battles specified and of the final return to Makkah.

Having studied the social and political environment of Muhammad series they should be

able to make comparisons with the situation in al-Madinah when the Prophet first arrived there. Candidates should have made a fairly detailed study of the Night Journey and considered its religious significance and the teachings embodied in its various stages.

Beliefs

Beliefs about Allah and human relationships

Surah 1, the Fatihah, the Opening is said to encapsulate the whole message of the Qur'an. It begins with Allah and the focus is Allah.

Candidates may find it helpful to relate the text of Surah 1 to the theological concepts itemised. They need to ensure that they understand the meaning and implications of the concepts and how the beliefs about God relate to each other to form a coherent whole. Candidates should have considered transcendence and immanence. Muslims believe that Allah is the creator and the judge, far beyond human imagining, and is also close to worshippers; closer than the jugular vein. God, the creator, the judge, is also the guide. Surah 1 prays that Allah will guide believers to the straight path. The word used for path in the original Arabic has no plural. There is only one path.

Candidates should also have some understanding of the over-arching importance of Tawhid. A

key feature of the message of Muhammad was rejection of the polytheism, animism and idolatry which were prevalent in Arabian belief systems. The essential Muslim belief in the oneness of God also means a belief in the oneness of creation. Muslims are khalifahs, custodians, of the earth for Allah; they must seek and promote the unity of creation. This unity also lies behind the concept of ummah, the worldwide community of Islam. Candidates need to be able to explain the Kalam argument.

It is important that candidates have made a study of Islamic beliefs about the following: human rights and responsibilities; responsibility to Allah.

The Qur'an

Candidates should have knowledge and understanding of:

- the particular manner in which the Qur'an was revealed;
- the particular and unique nature of the Qur'an;
- the process of the revelation, with a consideration of the differences in the Surahs revealed at Makkah and those at al-Madinah;
- the manner in which the Qur'an was ultimately compiled by Muhammad's followers and its resulting structure and the infallible status accorded to the text;
- the role it continues to play in the life of Muslims.

Candidates are required to show knowledge and understanding of the concept of revelation and the relation of the Qur'an to previous holy books.

They should have considered the stories of the revelation of the Qur'an from 610 CE to 632 CE, how, originally learnt by rote, the verses were dictated and written on assorted media, sorted by Muhammad in 631 by theme and put in Hafsa's chest.

Candidates are expected to have some general idea of the contents and to be aware that Uthman organised the surahs according to length, apart from Surah 1. Exploring the structure is less important for candidates than having a grasp of the authority of the Qur'an for Muslims, its role and status, both historically and as a guide to everyday living. Candidates should be aware of Shari'ah law but this is dealt with fully at A2.

Surahs 1 and 96

Surahs 1 & 96 need to be studied in detail with an in-depth consideration of the issues raised within them. In particular candidates need to be able to discuss what Surah 1 says about Allah and the relationship between Allah and his people as well as the detail of Surah 96 in relation to the revelation.

Surah 96 - Al 'Alaq - The Clot (Blood clots)

Candidates should understand that the first five verses of this Surah were the first revelation which Muhammad received from Jibril. It is thought that following this revelation there was a fatrah (break) of some months or more before Jibril continued with the revelation.

The remainder of Surah 96 was probably revealed soon after this fatrah. The Surah is concerned with the instruction to preach. It then considers that the obstacles to preaching are human vanity, obstinacy and insolence. The Surah shows that Allah wishes to instruct humanity in new knowledge but people think they are self-sufficient, turn away from the path of Allah, and mislead others. Nothing can be hidden from Allah who will judge all lies, sin and rebellion and subdue evil.

The Five Pillars: shahadah, salah, zakah, sawm, hajj and Muslim life
 Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the references to the Five Pillars in the Qur'an and Hadith;
- their practical and theological nature, their inter-relationship;
- the effect which their observance has on Muslim life and the ummah.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

It would be helpful for candidates to consider the five pillars in relation to: history, requirements, significance and benefits for the individual and the community. It may be preferable to deal also with Jumu'ah prayers at this point.

Teachers may wish to develop the candidates' understanding and evaluative skills of areas such as the inter-relatedness of the pillars, the problems and possibilities of applying them in non-Muslim countries, contemporary issues concerning the hajj and practical examples of interpretation and distribution of zakat.

Practices

 Worship and the mosque: in Muslim and non-Muslim countries; the Imam and Salat-ul-Jumu'ah (Friday prayers)

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the function of a mosque;
- the particular role of the Imam in Muslim life as a teacher and leader rather than a priest and of the form of worship practised at Salat-ul-Jumu'ah prayers;
- the architecture and design of the mosque and in particular the practical and theological reasons for these;
- the symbolic nature of aspects of the building such as the dome, the prayer hall and the washing facilities, the importance of an area for study and the practical purpose of items such as the minarets;
- the reason for the absence of figurative portrayal and also for the use of calligraphy, teaching on Shirk.

In approaching these issues candidates need to have considered their implications, significance and differences in Muslim and non-Muslim countries.

In studying this section it has to be made clear that this is different from a GCSE approach to issues surrounding worship and the mosque.

Tayob's 1999 Islam: a short introduction in the Oneworld series follows a symbolic tour of a mosque to introduce teachings, practices and values; from which teachers may find new anecdotal material and ideas for discussion. (See also references to Imam.) The role of the Imam in leading prayers needs to be discussed with an understanding of Muslim principles of equality and of the mosque as a centre for the community e.g. not only for communal worship but as school, law court, meeting place for functions.

Importance of Scripture

• The importance of Tenakh and Talmud

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• Tenakh and Talmud as Written and Oral Law respectively and to show clear understanding of the differences between them.

Some candidates can become confused between the Written and Oral Torah and, indeed, the meaning of the word 'Torah' itself. They need to be clear on the distinctions between these and able to express and explain them clearly.

• The origins, content and use of Tenakh

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the origins of the Tenakh either in traditional belief or through modern criticism;
- the principal contents of the Tenakh: Torah, Nevi'im,Ketuvim; and the way in which these are used in both daily life and worship;
- the purpose of Torah within Judaism as divine revelation to guide the people.

Candidates should have detailed knowledge of the parts of the Tenakh and their significance. They should also be able to explain how these individual parts may be used in daily life and worship. This needs to go beyond a basic GCSE approach and show theological understanding of their importance.

• The origins, content, use and purpose of Talmud

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the origins of both the Jerusalem and the Babylon Talmuds and the principal differences between them;
- how the Jerusalem and the Babylon Talmuds came into existence and were brought together;
- the use of the Talmud and the ways in which it has continued to develop.

Candidates need to be clear about the differences between the two Talmuds beyond where they were written. They need to understand the religious origins of the Talmud in the Oral Torah as well as the work of the rabbis and when this took place. Candidates should be able to discuss the continuing use of the Talmud and the way in which it is deployed in the 21st century to resolve questions and issues.

• Their importance for Jewish belief and life today.

Candidates need to be aware of the continuing importance of both Oral and Written Torah and the way in which they are used in and influence Jewish life and worship.

Candidates need to have a good understanding of the different nature, origins and content of the Tenakh and Talmud. They should be able to consider their relative importance for Judaism and the manner in which they are still employed in life, learning and worship today. It would also be useful to have considered the different ways in which these sources are regarded and used

by different Jewish groups.

Clearly it will be easier for students to gain an understanding of the different types of literature found in the Tenakh than in Talmud and it is not expected that they should have a detailed knowledge of Talmudic material.

Beliefs

• Ethical monotheism

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• ethical monotheism.

Students need to be clear that they are referring to ethical monotheism and not just monotheism in itself. They should be able to explain what is distinctive about ethical monotheism both in relation to G-d and to the Jews.

•	The nature	of a	monotheistic	G-d
---	------------	------	--------------	-----

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- G-d as SUPRANATURAL, personal, good and holy;
- be able to distinguish between the ethical monotheism of Judaism and pagan monotheism.

Candidates need to be aware that in later biblical prophecy G-d is claimed not only as the one G-d of Israel but as the one G-d of universal history.

Students need to consider the nature of ethical monotheism and its origins in scripture. Teachers may wish to consider how original a concept this was in relation to Ancient Near-Eastern Religion at the time and its implications for the growth and development of Judaism.

• The particular role of the Jews as a 'chosen people'

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• the role of the Jews as a 'chosen people' and its relationship to the concept of a royal priesthood.

The concept of a 'chosen people' is often misunderstood and needs to be carefully discussed. Candidates need to understand the nature of being 'chosen' and the duties, rather than privileges, which this implies. Candidates should be able to refer to relevant scriptural texts in relation to this.

· The role of ethical monotheism for Jewish life today

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• the continuing importance of ethical monotheism for Jewish life today, by observance both of the Ten Commandments and of the 613 mitzvot.

This section considers the continuing importance of 'ethical monotheism' rather than simply 'monotheism' for the life of Jews today and they way in which they understand their role in the world.

Practices

• Halakhah and mitzvot

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the purpose of the 613 mitzvot and the ways in which these generally affect Jewish life;
- the principles of Jewish life, worship and practice, observance and kashrut;
- the basis of Jewish life and worship as devotion to G-d and the way in which this is carried out;
- kashrut in relation to food, clothes, objects and money.

Candidates need to be clear in their understanding of the distinction between halakhah and mitzvot even though they are linked in this section. Mitzvot are commandments, laws which Jeware obliged to follow. Halakhah is 'walking with G-d'.

They should be able to demonstrate clear understanding of life, worship, practice and observance.

Candidates should have a full understanding of kashrut in relation to the specified topics and not just limited to food. They should also be able to demonstrate understanding of the wider topic of Jewish life and worship in relation to G-d. All this requires more than a phenomenological approach and requires in-depth and fairly detailed knowledge of Jewish life.

Clearly, study of this section needs to be in rather more theological detail than is generally undertaken at GCSE level. It is not expected that candidates will study the whole of Jewish religious observance in detail, nor be able to distinguish, necessarily, between, for example, Ashkenazi, Sephardi, Hasidic or Progressive practice. What is needed is a consideration of how Judaism affects the life of the believer. It is the principles which are important rather than the detail. Therefore, when considering kashrut, it is not expected the candidates will revisit 'how to prepare a meal for a Jewish friend' but that they will have studied the principles and purposes of kosher food as well as kosher laws applied to clothes, objects and money.

Worship

• Worship in the home and synagogue

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the forms of worship in the home, private as well as worship as a family, and the purpose and practice of prayer both at set times and spontaneous prayer;
- daily prayer and worship, Sabbath, Yom Tovim, the Pilgrim Festivals, the Rabbinical festivals and later institutions such as Tu B'Shevat and Yom Hashoah;
- the origins, practice and observance of the listed festivals. Be able to discuss the relative importance of these festivals.

Again, this study needs to look beyond GCSE. There should be some consideration of worship in the synagogue, the forms it takes and their purpose. Candidates need to realise, for example, that although the Torah service itself is an essential part of some worship, the majority of time is taken up with prayers etc.

In relation to festivals, students should study their origins in the biblical text and elsewhere as well as considering their continuing importance and observation. It is expected that they will be able to write competently on Sabbath, Rosh Hashanah, Yom Kippur, Pesach, Shavuot and Sukkot. Their understanding needs to go beyond, for example, Sabbath candles and a Seder plate. They should be able to comment on the practice and importance for Jews and Jewish life of all the festivals listed.

The roles of men and women; including the laws of purity Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- - understand the roles of men and women within the Jewish family and in worship;
 - compare these roles and their origins, and consider to what degree they give equality to the persons concerned;
 - understand the laws of niddah (purity) and the use of the mikveh together with its importance in the community.

Greenberg has a good section on the roles of men and women and teachers might also look at her later work: *On Women and Judaism: A View from Tradition*. Again there is a need to understand the scriptural basis for these roles as well as, perhaps, considering them from a more sociological perspective. The laws of purity are essential to the Jewish family and need to be considered thoroughly, in particular the use of the mikveh.

In relation to the issue of equality candidates need to be able to demonstrate good understanding of the textual issues as well as historical and sociological ones.

3 A2 Units

A2 Religious Studies is designed to enable candidates to build on the Religious Studies understanding acquired at AS Religious Studies.

G581: A2 Philosophy of Religion

Religious Language

Religious language

Candidates studying this section should be able to demonstrate a good understanding of the uses and purpose of religious language. As well as knowledge of the varieties of opinions on the best ways of talking about God, they should be aware of the work of all the writers mentioned in the specification.

Good introductory accounts include Jordan, Lockyer and Tate's book on Philosophy of Religion and Taylor's *Philosophy of Religion for AS and A2*, students may then follow up their reading by looking at D. Stiver's book: *The Philosophy of Religious Language, Sign Symbol and Story*. The apophatic way can be found in Chapter 2; and metaphor, symbol and analogy is in chapter 6. For Aquinas on analogy candidates could look at *The Thinkers Guide to God*, chapter 4, by Peter Vardy. Teachers may find Jeff Astley's book *Exploring God Talk* a useful resource.

Candidates should be aware that there is some confusion between different text books regarding Verification and Falsification. Some writers present these theories as if they are different sides of the same coin. Good explanations of Verificationists are as expressing a belief that religious language has no meaning, whereas good accounts of falsification understand that Flew was not seeking to describe religious language as meaningless. He was more interested in pointing to the fact that religious believers will not allow anything to count against their beliefs, hence his use of Wisdom's parable of the gardener. It is not lack of meaning but the death of a thousand qualifications that Flew is seeking to conclude. The actual symposium for this debate is short and easily accessible. When looking at Verification candidates should also be aware that Hick's eschatological verification, while verifiable in principle, cannot be falsified in principle.

Religious Experience

• Experience and religion

The only writer mentioned in this part of the specification is William James. This does not mean other views cannot be studied. Candidates may for example find Swinburne's categories of religious experience helpful in understanding the issues they will confront here. Candidates need a broad understanding of both the kinds of experiences which have been argued to be religious and the differing private and public natures of these events.

In teaching the concept of revelation through sacred texts, teachers may wish to research Hick's *Philosophy of Religion,* Section 4. This gives a good account of propositional and nonpropositional views of sacred writing. There is often a great deal of confusion in this area, so it may be worth making clear to candidates the following: propositional belief is the belief that the content of revelation is a set of propositions which are divinely revealed. For fundamentalists this would be found in a literal interpretation of scripture, for others it might be assent to the Scripture as mediated by Church and Creeds or the Confessions of the reformers. It is above all about accepting certain truths. On this approach, faith is a matter of assent to those truths. Non-propositional belief holds that God is revealing himself - the question is a matter of relationship (belief *in*... rather than belief *that*...), perhaps as described by Buber in *Ich und Du*. On this account, faith is a matter of that belief in the person of God. To this view, Scripture is not 'the Word of God' but an indispensable witness to that which is the Word (in Christian terms), Christ himself. Scripture reveals the event of God revealing himself from the perspective of faith - the gospel writers are believing witnesses of the event. This view tends to eschew the traditional revealed/natural theology division.

 Miracle - a study of how God might interact with humanity, by looking at the concept of miracle

This part of the specification asks candidates to explore issues of how God might interact with humanity by exploring the concept of miracles. Teachers may wish to approach this area from a number of angles. A good start could be Vardy's *The Thinkers Guide to God*, among others. In terms of God's relationship with the world, for example, candidates may wish to explore the issue of how a transcendent source can operate with the empirical world. However these issues are discussed, candidates should have a solid grounding in the views of Hume and Wiles.

Candidates may for example assess Hume's objections, through empiricism, to the validity of believing in miracles. A clear account of these discussions can be accessed through Mackie's book *The Miracle of Theism*.

Wiles discussed miracles as testimony which leads to his general agenda, which is to establish a version of the Christian faith which requires no specific location in history (as in historical accounts of miracles). These views can be found in Wiles' book *God's Action in the World* (esp. pages 64 - 69). Candidates should also be able to provide a critique of this view. Vardy has a brief but clear account of Keith Ward's response to this position in Chapter 9 of *The Thinkers Guide to God*.

Attributes

Nature of God

As this is a common theme in Philosophy of Religion, many of the books suggested so far will give a good account of both the nature of God and the problems associated with holding that God can be omniscient, omnipotent and omni-benevolent all at the same time. Candidates should be able to build on the work the have already covered in exploring the problem of evil at AS.

In this section candidates will be able to take their appreciation of the issues further by exploring what Boethius had to say about Eternity and Divine Foreknowledge. While this topic is not covered by many text books at the moment, book 5 of the *Consolation of Philosophy* is short and once grasped should give the candidates all they need to know on his views. This argument should also give candidates one approach to explaining how God can know what humanity is doing without being held responsible for their actions.

Life and Death; The Soul

• Life and death

In this section of the specification candidates will need to explore the problems associated with the possible distinction between body and soul. As well as in the text books mentioned above; candidates could look for introductory comments in Hick's *Death and Eternal Life* (esp. pages 72 and 73). Hick will give them a comprehensive and easily accessible introduction to this area of study.

For a more firmly monist view, candidates may wish to explore Dawkins' views, those of biological materialism. He argues that life can be described as DNA reproducing itself through

the biological equivalent of bytes of digital information .He goes on to argue that the concept of the soul is nonsense for the weak-minded. Arguably his earlier works, *The Selfish Gene* and *The Blind Watchmaker*, give a more scientific account of this discussion. As mentioned above, Alister McGrath's book *The Dawkins Delusion* expresses a well reasoned counter view.

G582: A2 Religious Ethics

Certain text books have useful coverage of all the below topics - *Ethical Studies* 2nd *Edition* (Bowie), *Religious Ethics for AS and A2* (Oliphant), *Ethical Theory* (Thompson) and *The Puzzle of Ethics,* (Vardy and Grolsch).

Ethical Topics and Theories: Meta-ethics

Meta-ethics

Candidates need a good understanding of meta-ethics; in particular they should be able to appreciate the specific use made of the terms listed in relation to ethics and moral statements. The views of thinkers such as Moore, Ayer, Hare, Stevenson are helpful, although not required.

Candidates should be able to explain the difference between normative ethics and meta-ethics and whether our ethical statements have any meaning. They need to understand the approaches of cognitivists (objective description of facts) and non-cognitivists. Candidates should be able to explain the views of ethical naturalism, intuitionism in its various forms, emotivism and prescriptivism.

They should be able to criticise, analyse and compare these views.

Ethical Topics and Theories: Free Will and Determinism

• Free will and determinism

Candidates should understand the relationship between 'free will' and various forms of determinism – theological, psychological, philosophical and scientific. As well as the textbooks mentioned above, a useful introduction is given in *Ethics* (Mackie) chapter 9. A comprehensive account is given in *How Free Are You*? (Honderlich). Consult relevant dictionaries such as *A New Dictionary of Christian Ethics* (Maquarrie and Childress) on Freedom, Determinism and moral responsibility. Chapter 5 of *An Intelligent Person's Guide to Ethics* (Warnock) gives a balanced summary. An excellent discussion of free will is to be found in chapter 6 of Mitchell's *The Philosophy of Religion*.

Candidates should be able to explain the views of hard determinists, libertarians and soft determinists or compatibilists, and those of the relevant scholars in the specification. They should be familiar with the views of: Darrow, Honderich, Hume and Locke.

For an understanding of theological determinism, the Christian view of predestination formulated by Calvin and his followers could be examined as far as these ideas affect our free will and ethical decisions and responsibility. The idea of all actions, including ethical choices, having prior causes can be examined through the ideas of Darrow and the Loeb case. The influences of psychological behaviourism, evolution and the laws of physics can also be considered by candidates.

Candidates should be able to evaluate the views of hard determinism as far as moral responsibility, praise and blame are concerned, and question whether our freedom is simply an illusion. On the other hand they should also examine the way we evaluate our actions and consider other ways of acting. Some candidates may take this further and discuss the ideas of existentialism, where freedom is an end in itself and it alone gives meaning to our lives.

Ethical Topics and Theories: Nature and Role of the Conscience

• The nature and role of the conscience

Useful reading for this section can be found in *Religious Ethics for AS and A2* (Oliphant) chapter 12, *Ethical Studies* (Bowie) chapter 13, *A Textbook of Christian Ethics* (Gill), *Ethics and Belief* (Baelz). Original writings by Aquinas, Butler and Newman can be found on the internet and are well worth reading.

Candidates need to consider the views of different scholars mentioned in the specification on what conscience is, what its role is in ethical decision making, whether it is a reliable guide to making ethical decisions, and whether conscience is innate or acquired or both.

Candidates need to know religious views of conscience from the Bible, Augustine, Aquinas, Butler and Newman and how these views differ. They will need to be able to compare and evaluate them. It would be good, but not necessary, if candidates could consider some further views on conscience from a more modern religious perspective. These can be found in the recommended textbooks. These further views are good responses to the traditional view of conscience as coming from God, or even as the voice of God.

Candidates will need to know secular views of conscience from Freud, Fromm and Piaget. They will need to know how these views developed and what influenced them. They will need to be able to assess and evaluate them and compare them to the religious views.

Ethical Topics and Theories: Virtue Ethics

• Virtue ethics

Virtue Ethics by Crisp and Slote is an extremely comprehensive text which would be useful as a resource. Virtue Ethics is also covered in *Religious Ethics for AS and A2* (Oliphant) chapter 4, *Ethical Studies* (Bowie) chapter 10, The Puzzle Of Ethics (Vardy and Grosch) chapters 2 and 8. Other useful reading includes *On Virtue Ethics* (Hursthouse), After *Virtue* (MacIntyre) and the article by Keenan in *Christian Ethics – An Introduction* (Hoose).

Candidates will need to know the principles of Virtue Ethics from Aristotle and its modern forms. They will need to be able to apply Virtue Ethics to Sexual Ethics and Environmental and Business Ethics.

Candidates will need to understand the agent-centred nature of Virtue Ethics and Aristotle's ideas of eudaimonia, developing and practising virtues, the Golden Mean and the example of virtuous people.

They also need to know about more modern approaches to Virtue Ethics. Candidates may look at the thinking of Anscombe, Foot and later MacIntyre, Hursthouse and Slote. They need to be able to assess and evaluate the strengths and weaknesses of the theory and look at whether it has anything to offer today.

Applied Ethics

Candidates should note that as well as the theory studied at A2 –Virtue Ethics-, candidates will be expected to apply all the ethical theories studied at AS to the Applied Ethics topics listed below.

• Environmental and business ethics

Useful resources include *Ethical Studies* (Bowie) chapters 19 and 20, *Religious Ethics for AS and A2* (Oliphant) chapter 13, *The Puzzle Of Ethics* (Vardy and Grosch) chapter 1. Also

recommended are *Practical Ethics* (Singer), Gaia: A New Look at Life on Earth (Lovelock), One World: The Ethics of Globalization (Singer) and Why Globalization Works (Wolf). Environmental Ethics (Walker) gives an overview of some of the approaches of ethical theories.

Candidates should be aware of the different problems facing the environment. Candidates may consider the question of whether the environment is of intrinsic value or simply of value to humans. It would be good to use examples to illustrate this, and many can be found in the recommended texts or on the internet. Issues in business ethics might include: individualism, consumerism and profits as opposed to community, solidarity and the common good.

Candidates need to be aware of the different religious approaches to the environment and to issues surrounding business.

Candidates need to be able to apply the ethical theories studied to the environment and to business ethics, and evaluate and assess the strengths and weaknesses of these approaches.

Sexual ethics

Information on this topic is given in *Religious Ethics for AS and A2* (Oliphant) chapter 14, *Ethical Studies* (Bowie) chapter 15, *A New Dictionary of Christian Ethics and Pastoral Theology* (IVP), and full coverage is found in *The Puzzle of Sex* (Vardy), particularly in chapters 15-18. *Lust* (Balckburn) is another useful source.

Topics in the specification are: pre-marital and extra-marital sex, contraception or homosexuality. As well as studying these areas, candidates need to be able to apply the ethical theories studied to them.

Themes in Jewish Scriptures: Reward and Punishment

• Reward and punishment:

Isaiah 53; Jeremiah 7; Ezekiel 18; Daniel 12; Psalm 1; 2 Maccabees 7

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the concept of reward and punishment as understood by the writers of the set texts;
- an overview of the concepts of reward and punishment with an indication of their development.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

The concept of reward and punishment as understood by the writers of the set texts. Drane *Introducing the Old Testament* has a section on 'Looking to the future' which provides an introductory summary to ideas in the Jewish Scriptures about life after death.

Isaiah 53

Candidates might wish to consider that Isaiah 40-55 is referred to by many scholars as Second Isaiah or Deutero-Isaiah and appears to reflect the situation of the exiled Jews in the sixth century BCE. Candidates could consider the themes of collective responsibility and the concept and role of the suffering servant as presented in chapter 53 with possible identification of the servant.

Jeremiah 7

This chapter contains the Temple Sermon which resulted in Jeremiah being arrested. The contents of the sermon may be studied from any reputable commentary. The comments of Charpentier *How to read the Old Testament* pp 62-63 provide a helpful approach to the theme of punishment.

Ezekiel 18

Ezekiel prophesied in the Babylonian Exile and was a younger contemporary of Jeremiah. The book is usually accepted as containing the words of Ezekiel as transmitted, and commented upon, by his disciples.

Candidates are likely to consider the doctrine of personal responsibility presented here as a contrast to the earlier corporate responsibility of Israel found in e.g. Deuteronomy 24:16.

Daniel 12

Candidates should be aware of eschatology and of the classification of some prophetic material as apocalyptic literature. A situation which becomes so bad that it seems hopeless tends to act as a catalyst to apocalyptic dynamic visions of G-d intervening in history. An apocalypse is a revealing; it contains light and hope not merely judgement on evil. G-d lifts the veil to the future to show the ultimate triumph of good.

Date, authorship, purpose and historicity become significant in the study of apocalyptic literature.

Psalm 1

Candidates should be aware of the text and teaching of Psalm 1 and be able to consider the simple good / bad, right / wrong judgement with which it is concerned.

2 Maccabees 7

Candidates should know enough about the compilation and the Maccabean revolt to make sense of the chapter.

Candidates should note that the resurrection is the theme of many verses in this chapter e.g. 9, 14, 23 and 29 and consider how the book reflects the Pharisaic view that martyrdom will make G-d act; G-d will come and make all things new.

Verse 28 includes another important theological idea, the concept of creation from nothing (ex nihilo).

Themes in Jewish Scriptures: Amos and Hosea

• Amos and a comparison with Hosea 1–3, 14

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• the book of Amos, with particular reference to social concerns and be able to offer a comparison with Hosea 1-3, 14.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

In relation to Amos, candidates might consider the idea that the book teaches that G-d's absolute rule over the world compels social justice for all people, rich and poor. Not even the Jews were free from this law, and they too had to pay the penalty for breaking it. Amos believed in a moral order which was above all nationalistic interests. Candidates need to look at the idea of G-d as pronouncing judgement on the rich for self-indulgence and oppression of the poor, and on those who break the law. According to the visions of Amos, G-d will hold a day of judgement which will punish the wicked, reward the righteous and which will be a day of darkness for Israel.

Candidates also need to be familiar with the texts and ideas of Hosea 1-3 and 14. Chapters 1-3 indicate the plight of Hosea and his children as he takes a prostitute as a wife. Candidates should consider the imagery of these chapters and the relationship between Gomer and Israel. They should also consider the message of Hosea 14 and may wish to question whether it is a logical conclusion to the book or perhaps a later addition to give hope to the people after the despair of the earlier chapters.

Themes in Jewish Scriptures: Messianic Hope

• Messianic hope and the ethical kingdom, with particular reference to *Isaiah 40–43; Micah* Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• the concept of Messianic Hope within the set texts and also of the ethical kingdom found in Micah.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

Isaiah 40-43

Some candidates might wish to look at these chapters in relation to the structure of Isaiah as a whole and the fact that some scholars refer to chapters 40-55 as the work of Second Isaiah. However, the key topic to be studied here is that of Messianic Hope. For this, and the Micah text which follows, candidates need to have considered the Jewish concept of the Messiah as presented in the scriptures. It will be helpful to look at the promise of salvation for Israel found in Isaiah 40:1-11 and the teachings about the Suffering Servant which follow.

Micah

Some candidates may wish to consider the structure of Micah and the suggestion that only Chapters 1–3 are the original 8th century text. However, candidates should focus on the Messianic hope seen in the context of the whole book. Like Amos, Micah berates the rich for

their lack of social concern and sees the inevitable wrath of G-d being the consequence of their actions. The prophecy of the Messiah and the restoration of Israel is found in the section which begins at Chapter 4 and candidates need to consider this in detail, especially in relation to the prophecies found in Isaiah.

Themes in Jewish Scriptures: Ruth

Ruth

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- Ruth as a part of the Ketuvim (Writings) in the Jewish Scriptures;
- the devotion of Ruth to Naomi;
- o the importance of Ruth being shown as the great-grandmother of David.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

In studying Ruth it will be helpful for candidates to have a clear and thorough knowledge of the text and the story and teachings it contains. They should also be able to place it in historical context and the possible reasons for it having being written in relation to the exile and the following particularism of the Jews, also as an attempt to show the lineage through David.

Themes in Jewish Scriptures: Wisdom Literature and Religious Experience

• Wisdom literature and religious experience

I Kings 5:9-14 (4:29-34 NRSV) Proverbs 13, 8 & 9, Song of Songs 13, Ecclesiastes 13 Ezekiel 1:1-28a

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- Solomon's wisdom as demonstrated in 1 Kings 5: 9-14 (I Kings 4: 29-34 NRSV;
- the concept of Wisdom in Proverbs including the presentation of Wisdom as a woman, the idea that the beginning of wisdom is fear of Hashem and the beginning of understanding is knowledge of the sacred; Wisdom as related not only to mystical aspects of religion but also to social ethics;
- the imagery of the Song of Songs;
- the wonders and laws of the natural world, and belief in the creator G-d in Ecclesiastes;
- the vision of Ezekiel and the omnipresence of G-d.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

These texts are substantially different from anything else which has been studied in this course. The texts selected provide students with the opportunity to begin a study of Wisdom literature as represented by Proverbs, Song of Songs and Ecclesiastes. It is placed in context by the passage from 1 Kings on the wisdom of Solomon. Candidates should consider the ideas and language deployed in these passages and their possible purpose. The use of this type of material and the manner in which G-d is presented can then be considered in the light of the opening chapter of Ezekiel with the account of his magnificent vision.

New Testament Background

• Setting and methodology

Matthew. The consensus is that the gospel was probably written between 70-85 CE. Candidates should consider the tradition that Matthew was the tax collector whom Jesus called to follow him (Matthew 9:9). The gospel reflects the tensions between Jews and Christians and the debate about the importance of the Jewish Law (Matthew 5:17-20) but he is critical of the Jewish scribes and 'their synagogues'. Ignatius of Antioch (35-107 AD) is the first to quote Matthew, so this seems to support Matthew's Antioch origins but others suggest a Palestinian setting.

Mark. Candidates should revise the arguments for the authorship of Mark's Gospel from AS and reconsider the purpose for writing the gospel. These might include the traditional views suggested by Papias or that he was a pocket book version of Matthew. In particular candidates should look at the probable influence of Nero's persecution (64 CE) and the place of suffering and redemption.

C.K. Barrett The New Testament Background; Selected Documents page 15 (on Nero).

Luke. Candidates should consider the early Church view that Luke was a companion of St Paul and wrote under his own name. St Paul refers to Luke as his 'beloved physician' (Colossians 4:14), but was he a Jew or a Greek? Luke appears to have good knowledge of Jewish theology and salvation history – this should be considered with reference to the opening of Acts. As a Greek-Christian his gospel concentrates on the inclusion of those traditionally excluded by the Jewish Law - women, the sick, the outcast and children. Particular attention should be given to Luke's interest in Gentiles and the Gentile mission.

Good outline of synoptic theologies may be found in Stanton *The Gospels and Jesus* chapters 3-5.

First century Jewish understanding of the following:

Apocalyptic and eschatology. Christopher Rowland *Christian Origins*, Gerd Theissen *The Historical Jesus*, EP Sanders *Judaism: Practice and Belief* provide extensive coverage of the Jewish background to all of these areas.

Parables. Candidates should understand that the parable form covers a wide range of genre from the puzzle or riddle, to the proverb or story. Examples from the Old Testament might include the Book of Proverbs (eg *Proverbs 9*); *Ezekiel 34* (the shepherd and the sheep); Nathan in 2 Samuel 12:1-7 (ewe lamb). See CK Barrett *The New Testament Background; Selected Documents* page 259 on Philo's allegorical method and 320-328 on apocalyptic and parable/allegory.

Miracles. Knowledge of some Old Testament examples of miracles will be helpful (eg Crossing the Red Sea *Exodus 14*, Elijah's and Elisha's miracles *1 Kings 17, 2 Kings 4 and 5*). First century miracles might include those of Honi the Circle Drawer and Hanina ben Dosa. Candidates should compare and contrast the Old Testament/contemporary Jewish views with those in the Synoptic Gospels. CK Barrett *The New Testament Background; Selected*

Documents pages 191-192 (Honi and ben Dosa).

The Messiah. Candidates should be aware that there is no one view of the Messiah in Judaism/Old Testament. Often the notion was linked more with a state of existence than a particular person i.e. a time of justice, righteousness and God's loving kindness. Old Testament texts might include 2 Samuel 7, Isaiah 7, 9, 11, 42 and 53; Daniel 7 and 9. See Geza Vermes *The Complete Dead Sea Scrolls* and CK Barrett *The New Testament Background; Selected Documents* chapter 13 (on apocalyptic and pages 334-349 on the Messiah).

Kingdom of God

Kingdom of God

Matthew 24, Mark 13, Luke 21:5–38, Matthew 6:9–13, Luke 11:20, Matthew 12:28, Mark 9:1, Matthew 16:28, Luke 9:27, Luke 17:20

Candidates should be able to link these texts with contemporary scholarly discussion about the coming and state of the Kingdom. For example that the Kingdom is a future state only actualised with a decisive act of God; the Kingdom is a realised mental state when the rule of God is experienced mysteriously and personally; the inaugurated view of the Kingdom which considers the Kingdom to have dawned but is yet to be consummated.

Candidates should consider what Jesus' expectation of the coming of the Kingdom was as conveyed in the Synoptic Gospels. This will require some understanding of scholarly opinion. For example (Kummel and Schweitzer) that Jesus had a future eschatology and that Jesus' mission was to prepare Israel for God's judgement. His role as Son of Man and exorcist is significant here as well as his parables of judgement. On the other hand some scholars (such as CH Dodd) considered that the Lord's Prayer teaches that the Kingdom is realised by making God's will a reality in forgiveness and radical actions such as the removal of debt not with cosmic events (see *Luke 17:20*). Scholars such as Jeremias and Perrin consider that Jesus did not speculate on an end but could see the first fruits happening in the community of his followers (*Luke 17:20*). A key question is how different this Kingdom would be from the present age (eg *Mark 9:1* and parallels).

Candidates should consider Jesus' teaching on who now belongs to the people of God. Does this include everyone (including Gentiles), or Jews or just an 'elect'? Again a distinction should be made between Jesus' teaching and the views of the Gospel writers.

Candidates should be aware of the eschatological outlook of each of the Synoptic Gospels. This can be done in a number of ways, but a comparison of the Apocalyptic discourses (*Matthew 24*, *Mark 13, Luke 21:5-end*) provides an insight into the modifications made by each redactor in particular to the problem of the delay of the Parousia or the return of Jesus at the end time.

See EP Sanders *Historical Figure of Jesus* chapter 11 and Jonathan Knight *Jesus: a Historical and Theological Investigation*. A good summary of scholarly opinions can be found in David Tiede *Jesus and the Future*.

Parables

Parables

Mark 4, 12:1–12, Luke 15–16, Matthew 25

Study of the parable should be in the wider context of the Gospels' eschatology and teaching on the Kingdom of God. Candidates should be aware of the various types of parable and their purpose from their study elsewhere and give examples from the Synoptic Gospels of sayings, riddles, aphorisms, rules and allegories. The factors which might be considered in the development of the parables are the influence of the Old Testament and folk stories, change in audiences, the situation of the Church (delay of the Parousia, leadership and mission) and the

final redaction of the parables in their present setting in each of the Gospels. Candidates may be aware of the scholarly debates about which parables or elements of the parables are Jesus' own words.

Joachim Jeremias' classic *The Parables of Jesus* is still an excellent starting point for all these discussions. John Drury reconsiders the place of allegory as part of Jesus' teaching method in *The Parables in the Gospels* in addition to his excellent general discussion of the function of the parables in the Gospels.

Candidates should be able to assess the message and purpose of Jesus' parables. In particular they should be able to select their own examples from the set texts to illustrate the themes of the nature of the Kingdom of God, judgement and forgiveness, inclusion and exclusion, wealth and responsibility, politics and the nature of religion, the lost and sinners.

Helpful texts include: Longenecker *The Challenge of Jesus' Parable*, Gerd Theissen *Historical Jesus* chapter 10, Graham Stanton *Gospels and Jesus* chapter 13 and Pheme Perkins *Jesus as Teacher*.

Miracles

Miracles

Mark 1:22–2:12, 3:21–30, 4:33–5:43, 6:32–52, 7:24–8:10, 8:22–26, Matthew 8:5–13, Luke 7:1–10

Study of miracles should be in the wider context of the Gospels' eschatology and Old Testament/contemporary Judaism. It will be helpful for candidates to have some awareness of the scholarly discussion about Jesus' role as healer and exorcist. Various historical questions can be asked. For example: what do the miracles indicate about Jesus' understanding of his relationship with God; what was the impact of his miracles on the crowds and authorities; how did Jesus' miracles affect outsiders; were Jesus' miracles understood as indicators of the coming of the Kingdom of God. Helpful texts include AE Harvey's Jesus and the Constraints of *History* (which depicts Jesus' exorcisms as eschatological signs) Morton Smith's Jesus the Magician (miracles as signs that Jesus is God's agent) and EP Sanders' Jesus and Judaism (miracles reveal very little).

Candidates should understand the theological significance of miracles for each of the Synoptic Gospel writers. For example the miracles in Mark develop the mysterious nature of Jesus' divinity and the so-called messianic secret, where the disciples often fail to understand miracles as having deeper significance (e.g. miracles of seeing). Miracles should be looked at for their didactic function and relationship with Old Testament themes such as the Exodus (eg the Feeding of the 5000), *Isaiah 35* (eg the Healing of the Deaf and Mute Man), authority to forgive sins (eg The Paralysed Man as part of the sequence of five conflicts with the Law) and the place of Gentiles in the Kingdom (eg Syro-Phoenician woman). A comparison of the Centurion's Servant (*Matthew 8, Luke 7*) provides an example of a Q passage as well as some insight into the theology of Matthew and Luke.

See Harold Remus *Jesus as Healer*, EP Sanders *Historical Figure of Jesus* chapter 10, Gerd Theissen *Historical Jesus* chapter 10.

Law and Ethics

- Law and ethics
- Matthew 5–7, Mark 7 and 10:1–31

Candidates should show knowledge and understanding of: the main features of Jesus' ethical teachings, on Gentiles, sinners and outcastes and Jewish authority.

Candidates should give careful attention to the Sermon on the Mount (*Matthew 5-7*). Ulrich Luz's *The Theology of Matthew* chapter 3 provides a very good critical over-view. The first question is to whom is the Sermon on the Mount addressed: Christians in general, Christian leaders or Christian antagonists. This determines how the themes of perfection, holiness, attitude to others and love should be interpreted.

The meaning of righteousness is complex and can be looked at in Old Testament and contemporary Jewish terms. Far from dismissing the Pharisees and the scribes as he appears elsewhere to do in his gospel, Matthew reinforces Jesus' teaching that the Christian disciple is to achieve greater righteousness. The issue of righteousness was central to Pharisaic debates in the first century. However, although the commands of the Sermon on the Mount commend inner piety (*Matthew 6*) is Jesus or Matthew reinforcing the spirit of the Torah, modifying it or only criticising Oral Torah? Here candidates could revise AS studies on Law and Covenant and the Essenes and Pharisees.

Candidates should consider the place of reward and punishment especially in the Sermon on the Mount but elsewhere in the Gospels. The notion is important in the Old Testament and linked closely with the Covenant and the messianic age. The warning in Matthew is against false teachers and false leaders whose hypocrisy teaches the 'easy road' which leads to hell (7:13-14). The great parables of judgement (Matthew 25) warn how God's reward is based on simple acts of justice not self-conscious good works.

Jesus' challenge to the Jewish Law should be understood against some of the rabbinical discussions of the time. For example: the ritual laws of cleansing, food and fasting, Sabbath regulations and teaching on marriage, divorce and wealth. See Wolfgang Schrage, *The Ethics of the New Testament*, Gerd Theissen *Historical Jesus* chapter 12 and Leadner Keck *Who is Jesus*?

Some understanding of the scholarly discussion which distinguishes Jesus' ethical commands and their interpretation by the Gospel writers is helpful. For example has Matthew (5:32) softened Jesus' teaching on divorce (*Mark 10:9-12*) on the grounds of 'unchastity' or was Jesus' teaching close to other rabbinical thought of his time which Mark has toughened up? Is it Mark or Jesus who is less interested in the ceremonial aspects of Jewish law such as kosher, when he declared all foods were clean (*Mark 7:19*)? Luke's view of the law appears to be even more emphatic than Matthew (Luke 16:16-17 cf. Matthew 5:18) in terms of Law in the prophetic period. Some scholars suggest that unlike Matthew and Mark, the issue of the Law was just not a great concern for Luke and his audience in the late first century CE. S.G. Wilson's *Luke and the Law* covers more than just Luke and considers Matthew's and Mark's attitude to Law as well.

The Person of Jesus

Who was Jesus?

Mark 8:27–38, Matthew 10:23, Mark 11

Candidates should be able to refer to earlier material concerning Jesus as Messiah. The question of whether Jesus thought he was the Messiah depends on what the term 'Messiah' means in first century terms. The question Jesus asks from prison uses the term 'the one who is to come' (*Matthew 11:3*) rather than the term Messiah (anointed one). The question might be answered depending on how one views miracles and their relationship with the Messiah.

Candidates could use material from AS on the Son of Man. An analysis should be made of the incident at Caesarea Philippi (*Mark 8:27-38*). A contrast might be made with the popular views that Jesus is a prophet figure (like Elijah or John the Baptist) with Peter's confirmation that Jesus is the Messiah which Jesus qualifies with the term the Son of Man. The ambiguity of the term may have suited Jesus' purposes well: the suffering servant of Isaiah 53 (and possibly the

rejected stone of *Psalm 118:22* and *Mark12:10-12*) as well as the figure given divine authority (*Daniel 7:14*). Some consideration should be given as to whether Matthew appears to add Son of Man sayings or whether he preserves older sayings (eg, *Matthew 10:23*) and how he understands the term.

What can be known of the historical Jesus? It will be useful for candidates to know a little about the current scholarly views for the 'historical quest'. The first quest distinguished between the Jesus of history and the Christ of faith. Wrede's messianic secret is a good example of this movement, likewise Schweitzer's Jesus as final prophet. The new quest claimed that Jesus' divinity developed because of distinctiveness from Judaism. See NT Wright *Who was Jesus*?

Other possible texts: Geza Vermes *Jesus the Jew*, EP Sanders *Jesus and Judaism*, Graham Stanton *Gospels and Jesus* chapter15, Gerd Theissen *Historical Jesus* chapter 4 (which evaluates what can be know about the real Jesus) and Howard Clark Kee *What Can We Know About Jesus*?

Theology of Religions

Gavin d'Costa and John Hick have both written extensively on the relationship of Christianity and other religions. D'Costa has written many articles for example in David Ford *The Modern Theologians* and Paul Avis *Divine Revelation* but for a fuller example of his arguments see his *Christian Uniqueness Reconsidered.* John Hick's classic is *God and the Universe of Faiths* but teachers should be aware of his revised views in his recent books such as *The Rainbow of Faiths.*

Attempts to define religion

Candidates should be aware of the different attempts to define religion from the post-Enlightenment 'modernity' to 'post-modernity'.

Candidates should understand Ludwig Feuerbach's notion (*The Essence of Christianity* 1841) that religion is the objectification of the ideals of the human mind which the mind then falsely considers to have real objective existence. There is, therefore, a naturalistic basis for religion. However, the danger of religion is that it causes a state of alienation between the subject of consciousness and its objects. The sense of religious feeling of dependence (important for the later liberal Christian tradition) is 'self-feeling feeling'.

Candidates should have a sound knowledge of Ninian Smart's *The Religious Experience* chapter 1 (formerly published as *The Religious Experience of Mankind*). Smart presumes an objective experience called 'religion' which he defines phenomenologically under six dimensions. The six dimensions are: ritual, mythological, doctrinal, ethical, social and experiential. Smart's aim is to investigate religion 'scientifically' that is without making value judgements about its truth claims. For this reason revelation must be treated non-propositionally and as an example of the experiential dimension. However, although religion is a plural phenomenon, according to Smart, all religions are concerned with the search for the 'invisible' dimension of human experience. He considers whether even self-consciously anti-religious movements such as Marxism and humanism are in someway religious.

Candidates should have an understanding of Don Cupitt's shifting views of religion to his present post-modern 'solar' view (as set out in his *Solar Ethics* or *After God*). His non-transcendentalism is set out by considering the effects of civilization on traditional objective views of God through deism (of Kant for example) to the present day aesthetic post-modern sense of 'playfulness' and joy. Cupitt's position is eclectic, finding inspiration from Nietzsche and Buddhism as well as richness of language from traditional Christian sources such as the Bible and Prayer Book in the quest for 'self-transcendence'. For Cupitt language is the only reality, there is no 'outside world' and so no dimension in which a traditional God could exist. Solarity is the new religion: non-judgemental, life affirming and inclusive it lies at the heart of Christianity and other great religions but has become obscured by a false understanding of reality. Stephen Ross White gives a good summary and critique of Cupitt in *Don Cupitt and the Future of Christian Doctrine* (chapter 6 in particular). Anthony Freeman's *God in Us* follows in Cupitt's anti-realist tradition and is very accessible for pupils.

• Exclusivist/particularist responses of Christianity to other world religions Candidates might wish to look at the argument set out in *Dominus lesus* (2000) which reiterates the statement made in Vatican 2 that 'The Catholic Church rejects nothing of what is true and holy in these religions' (*Nostra Aetate*) but firmly rejects religious relativism/pluralism. Although Karl Barth may appear to be placed in this unit as an exclusivist, candidates should keep an open mind as to what Barth actually believes about the relationship of Christianity and other religions. Candidates should be able to discuss the centrality of the Word in Barth's theology. They should note that he takes as his starting point Feuerbach's suspicion of religion to be no more than human expression of hope. By placing the Word in dialectical opposition to religion, Barth seeks to recover the true subject of religion, God. Reference back to AS and Calvin would be appropriate at this point.

Candidates should understand the centrality of revelation in terms of the Trinity (as the distinguishing feature of Christianity), the Incarnation as the particular and unique revelation of God, and the Spirit as revelation of God's grace and that which makes human minds open to the existence of God. Candidates should also be aware of Barth's ambivalence to natural theology and the dangers of reducing religion to human experience.

Candidates should understand the significance Barth gives to the Calvinist idea of election. However Barth's treatment is different: for as Mediator, Jesus Christ is both the Subject of election (as God) and its Object (as human). As Subject the pre-incarnated and eternal Logos is predestined by the Trinity to enter the historical realm as the incarnate Son of God. The election of the pre-incarnated Logos is not undetermined (as in Calvinism) but differentiated as Jesus Christ. Of central importance for Barth is that God 'does the general for the sake of the particular' (*Church Dogmatics* II/2 page 53). The incarnation is therefore the concrete and objective revelation of God in a moment of history and of all history. But although Barth appears to stress the particular, he also has a strong sense of God's universal grace. Consideration should be given to the relationship of election to universalism.

A useful analysis of Barth may be found in John Webster *Barth* particularly chapter 4 on God and election.

Inclusivist responses of Christianity to other world religions

Candidates might find the Church of England's report *The Mystery of Salvation* (chapter 7) a helpful introduction. The issue of Christianity's relationship with other religions and philosophies has always presented a problem. In the first instance its relationship with Judaism, then with Platonism and subsequently with Islam. Consideration might be given to some of the key Biblical texts which support the inclusivist's argument centre on God's general revelation in creation and human moral conscience: *Sirach 24; Matthew 25:31ff; Luke 10:25ff; John 16:12-15; Acts 17, Romans 1:18ff, 8:18ff.*

Candidates should understand Karl Rahner's theology on Christianity and other religions as stated in *Theological Investigations* Volume 5 (1966) chapter 6 or his *Foundations of Christian Faith* (1978) Part VI chapter 10. Rahner made famous the notion of 'Anonymous Christianity' and the 'Anonymous Christian'. He adopts what he calls 'open Catholicism', that is 'a certain attitude towards present-day pluralism of powers with different outlooks of the world'.

His argument is based on four propositions: that the Solus Christus principle, although absolute, also permits universal salvation; that experience of Grace in history is open to non-Christians until they encounter Christianity; that the anonymous Christian is anyone of good will who desires God's Grace; that the invisible Church is the mediation of salvation for anonymous Christians.

Probably the most important aspect of Rahner's theology is his ontological understanding of the Church as the means of grace. His Platonic emphasis on the invisible 'Catholic' church enables him to see people of different religions being participant anonymously without infringing the doctrine of *extra ecclesiam nulla salus*. Rahner might also be said to have an eschatological view of Church in which case should he be considered a universalist rather than an inclusivist?

A useful analysis of Barth may be found in William Dych SJ *Rahner* particularly chapter 6 on The Church.

Pluralist responses of Christianity to other world religions

The specification requires knowledge of the theology of John Hick (Protestant). Hick argues his case in a number of publications beginning with his *God and the Universe of Faiths*. His original theistic position seems to have shifted especially in his use of Kantian epistemological categories in which religions (phenomena of religious experience) are postulates of the one noumenal Reality.

The Rainbow of Faiths sets out this position in dialogue form using a Kantian critical realism as a means of reconciling those religions which have a personal/theistic experience of Reality with those, such as Buddhism, which talk in terms of a non-personal Realism. Hick rejects the non-realists and other post-modern claims, (eg. Don Cupitt), that there is no transcendent reality and that all religions are products of cultural experience. His aim is for there to be a 'Copernican revolution' in the theologies of the world to achieve a 'global theology' which embraces the plurality of religions whilst rejecting the notion of world religion.

Hick's radical challenge is that the doctrines laid down at the great councils of Nicaea and Chalcedon should no longer dictate modern Christian theology. Hick follows in the footsteps of Bultmann and others who consider that the language of the early Church use of the term 'son' to describe Jesus was not to be taken as an objective fact but as an existential metaphor (see Hick *The Myth of God Incarnate* chapter 9) which demythologises and presents Jesus as he was originally encountered as a 'great soul' but not the incarnate God.

A useful analysis may be found in Christopher Sinkinson *The Universe of Faiths: A Critical Study of John Hick's Religious Pluralism.*

Feminist Theology

Candidates should be able to show how feminist theology has derived and developed its ideas from secular feminist movements and philosophy; the aims of all feminisms are to empower and value women in their own right. Christian feminism must be seen within this context but with its own distinctive theological contribution. It is important that candidates recognise that there is no one single feminist notion.

Susan Parsons *Feminism and Christian Ethics* usefully sets out three broad traditions of feminism and Christian responses to them i.e. liberal, reconstruction and radical/natural.

Presentation of women in the Bible and Christian tradition

Old Testament; New Testament

Candidates should be aware that there is not one consistent biblical understanding of the role of women (or men). They might look at a variety of different presentations of women in biblical texts, such as the role of Eve in Genesis 2-3 by way of contrast to Genesis 1:27. They may wish to look at the presentation of the women of virtue such as Esther, Ruth and Deborah, with the 'temptress' model of Rebecca, Delilah and Jezebel. Contrast might be made between true and false wisdom in the book of Proverbs with the woman as a prostitute and the women of virtue (depicted as the virtuous wife in Proverbs 31). Some may wish to look at the 'texts of terror' such as Judges 19:1-30 and Phyllis Trible's analysis (*Texts of Terror*) as well as the Levitical laws (e.g. Leviticus 15 and 20) which governed men and women's relationship in terms of holiness and cleanliness.

Consideration could be given to Jesus' teaching on the Kingdom of God and its social impact on women such as Mary and Martha (Luke 10:38-42), the woman with bleeding (e.g. Mark 5:24-34) women at the tomb and the resurrection (e.g. Luke 23:55-24:12).

Candidates might be aware of the tensions in Paul's letters and his apparently contradictory views about equality and subservience of women to men (e.g. Galatians 3:28, 1 Corinthians 11:2-16, Ephesians 5:21-33, 1 Timothy 2:9-15).

Some scholars suggest that after a radical beginning to Christianity (see for example Acts 4:32-35) the New Testament also records a consciously more conservative approach to the role of women for fear of antagonising the wider communities (e.g. 1 Peter 2:12). Reference to the women mentioned in Acts may be useful here to expand the historical analysis of women's roles in early Christianity.

A good collection of essays by different scholars may be found in Elizabeth Schüssler Fiorenza's *Searching the Scriptures*. William Countryman's *Dirt, Greed and Sex* looks at the taboos of body and cleanliness in the New Testament.

Christian Tradition

Augustine: Reference should be made back to the study of Augustine in the AS unit and the place of sin and concupiscence. Augustine's theology centres on the effects of the Fall on men and women's bodies and consequently the way in which reason operates. Men and women share equal spiritual natures but women are subordinate to men in practical reason. Augustine's description shares some of the Platonic view of self. Man's role is to be obedient to God and rule (deliberative self) over nature, including his wife and family; women's role is to be obedient to her husband as directed by man and to manage the practical aspects of the home (deliberative self).

Candidates could also look at Augustine's view of marriage and the place of the dedicated virgin in society. A good analysis of Augustine may be found in Genevieve Lloyd's *The Man of Reason.*

Luther: Assumed the 'headship' argument as part of the natural order and as divine decree. His contribution to protestant thought was to question whether celibacy was an indication of a higher vocation. Marriage is the main purpose of men and women's existence for procreation and companionship. Luther, unlike Augustine, thought women were ontologically different from men in two ways: firstly in being weaker in nature (as the moon is to the sun) secondly, as mother and home maker in Eden - but without the pain of child-bearing. The Fall was due to Eve's weaker mental state.

Mulieris Dignitatem: The Apostolic letter *Mullieris Dignitatem* (1988) sets out the 'equal but different' view of men and women. It emphasises the unique role of women as mothers and as creators of life. Mary, as theotokos, is the model of woman as submissive to the will of God but strong in her role as the one who sustains the family.

• Liberal/equality feminist theology

Liberal feminism has its roots in the 19th Century and is concerned with equality of rights, autonomy and the irrational basis of patriarchy. The response of liberal or equality feminist theologies to secular liberal and equality feminism has been to reinterpret the traditional patriarchal presentation of Christianity indicating where women have often been given an equal role with men.

One example is that of Elizabeth Cady Stanton in her hugely influential *The Woman's Bible* (1885) which takes into account the patriarchal circumstances in which the Bible was written.

See Daphne Hampson's *Feminist Theology* for a critique of liberal feminist hermeneutics.

Reconstruction feminist theology

Candidates should have some knowledge of Marxist, Freudian and existentialist secular feminists and the way in which they have developed their different types of hermeneutic of suspicion to analyse the patriarchal nature of society and its deeper discriminatory structures. Simone de Beauvoir's *The Second Sex* is particularly important and influential. Rosemary Tong's *Feminist Thought* gives a thorough introduction to secular feminism.

Candidates should be able to show how feminist theologians have used and adapted the insights of secular reconstructionist feminists. For example they might wish to look at Fiorenza's highly influential *In Memory of Her* in which she uses her own hermeneutic of suspicion to reconstruct the 'lost' history of women which the New Testament hints at but which has become submerged through patriarchy.

An analysis should be made of religious language of God and feminist re-imaging. In particular candidates could look at Rosemary Radford Ruether's *Sexism and God-Talk* and the challenge of the incarnation to the warrior messiah expectation and Fiorenza's investigation of the wisdom tradition and its ability to combine male/female characteristics into the person of Christ (see her *Miriam's Child, Sophia's Prophet*). Consideration should be made of the Trinity and whether feminist theology can offer some new insights into it as a challenge to the traditional ontological patriarchy from which monotheism appears to suffer. Janet Soskice is helpful here as well as the insights of Julian of Norwich (see *The Cambridge Companion to Feminist Theology*).

Radical/naturalist feminist theology

Radical or naturalist feminism is characterised by its diversity. The one agreed point of departure is to reconsider the significance of women's bodies. Amongst secularists the discussion is whether men and women are essentially the same (androgyny) or different. Radicals suggest that other forms of feminism have not tackled this issue. Virginia Woolf's 'looking glass' world metaphor is frequently referred to here: are women still mimicking men; have they a unique nature which feminism can utilize to transform society. For further analysis, see Cahill *Sex, Gender and Christian Ethics* – in particular chapter 4.

Candidates should be familiar with the views of Elaine Pagels; she argues that Gnostic Christianity was destroyed by Irenaeus in the second century because of its threat to the Church. Its radical theology depicted God in androgynous terms as a combined male-female principal (some terms referred to as the 'fullness') and the chief apostle of Jesus was not Peter but Mary Magdalene.

On the other hand post-Christian feminists such as Mary Daly may have begun life within the Church, but found its structures and ontology to be essentially sexist and patriarchal. Daly's use of Nietzsche is the key influence in her version of transvaluation of Christian values to appropriate the divine properties in female secular terms. Daly's creed is to move beyond God the Father, and develop an open-ended 'new be-ing' (non teleological) where women will in Nietzschian terms 'unveil' the present phallic ethics of church and society. See her *Beyond God the Father*.

Feminist theological ethics

Candidates should be able to discuss some of the practical implications of feminist theology. They may wish to look at the debates surrounding the public role of women in church life as priests/bishops or ministers. They may wish to consider how Christian feminism has challenged traditional roles of women within marriage, as mothers, and in the work place. Some account could be made of the degree of change which is implied by the different forms of feminism. Candidates should consider the responses of feminist theology and non-feminist theology to motherhood and reproduction. Secular feminists are ambivalent (see Shulamith Firestone *Dialectic of Sex*) about motherhood and reproduction and regard it as an unnecessary reduction of autonomy. Others see motherhood to be a uniquely creative gift which defines women in their relationship with God and men. See Cahill *Sex, Gender and Christian Ethics* chapter 6.

In considering Womanist theology, candidates are likely to be aware that their theology deals with more than lack of freedom, the complex problems of colour, racism, forced surrogacy, class and sexual exploitation. Dolores Williams argues that the Exodus model of liberation has to be modified with the 'wilderness' paradigm in which Hagar found herself. See Dolores Williams *Sisters in the Wilderness* chapter 6 and James Cone and Gayraud Wilmore *Black Theology* volume 2 Part IV.

Key Concepts

Nibbana/nirvana

Candidates should be able to explore the nature of nibbana as it is understood in the traditions studied in the specification. Consideration can be given to what ceases and continues when nibbana is achieved. An awareness of the differences between nibbana and parinibbana is important, particularly with regard to karmic formations and consequences, the five khandhas, and the different kinds of dukkha. Candidates should be aware of the difficulties in describing nibbana given the limitations of samsaric language, and the ways in which Buddhists attempt to describe nibbana. Candidates might explore the value of describing nibbana. Consideration of the desirability of nibbana, and the possible conflict inherent in desiring nibbana, would be advantageous.

The Importance of Scriptures

Except where specified, candidates are not expected to demonstrate extensive firsthand knowledge of the contents of the texts. However they should have a good understanding of the main structure and themes of the texts, as well as their importance to Buddhists.

Candidates will benefit from being able to discuss the extent to which the scriptures are derived from the Buddha, and their authority. They could discuss whether the value of the scriptures lies in the source, or in their use in promoting spiritual progress. With regard to the Mahayana scriptures, candidates might explore their varying status for the schools studied within the specification. Gethin and Harvey have excellent coverage of the importance of the Pali Canon and Mahayana sutras in general. Williams' *Mahayana Buddhism* is a detailed analysis of Mahayana sutras, and another excellent source for analysis of the Lotus Sutra is Cheetham.

• The Lotus Sutra

Candidates should be aware of the most important teachings within the Lotus Sutra as explained through both a number of parables and some dramatic scenes. Candidates will be expected to have detailed understanding of the symbolism of the Parable of the Burning House, particularly in establishing Mahayana authority. Other key parables such as the Magic City, the 'Prodigal Son' and the Physician together with episodes such as the rising of the stupa would be appropriate areas for further study. Candidates should be aware of the main teachings within the sutra including ekayana, upaya. The plurality of Buddhas and the teaching that Buddhas and bodhisattvas are still around to help us would also be a profitable area of study. Candidates might be aware of some of the reasons for its popularity in the Far East such as the accessibility of its stories and images, its claim to offer more inclusive salvation and its offer of disproportionate benefits in writing out or reciting verses from it.

The Heart Sutra

Candidates should demonstrate a good understanding of the Heart Sutra as a brief (24 verse) summary of the heart of the Perfection of Wisdom teachings, specifically the emptiness (sunya) of all dharmas. Study could focus on the idea of the emptiness of the skandhas and all dharmas and the two levels of truth inherent in the text and the way in which these teachings affect the doctrines of the Mahayana schools studied in the course. Some analysis of the role of Avalokitesvara and Prajnaparamita would be valid.

The Pali Canon

Candidates might look at the extent to which the Pali Canon is regarded as the direct word of the Buddha, and how accurately it was preserved through the oral tradition. Candidates need to know about the composition of the Pali Canon, including its three parts (baskets). It would benefit candidates to understand how the vinaya pitaka, sutta pitaka and abhidhamma pitaka are used by Buddhists. Candidates might consider the status of the Pali Canon as a source of authority in the Theravada and Mahayana traditions.

Religious Practice

Meditation

Candidates need to demonstrate some awareness of the similarities and differences in the approach to meditation in the schools studied within the specification. They would benefit from an understanding of the different forms of meditation in Theravada Buddhism, especially samatha and vipassana. The relationship of meditation to the other parts of the Noble Eightfold Path and to enlightenment could be examined. Good coverage of Pure Land should note that it began as a complex visualisation practice but as it became popularised the emphasis on meditation decreased until in Japan it disappeared. Examination of meditation in Zen should explore the nature of zazen and the use of koans, and the Zen arts. Advanced analysis might consider whether meditation is élitist and whether a religious path should be difficult, and whether all the schools have methods which, if applied successfully produce similar results (e.g. jhanas/dhyanas, mindfulness, enlightenment, greater compassion) or whether there are inherent differences.

Candidates should be able to explore the nature of the experiences achieved through meditation. Gethin has a good chapter on mainstream practices and Harvey gives advanced and detailed coverage. The *Access to Insight* website has very accessible dhamma talks by Theravadins.

Later Buddhist Developments

Successful understanding of the nature of the various doctrines and practices found in different Buddhist schools will require some historical perspective, though the emphasis is on current beliefs and practices. A good understanding of these areas is intimately linked to that of the prior three sections of the specification, and attitudes to the Buddha in the AS level. For Zen and Pure Land some understanding of the distinctive influences of Chinese and Japanese thought on these schools would be appropriate. Candidates should be prepared to discuss similarities and differences between the different traditions. They might also consider whether adaptations made within these traditions are a skilful means or a betrayal of Buddhist origins. Harvey covers these areas in some detail, and Williams offers good discussion of the historical development of Pure Land Buddhism.

Zen Buddhism

Candidates might explore practices such as zazen, koans and mondos, as well as the nature of satori. An understanding of the differences between the typically more gentle practices of Soto Zen, and the sometimes extreme methods of Rinzai Zen could be explored – though it is important to avoid stereotyping from limited and exceptional examples. The nature of satori can be considered, and candidates might discuss whether it can be considered a goal in the context of Zen beliefs.

Pure Land Buddhism

Candidates might explore the attitude towards Amitabha Buddha, rebirth in Sukhavati, visualization and nembutsu practices. Candidates should consider the nature of the Pure Land, and whether this is seen as a provisional or ultimate goal. A basic understanding of the differences between Pure Land and True Pure Land schools, such as the differing use of visualization and nembutsu practices, and their attitude to scriptures would be appropriate.

Tibetan Buddhism

Candidates might have some awareness of the political issues related to Tibetan Buddhism, but the focus should be on religious aspects. Candidates should focus on the authority and status of the Dalai Lama as an appearance of the bodhisattva Avalokiteshvara. Candidates might explore the use of mudras, mantras and mandalas, the status of Lamas, a basic understanding of yoga practices, and beliefs about bardo.

Buddhism in the West

Candidates should understand how the vinaya rules, for example on food, have been adapted in order to compensate for the limited support available from the lay community in the west. An awareness of the psychological interpretations of, for example, the realms of existence within samsara would be appropriate.

Ethics

Candidates should be able to explore the effects on ethical decision making of various ethical codes. They might consider the possible contradictions arising from these codes, and how they can be addressed. Evaluation of the ways in which the ethical codes are used and interpreted in different schools would be appropriate. Teachers may wish to use contemporary ethical issues to help candidates demonstrate their understanding of these issues. The Clear Vision video *Buddhism Today* offers an accessible introduction to ethical views from different schools, and Harvey supplies a more scholarly analysis.

• The five precepts

Candidates should be able to explore how the precepts are understood in both positive and negative forms. The role of the precepts as a basis for spiritual practice should be considered. The ways in which the precepts are followed by monastic and lay Buddhists, and links with the vinaya rules could be considered.

• Implications for ethics of the eightfold path

A detailed understanding of the eightfold path in both the ordinary and noble forms will be helpful. The levels of practice followed by the monastic and lay community could be explored. The relationship between the sila, prajna and samadhi aspects of the path can be considered, including the emphasis which might be placed on different aspects of the path by different practitioners.

Upaya, karuna and prajna

Candidates should understand the relationship between wisdom and compassion in Buddhist ethics, especially for Mahayana Buddhists. Candidates might consider whether the flexibility offered through the concept of upaya weakens or strengthens Buddhists ethics.

Key Concepts

Liberation

Candidates should be able to explore the nature of liberation as it is understood in the traditions studied in the specification. The relationship between atman and Brahman, and how this is evidenced at liberation should be considered. Candidates should be aware of the difficulties in describing liberation. Candidates should be aware of different paths to liberation, and how these reflect beliefs about atman and Brahman.

The Advaita Vedanta of Sankara

Candidates should be able to explain the importance of jnana as a method of piercing the illusory nature of our experience and revealing atman and Brahman as identical. Candidates could discuss Sankara's views of nirguna and saguna Brahman, and explore whether Sankara's views are monist.

The Vishishtadvaita Vedanta of Ramanuja

Candidates should be able to explain the importance of bhakti yoga as a path to liberation, which in this sense represents union with the divine. Candidates should be able to discuss the Brahmans manifestation of the world, and the status of the jiva.

The Importance of Scriptures

The Vedas

Candidates will be expected to develop a more detailed knowledge of the material than at AS Level. The structure, division and use of the texts should be considered, as should their status as sruti scripture. Although detailed first hand knowledge of the texts is not expected, candidates' use of a few key verses to illustrate relevant points would be appropriate. It is important for candidates to be able to discuss whether the Vedic view of God is primarily monistic, monotheistic, polytheistic or henotheistic.

The Bhagavad Gita

Candidates should understand why the Bhagavad Gita does not fit easily into either categories of *sruti* or *smriti*. Particular focus however, is recommended on the following four chapters. Studying chapter 2 would enhance an understanding of the nature of atman, chapter 5 of karma yoga, chapters 9 and 11 the nature of Krishna and deities generally. Candidates are expected to have a grasp of the main themes of these chapters, the nature of God, bhakti, dharma and karma rather than an exhaustive knowledge of the passages, but the ability to quote a few key verses would be recommended. Evaluation of the reasons for the importance of the Bhagavad Gita would be appropriate.

There are many English translations of and commentaries on the Gita, many either of poor quality or displaying sectarian bias. Easwaran, Radhakrishnan and Zaehner are among the most dependable scholars.

Sruti and Smriti literature

Candidates should be aware of the difference between sruti and smriti literature, and the authority of these scriptures. Their understanding may be illustrated by reference to the texts studied in the specification, or other appropriate examples.

Religious Practice

Meditation

Candidates should explore the aims of methods of meditation in the traditions studied within the specification. They might include the use of mudras, mantras, visualisation of murtis, and yogic positions.

Samkhya and yoga

In studying this section of the specification, Candidates will probably benefit from making direct reference to Hindu texts: the Samkhya Karika and the earlier Yoga Sutra of Patanjali. Teachers will probably wish to concentrate on the nature of purusa and prakriti in this system, and the ways in which the three gunas INTERREACT in the process of productivity. The nature of release might be considered, and the method of obtaining it as outlined in the Yoga system. The most able Candidates might consider the extent to which the Samkhya system can be considered to be truly atheistic, and whether there is more to the Yoga system than just a practical application of Samkhya. Most of the books suggested for this option contain useful material on Samkhya, although it is difficult to surpass Radhakrishnan's *Indian Philosophy*, which despite its age still retains its charm and thoroughness of approach. K M Sen's *Hinduism* provides a brief but accessible introduction to Samkhya, at a level appropriate for candidates studying the topic for the first time, and should give them enough basic knowledge to be able to go on to explore the ideas more deeply. Candidates might wish to evaluate Samkhya by comparing it with other ideas which are possibly more universal and accessible, such as bhakti.

Later Hindu Developments

A Source-Book of Modern Hinduism, edited by Glyn Richards (Curzon 1985, 0-7007-0317-9) is a useful source of material for this section of the specification. It balances a selection of writings from Hindu leaders with some useful commentary.

MK Gandhi

The life and thought of M K Gandhi is well documented, in his own autobiography and in many accessible guides, such as *Gandhi, a Beginner's Guide* by Genevieve Blais (Hodder and Stoughton 2000 0-340-79035-0). Candidates should consider Gandhi's thought and achievements with a particular emphasis on his religious contribution, rather than concentrating too heavily on his political achievements. Detailed biographies will not be expected, but candidates could consider the extent to which Gandhi could be considered an 'orthodox' Hindu, his particular understandings of sanatanadharma and ahimsa, and his continuing influence on Hindu thought and practice.

Arya Samaj

Candidates should be aware of the founding of the movement by Dayananda Saraswati. An awareness of key aspects of their teachings should be developed, including for example an emphasis on a return to the Vedas and the following of Vedic rituals, eliminating the needs for caste distinctions. The success or otherwise of their religious and social reforms could be evaluated.

Brahma Samaj

Candidates should be aware of the founding of the movement by Ram Mohan Roy. An awareness of key aspects of their teachings should be developed, including for example the emphasis on monotheism devoid of images.

• Hinduism in the West

Candidates should be aware of the difficulties in developing a western form of Hinduism when conversion is discouraged and caste is inherited. The ways in which this has been addressed by ISKCON could be considered. Candidates might evaluate the extent to which western changes are seen as a valid reinterpretation of the teachings, or a betrayal of Hindu origins.

Ethics

Candidates should be able to explore the effects on ethical decision making of various ethical codes. They might consider the possible contradictions arising from these codes, and how they can be addressed. Evaluation of the ways in which the ethical codes are used and interpreted in different traditions would be appropriate. Teachers may wish to use contemporary ethical issues to help candidates demonstrate their understanding of these issues. *Ethical Issues in Six* Religions edited by Peggy Morgan and Clive Lawton might prove a useful resource for teachers (Edinburgh University Press 1996 0-7486-0709-9).

• Ahimsa

Candidates should be able to explain the origins of ahimsa, and its prominence in the teachings of Gandhi. Understanding of the concept of ahimsa, its background and its importance for Hindu ethics will be expected.

• Implications for ethics of varnashramadharma

Candidates should be looking at the roots of varna in the Purusha Sukta, the ways in which it has been interpreted as Hindu society has developed, the differences between varna and caste, and the ways in which some Hindus have tried to break down the barriers created by caste. The ashramas should also be studied, with an understanding of the ways in which dharma changes as a person passes through the different stages. The appropriateness of varnashramadharma for modern society, in the West and in India, might be considered. Candidates might wish to dip into Hindu texts such as the Brahmacharyasukta, in order to add to their understanding, although questions will not be asked which demand knowledge of material which is not explicitly mentioned in the specification.

• The four purusharthas

Candidates should have a detailed understanding of the four purushartas, their relative importance, and their relationship to the ashramas. Hindu attitudes towards sexuality and towards the use of money might usefully be discussed here as examples of Hindu beliefs translated into practice.

G588: A2 Islam

Beliefs

• Articles of belief: Allah, angels, scriptures, messengers, the last day, the divine decree Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the articles of belief (Allah, angels, scriptures, messengers, the last day, the divine decree);
- their particular significance and importance in Muslim theology.

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

Text books refer to the five, six or seven key beliefs of Iman, the Faith. The number is not significant. Being able to explain the concepts is the skill which is important at this level.

Modern text books sometimes group the key beliefs for convenience in three categories:

- Tawhid, the unity of God.
- Risalah, Prophethood (this comprises: angels, books, messengers).
- Akhirah which is about life after death (this includes: the Day of Judgement; Life after death, the Divine Decree).

A statement of seven basic beliefs of Islam is contained in Al-Iman ul-Mufassal: 'I believe in Allah, in His angels, in His books, in His messengers, in the Last Day and in the fact that everything good or bad is decided by Allah, the Almighty, and in the Life after Death.' This hadith is similar to lists found in the Qur'an e.g. Surah 2:177 reads: '... to believe in Allah and the Last Day, and the angels, and the Book, and the Messengers...' Surah 4 contains a similar list in verse 136 'Any who denieth Allah, His angels, His Books, His messengers, and the Day of Judgment, hath gone far, far astray.'

The divine decree refers to Qadar, Allah's complete and final control over the fulfilment of events or destiny.

Scripture

• Surah 4

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the teachings of Surah 4 in relation to the treatment of women in pre-Islamic Arabia; the importance of these teachings for Muslims today;
- the changes which Muhammad *introduced*;
- the principles of first ummah;
- orphans, family and the roles of men and women, inheritance, Jews and Christians, enemies, hypocrites, jihad, and articles of belief;

Candidates should be able to discuss these areas critically.

Although Surah 4 is called the 'Women' its scope is much wider. Candidates need to be familiar with the text and the ideas and teachings which it contains. The Surah is concerned with the social conditions in al-Madinah and concerns women, orphans, inheritance issues, lewd

behaviour, degrees of relationships for marriage, relationships with Jews and with nonbelievers, trusting in Allah and following the Five Pillars. The continued importance of these teachings should also be studied.

Muslim Life

Qur'an, Sunnah and Shari'ah as bases for Muslim life; ijtihad
 Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

 the nature and importance of each of these and how they form the bases for Muslim life.

This section deals with sources of authority and the interplay of revelation and reason. Candidates should have considered the Qur'an as the primary authority for the basis of Muslim life. Candidates have probably encountered an occasional hadith, a saying of the Prophet recounted by his household, children and companions. These hadith, sayings, are part of the

secondary source of authority, the Sunnah, the example of the Prophet Muhammad . There are also Sirah, biographical writings about the conduct and example of the Prophet. Candidates are expected to understand the relative authority of the Qur'an and the Sunnah as bases for Muslim life. This includes the criteria by which the authenticity of each hadith is guaranteed.

Candidates are expected to know that the Shari'ah is the sacred Islamic Law which is based on the Qur'an and the Sunnah. Their studies of the ummah will have prepared them for the fact

that Muhammad intended to form a community with no division between civil and religious law. The Shari'ah extends beyond ritual duties and embodies a whole range of provisions covering every area of life: social and economic, civil and criminal, communal and personal. Candidates should know that there is a distinction between rules based on wahy (revelation) and those based on fiqh (human reasoning and understanding). Syed Ali Ashraf has a chapter about the Islamic Code of Life which is a good introduction to the concept and development of Shari'ah, including consensus (ijma'), analogy (qiyas) and individual conscientious opinion (ijtihad).

Candidates should be aware of four of the law schools which came into being during the rule of the Abbasids and have survived to the present day: the Hanifite, Malikite, Shafi'ite and Hanbalite.

Ijtihad is only a means to consensus not a licence to free thinking but it is particularly relevant to the interpretation of the Shari'ah when dealing with new problems and issues which arise in our rapidly changing world. The chapter on Islamic Law in Watt provides useful areas for discussion especially concerning the right to Ijtihad, whether the door to further rulings is open or has closed.

The categories of obligation are a helpful concept when discussing actions which are haram and halal. The Sunni and Shi'ah differences concerning the interpretation of Shari'ah law and the authority of the Imamate may be studied in this section or as appropriate.

Candidates should have knowledge of teaching on work and wealth; justice, crime and punishment.

• The concept of jihad

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- jihad as 'striving for the will of Allah';
- be able to distinguish between Greater and Lesser Jihad.

In studying Jihad candidates need to be aware that it is often interpreted in a negative fashion. It is true that it may be a physical battle against evil and the enemies of Islam but candidates also need to consider the spiritual striving in order to preserve a way of life which aims to establish peace and justice, fulfil the will of Allah and gain Allah's favour. Jihad is the end result of the

Five Pillars and is part of the ethics of a lifestyle following the example of Muhammad

The ummah and its implications for Muslim ethics

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the theological basis and practical implications of this 'worldwide community of Muslims';
- the importance of ummah in the way in which it can influence and affect Muslim ethics.

Ummah is the Muslim community and candidates might consider how, for example, each of the Five Pillars strengthen ummah. Zakah and sawm are immediately obvious ways of sharing but experience of Hajj may be profound whilst communal prayer and the over-arching solidarity of Shahadah may point to more spiritual aspects. The Qur'an is the ultimate authority for how

Muslims should live and Muhammad the perfect example.

Candidates have studied the ummah and the commitment to the equality of believers and the responsibility of the individual towards Allah and towards the whole of creation. Harmony in the microcosm of the family is the first step to harmony in the universe. At this level, candidates are expected to be able to bring together the material they have studied and to discuss contemporary issues in a scholarly manner.

Development of Islam

• The first four Khalifahs and the spread of Islam to 732 CE

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the importance of the first four Khalifahs: Abu Bakr, 'Umar ibn al-Khattab, 'Uthman, Ali;
- the expansion of Islam to 732 when the Muslim forces were defeated at Poitiers by Charles Martel's Franks.

In this section candidates should be able to offer understanding and analysis of the choice of the first four Khalifahs and the reasons for this. In particular they need to consider why they were chosen and why Ali was the fourth rather than the first Khalifa.

There is also need for study of the expansion of Islam from Arabia, through northern Africa and into the Iberian peninsula. The defeat in 732CE at the hands of the Franks marked the end of this expansion. However, candidates should also consider the expansion to the east into the Indian sub-continent.

• Origins and beliefs of Sunni and Shi'a Islam; Sufism

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the split between Sunni and Shi'a Islam
- the different Shi'a groups of Seveners and Twelvers
- the origins of Sufi Islam and its role as a mystical group within Islam

Candidates should have considered that Islam was and is a political as well as a religious community. The first significant division within Islam was about leadership when the Shi'ah

Muslims supported 'Ali as the rightful successor of Muhammad examination but candidates need to have some knowledge of the main events which established the original split into Sunni and Shi'ah Muslims so that they can understand the religious ideas and principles which are involved.

In addition candidates should have studied the Sufis who are the mystics of Islam and are found in both Sunni and Shi'ah traditions. Candidates need to have considered what is meant by mysticism, the role of Sufism in Islam and the impact which Sufism may or may not have in the modern materialistic world.

Practice of Islam in the Western World
Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

• challenges to family and community values posed by non-Islamic world (including how this affects Muslims in United Kingdom).

G589: A2 Judaism

Beliefs

The concept of Land of Israel

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the significance of the concept of the Land of Israel for Judaism;
- its historical context as the 'Promised Land';
- exile and return;
- Zionism;
- the relationship between the religious idea and the present day State of Israel;
- the difference between the concept of the Promised Land and the present State of Israel. This should include origins and the boundaries of the land;
- concepts related to the Land such as stewardship, the Year of Jubilees, the establishment of kibbutzim and Jewish responses to environmental issues;
- the teachings of Judah Halevi in relation to the Promised Land.

Candidates need to have considered what is meant by the State of Israel in its present form since its establishment in 1948 and its status as a political entity within the world and especially in the Middle East, established by law and treaty, not by G-d. Also they need to consider the concept of the Promised Land as being the homeland and holy land of the Israelites as promised to Abraham in Genesis 12 and further realised after the Exodus. The comparison of the two concepts may consider the fact that although the essential boundaries of the State and the Promised Land, excluding Gaza and the West Bank, are basically the same; nevertheless the entire idea is different. There needs to be recognition of the Israeli government and legal system. A further consideration may be that some Orthodox Jews rejected the establishment of the State of Israel on the grounds that the Jews could not return to the Promised Land until they were taken there by the Messiah.

Candidates need to be able to demonstrate good understanding of the concepts related to the land and be able to refer to their origins in scripture of elsewhere.

Candidates are not expected to have made a detailed study of Judah Halevi but should have considered his teachings in relation to the Promised Land particularly in the 'Songs of Zion'.

Messianic Hope

• Messianic hope, with reference to Isaiah and Malachi

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the importance attached to the messianic hope by Jews;
- various interpretations and understandings of this hope today, e.g. the contrast between the way in which this is understood and interpreted by Orthodox and Progressive Jewish groups;
- the idea of the messianic hope in the books of Isaiah and Malachi;
- different understandings of the idea as represented by different groups of Jews today, candidates should also be able to discuss the teachings as represented in Maimonides;
- The 13 Principles of Faith including study of the messiah;
- different Jewish beliefs about life after death.

Candidates need to consider in detail the Biblical teaching in Isaiah (40-43, 53) and Malachi in relation to the coming of the Messiah. A consideration of the differing understandings of this coming should include the very literal idea of the Orthodox that the Messiah, preceded by the return of Isaiah, will come to rule the world as prophesied in the scriptures, and the Progressive view that it is a 'Messianic Age' that is awaited or, indeed, in which the Jews may already be living.

They need to be able to demonstrate understanding of the approaches of different Jewish groups in relation to Messianic hope. They should also be able to show understanding of the teachings of Maimonides in the '13 Principles of Faith' and be able to use these in their answer.

Finally, candidates should be able to discuss accurately the differing Jewish beliefs about life after death. They should be aware that there is a big variation in this belief and be able to refer to teachings and developments as appropriate.

The Twentieth-Century Holocaust; Post-Holocaust Theology

• The twentieth-century Holocaust and post-Holocaust theology

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the origins and scale of the Twentieth-Century Holocaust;
- anti-semitism;
- the twentieth-century Holocaust and its effects on world Jewry;
- the physical consequences on world Jewry and the particular theology which has resulted from it: candidates should be able to discuss the thinking of Rubenstein, Fackenheim, Maybaum and Berkovitz;
- Orthodox and Progressive responses to the Holocaust.

A consideration of post-Holocaust theology should include the presentation and explanation of the different views of such as Rubenstein, Fackenheim, Maybaum and Berkovitz though any others in addition are, of course, acceptable. These include the basic views of G-d was in Auschwitz, G-d was not in Auschwitz, G-d died in Auschwitz. A further view might be that of those such as Finkelstein in *The Holocaust Industry*.

Candidates need to be able to discuss the Holocaust as well as its effect on Jewry. They should be able to explain the approaches of different Jewish groups and the reasons for these differing views.

Developments in Judaism

• Orthodoxy, Neo-Orthodoxy, Conservative, Reform, Progressive and Liberal

Candidates should be able to demonstrate knowledge and understanding of:

- the origins and teachings of these groups as they are represented in the United Kingdom;
- the principal theological differences between them and the way in which these may be reflected in and affect Jewish life and practice.

In studying this section candidates need to acquire a clear idea of the various groups as represented in Great Britain.

Orthodoxy as Hasidism; Neo-Orthodoxy – United Synagogue & Federation of Synagogues;

Conservative - Masorti; Reform - RSGB, Reform Synagogues of Great Britain, and Liberal -

ULPS Union of Liberal and Progressive Synagogues.

There needs to be an understanding of the historical origins of these groups and the reasons for their appearance. Also they need an understanding of the principal theological differences and they way in which these are reflected in life and practice. This section requires academic study and observation of these different groups and the reasons why they have developed within Judaism which might otherwise appear a very homogenous faith.

The perennial question 'Who is a Jew?' may also be addressed here. This will probably cover the basic idea that anyone born of a Jewish mother is ipso facto Jewish. Other areas which may be discussed might be the significance of the Law of Return which is not as stringent in its requirements e.g. in relation to non-Orthodox converts, also with regard to the Falashas.

• The diaspora: Ashkenai and Sephardi Jews

Candidates should understand the following:

- the establishment of the diaspora;
- the origins and differing practices of Ashkenai and Sephardi Jews;
- identity and cultural diversity.

This section requires candidates to be able to demonstrate understanding of the origins of the Diaspora after 70CE. They should be able to explain the origins and locations of the different Jewish groups as well as being able to comment on their differing practices such as dress, variations in worship, observation of Pesach etc.

4 Resources for AS Units

G571: AS Philosophy of Religion

AS Students

CD-ROM Sophie's World Macmillan Press (1997) 0-333-69289-6

Very useful as a general philosophical tour.

Cole, P Philosophy of Religion Hodder & Stoughton (1999) 0-340-72491-9

Grayling, A.C The Meaning of Things Phoenix Paperback ISBN 0 75381 359 9

Hick, J Evil and the God of Love Macmillan (1985 edition) 0-333-39483-6

Lengthy, but useful for directed reading, e.g. on the Augustinian and Irenaean theodicies. Jordan, A, Lockyer, N & Tate, E **Philosophy of Religion for A level** Stanley Thornes (1999) 0-7487-4339-1

Suitable for basic and introductory work.

Lee, J God and Proof Abacus (1997) 1-898653-10-0

One of a series of short booklets in simple format

Luhman, R The Problem of Evil Abacus (1995) 1-898653-08-9 (booklet)

Osborne, R **Philosophy for Beginners** Writers & Readers Publishing, Inc. (1992) 0-86316-157-X

Written in comic-book style, but can capture students' imagination and interest. Suitable for any introductory work on the Philosophy of Religion because it gives candidates a feel for the inter-relatedness of philosophy as a whole.

McGrath, Alister The Dawkins Delusion SPCK ISBN 0 28105 927 6

McGrath, Alister God Dawkins: Genes, Memes and the Meaning of Life Blackwell Publishing ISBN 1 40512 538 1

Polkinghorne, John **One World (the interaction of science and theology)** SPCK ISBN 0 281 04188 1

Polkinghorne, John Exploring Reality (The intertwining of Science and Religion) SPCK ISBN 0 300 11014 2

Raeper, W & Smith, L **A Beginner's Guide to Ideas** Lion Publishing (1991) 0745921361 *Especially part 3 & part 13.*

Thompson, M **Philosophy: An Introduction** Hodder & Stoughton (1995) 0-340-64394-3 *Chapter 2 on the Philosophy of Religion.*

Thompson, M Teach Yourself Philosophy of Religion Hodder & Stoughton (1997) 0-340-68837-8

A pragmatic generalist guide which covers a lot of ground; new edition due June 2000. Vardy, Peter and Arliss, Julie **The Thinkers Guide to God** O Books ISBN 1 903816 22 X Vardy, P **The Puzzle of God** HarperCollins (1990) 0-00-599223-0

Coherent, concise yet wide-ranging.

Vardy, P **The Puzzle of Evil** Fount/HarperCollins (1992) 0-00-627638-5 Vardy, Peter **The Puzzle of Evil** Fount ISBN 978 00627 638 8

AS Teachers

Astley, Jeff **Exploring God Talk** Dartman Longman and Todd ISBN 0 232 52519 6 Baggini, J (ed.) **The Philosophers' Magazine**

A first-class magazine generally, with a fair Philosophy of Religion content: edited by Julian Baggini & Jeremy Stangroom; tel. 0208 292 9968

E-mail: editor@philosophers.co.uk www.philosophers.co.uk Subscriptions: The Philosophers' Magazine Subscriptions, 43 Millharbour, London E14 9TRBehe, Michael J Darwin's Black Box Simon and Schuster Ltd ISBN 0 74329 031 3Blessing And TudicoMovies and the meaning of life (Philosophers take onHollywood) Open Court ISBN 0 8126 9575 5

CD ROM The Philosophers' Magazine CD-ROM

Advertised in The Philosophers' Magazine, ed. J Baggini.

It contains the articles from back issues, together with longer versions of some of these; can be a good format for directing student research.

Clack, B & B R **The Philosophy of Religion. A Critical Introduction** Polity (1998) 0-7456-1738-7

Davis, S T (ed.) Encountering Evil: Live Options in Theodicy T & T Clark (1985) 0-567-29107-3

A popular text: also useful for directed reading for students.

Davis, S T **God, Reason and Theistic Proofs** Edinburgh University Press (1997) 0-7486-0799-4

Dawkins, R The Blind Watchmaker W W Norton (1996) 0-393-31570-3

Dawkins' views for the relevant parts of the specification can be culled from this and from his other works.

Dawkins, Richard **The God Delusion** Bantam Press 548 9

ISBN 0 59305

Flew, A An Introduction to Western Philosophy: Ideas and Argument from Plato to Popper

Thames & Hudson (1991 repr.) 0-500-27547-5

Hick, J **Philosophy of Religion** Prentice-Hall (1989 impr.) 0-13-662628-9 *Dated, but very good.*

Hughes SJ, Gerry J The Nature of God Routledge ISBN 0 415 12075 6

Mackie, J **The Miracle of Theism** Oxford University Press (1992 impr.) 0-19-824682-X Excellent clarity from the atheist perspective – the title is a tongue-in-cheek extrapolation from Hume's comment that it would be a miracle for people to believe Christianity to be true. Particularly important for its discussion of the problem of evil – probably the definitive twentieth-century re-statement.

Pals, L **Seven Theories of Religion** Oxford University Press (1996) 0-19-508725-9 *E.g. chapters 2,3,4 on Freud, Durkheim & Marx.*

Peterson, M (et al.) Reason and Religious Belief: An Introduction to the Philosophy of Religion Oxford University Press (1991) 0-19-506155-1

Recommended for its extremely comprehensive coverage.

Pinchin, C Issues in Philosophy Macmillan (1993 reprint) 0-333-40596-X

The section on the Philosophy of Religion includes a useful analysis of William James. Resources List $7 \odot$ OCR 2000

Religious Studies Oxford Cambridge and RSA Examinations

Plantinga, Alvin God, Freedom and Evil Harper Row ISBN 0 8028 1731 9

Quinn, P & Taliaferro, C A (eds) **Companion to Philosophy of Religion** Blackwell (1997) 0-631-19153-4

A very comprehensive and useful reference work which could also serve, under direction, as an introduction to primary texts.

Rowe, W L & Wainwright, W J Philosophy of Religion. Selected Readings Harcourt-Brace 3rd

edition (1998) 0-15-503687-4

Covers the nature & attributes of God, arguments for the existence of God, religious experience, faith & miracles, death & immortality, etc.

Swinburne, R **The Existence of God** Clarendon (1991 edition) 0-19-823963-7 Bedrock for synthesis of probability arguments for the existence of God, including the argument from religious experience, etc.

Swinburne, R The Coherence of Theism Clarendon (1993) 0-19-824070-8 Waters, J (ed.) Dialogue. A journal for Sixth Form Religious Studies

Obtainable from the editor. The material is suitable for students, although it is best to select articles for their attention. Webber, J Faith and Reason Abacus (1995) 1-898653-09-7 (booklet) Webber, J Revelation and Religious Experience Abacus (1995) 1-898653-11-9 (booklet)

Philosophy Now magazine – Philosophy Now Subscriptions, Kelvin House, Grays Road, Westerham, Kent TN16 2JB rick.lewis@philosophynow.demon.co.uk www.philosophynow.demon.co.uk © OCR 2000 8 Resources List Oxford Cambridge and RSA Examinations Religious Studies

G572: AS Religious Ethics

AS Students

Oliphant, J. Religious Ethics at AS and A2 Routledge (2007) 0-415-36631-3 Bowie, R. Ethical Studies 2nd edition (2004) 0 7487 8079 3

These two books provide a good basis for most topics

Deanne-Drummond, C., (ed) Brave New World T&T Clark (2003) Gensler, H. Ethics: A Contemporary Introduction Routledge (1998) 0415156254 Gill, R. A Textbook of Christian Ethics T&T Clark (1995) 0567031128 Gill, R. The Cambridge Companion to Christian Ethics Cambridge University Press (2001) 0521779189 Glover, J. Causing Death and Saving Lives Penguin (1990) 0140134794 Hoose, B. Christian Ethics: An Introduction Cassell 0304702633 Hope, T. Medical Ethics: A Very Short Introduction Oxford University Press (2004) 0192802828 Kuhse, H. & Singer, P. Bioethics – An Anthology Blackwell (1999) 0-631-20311-7 Lafollette, H. (ed) Ethics in Practice Blackwell (2002) 140512945X Norman, R Ethics, Killing and War Cambridge University Press (1995) 0521455537 Norman, R The Moral Philosophers; an Introduction to Ethics Oxford University Press (1998)0198752164 Palmer, M. Moral Problems in Medicine Lutterworth (1998) 0718829786 Pojman, L Ethics Wadsworth (1998) 0534551815 Singer, P. Practical Ethics Cambridge University Press (1993) 052143971X Vardy, P. & Grolsch, P. The Puzzle of Ethics (second edition) Fount (1999) 0-00-628144-3 Wilcockson, M. Issues of Life and Death Hodder & Stoughton (1999) 0-340-72488-9 Winston, R. A Child Against All Odds Bantam (2006) 0593054946

Journals

Waters, J (ed.) Dialog

e. A journal for Sixth Form Religious Studies available from www.dialogue.org.uk

Philip Allen Updates RSReview ISSN: 1743878

Web Sites

Ethics Updates http://ethics.acusd.edu/index.html www.jcu.edu/philosophy/gensler www.newadvent.org./ www.rsweb.org.uk www.rsrevision.com

AS Teachers

Frankena, W. Ethics Prentice-Hall (1973) Grove Publications
A substantial collection of booklets on ethical issues approached from a largely evangelical Christian perspective.
Hoose, B. (ed) Christian Ethics an Introduction Oxford University Press (1998) 034702633
Macquarrie, J & Childress, J A New Dictionary of Christian Ethics SCM (1986) 0334022045
Useful reference on most topics.
Norman, R The Moral Philosophers; an Introduction to Ethics Oxford University Press (1998)
0198752164
Excellent.
Palmer, M Moral Problems in Medicine Lutterworth (1998) 0718829786
Readable.
Pojman, L Ethics Wadsworth (1998) 0534551815
Smart, J. & Williams, B Utilitarianism – For and Against Cambridge University Press (1973) 052109822X

G573 and G583: Jewish Scriptures

Jewish Scriptures – a foundation for Module 2764

Albertz, R A History of Religion in the Old Testament Period Volume 1 SCM (1994) 0334-02553-2

Anderson, B W, The Living World of the Old Testament Addison Wesley Longman (1989) 0-582-41860-7 Still useful though out of print at present.

Blenkinsopp, J Wisdom and Law in the Old Testament Oxford University Press (1990) 0-1 9-875504-X

Bright, John A History of Israel (third edition) SCM (1986) 0-334-02046-8

Brown, W Character in Crisis: A Fresh Approach to the Wisdom Literature of the Old Testament Eerdmans (1996) 0-8028-4135-X

Ceresko, Anthony R Introduction to Old Testament Wisdom A Spirituality for Liberation Orbis Books Mary Knoll New York 1-57075-277-X

Charpentier, E How to read the Old Testament SCM Press (1992) 0-334-02057-3 Useful at all stages of the course.

Coggins, Richard Introducing the Old Testament Oxford University Press (1990) 0-19-213255-5 Background reading which might encourage exploration and discussion of the relevance of studying the set Jewish texts in the present millennium.

Davies, P R Daniel Sheffield Academic Press (1998) 1-850750-02-5

de Vaux, R Ancient Israel: Its Life and Institutions Darton, Longman & Todd (1973) 0-232-51219-1

Drane, J W Introducing the Old Testament Lion Publishing (1987) 07459 4290-3

Eaton, J H Job Sheffield Academic Press (1996) 0-905774-97-3 Affordable and useful guide to the study of the set passages in Job; the bibliography is useful for teachers. Bibliography has helpful annotations for further study.

Eichrodt, Walther Theology of the Old Testament I & II SCM (1978), Vol 1: 0-334-01632-0; Vol 2: 0-334-01639-8. Volume 1 is about Covenant. Reprint: Westminster J Knox (1999) 0-664-20352-3

Gillingham, S E The Poems and Psalms of the Hebrew Bible Oxford University Press (1994) 0-19-213243-1

Gunn, D M & Fewell, D N Narrative in the Hebrew Bible Oxford University Press (1993) 0-19-213245-8

Johnstone, W Exodus Sheffield Academic Press (1990) 1-85075-239 -7

McKeating, H Ezekiel JSOT Press (1993) 1 85075 428 4

Microsoft® EncartaTM CD-ROM articles:

Moberly, R W L Genesis 12-50 JSOT Press (1993) 1 85075 371 7

Noth, M The History of Israel SCM (1983) 1-85931-048-6

Rofé, Alexander Introduction to the Composition of the Pentateuch Sheffield Academic Press 1 85075 992 8

Rogerson, John (ed) Beginning Old Testament Study SPCK (1998) 0-281-05103-8 Clearly written; the chapters on the history of Old Testament Study and Old Testament Theology will serve as a helpful introduction to the course. Generally useful are the commentaries in the Old Testament Library published by SCM and the New Century Bible published by Marshall, Morgan and Scott. (Under teacher guidance, sections of any general commentary may be appropriate. It cannot be stressed enough, however, that diligent study of the actual set biblical texts themselves is the key to this module.)

Rogerson, John (ed) Beginning Old Testament Study SPCK (1998) 0-281-05103-8

Rosenberg, D (transl) & Bloom, H The Book of J Faber and Faber (1991) 0-571-16111-1. Reprint: Vintage Books 0-679-73624-7

Soggin, J Alberto An Introduction to The History of Israel and Judah (third edition) SCM (1999) 0-334-02788-8

Tanach Mesorah Publications (1996) 0899062695

Thorogood, Bernard A Guide to Amos SPCK international study guide (1995) 0-281-02733-1 Though designed as a textbook for Christian ministerial students using English as a foreign language, this study guide brings the text to life in the contemporary world.

von Rad, G Old Testament Theology (2 volumes) SCM (1975) Vol 1: 0-334-01882-5; Vol 2: 0-334-01883-3 Volume 2 is the Theology of Israel's Prophetic Traditions.

Whybray RN The Second Isaiah T and T Clark Study Guides, Originally published as part of the Sheffield Guides series. Reprinted 2003, 0-56708-424-8

Generally useful are the commentaries in the Old Testament Library published by SCM and the New Century Bible published by Marshall, Morgan and Scott. (Under teacher guidance, sections of any general commentary may be appropriate. It cannot be stressed enough, however, that diligent study of the actual set biblical texts themselves is the key to this module.)

G574: AS New Testament

General

Books for Pupils

Barrett, C *The New Testament Background: Selected Documents* (SPCK, 1987 (revised edition); ISBN 0 281 0494 2) Rowland, C *Christian Origins* (SPCK, 2002; ISBN 978-0281041107) Sanders, E *The Historical Figure of Jesus* (Penguin, 1995 (new edition); ISBN 978-0140144994) Theissen, G and Merz, A *The Historical Jesus: a Comprehensive Guide* (SCM Press, 1998; ISBN; 978-0334026969) Throckmorton, B (editor) *Gospel Parallels* (STL (fifth edition), 1993; ISBN 978-0840774842) *Invaluable edition of the Synoptic Gospels set out in parallel columns* <u>www.ntgateway.com</u>

First Century Gospel Setting

Books for Pupils

Grabbe, L An Introduction to First Century Judaism (Continuum, 1996; ISBN; 978-0567085061) Vermes, G The Dead Sea Scrolls (SCM Press, 1994; ISBN 0 334 02565 6) Wenham, D and Walton, S Exploring the New Testament (SPCK, 2001; ISBN 978-0281054336)

Books for Teachers

Dunn, J *The Parting of the Ways* (SCM Press, 2006 (revised edition); ISBN 978-0334029991) Campbell, J *Deciphering the Dead Sea Scrolls* (Blackwell (second edition), 2002; ISBN 978-0631229933)

Hooker, M Signs of a Prophet: The Prophetic Actions of Jesus (Continuum, 1997; ISBN 978-1563382109)

Jeremias, J The Eucharistic Words of Jesus (Fortress, 1977; ISBN 978-0800613198) A classic study of the Last Supper.

Sanders, E and Davies, M *Studying the Synoptic Gospels* (SCM Press, 1989; ISBN; 978-0334023425) *Comprehensive text book on source criticism*

Sanders, E Judaism: Practice and Belief (SCM Press, 1992; ISBN 978-0334024705)

Sanders, E Jesus and Judaism (SCM Press, 1985; ISBN 978-0334020912)

Stemberger, G Jewish Contemporaries of Jesus (Fortress, 1995; ISBN 978-0800626242)

Passion and Resurrection Narratives

Books for Pupils

Vermes, G *The Passion* (Penguin, 2005; ISBN 978-0141021324) Légasse, S *The Trial of Jesus* (SCM Press, 1997; ISBN 978-0334026792) Lüdemann, G *What Really Happened to Jesus* (SCM Press, 1995; ISBN 0334 02607 5) Luz, U *The Theology of the Gospel of Matthew* (CUP, 1995; ISBN 0521 4335765) chapter 8

Books for Teachers

Conzelmann, H *The Theology of St Luke* (SCM Press, 1982; ISBN 978-0334023517) Catchpole, D *Resurrection People* (Darton, Longman, Todd, 2000; ISBN 978-0232523768) Dunn, J *1 Corinthians* (T & T Clark Continuum 1995; ISBN 978-0567084347) Dunn, J *Christology in the Making* (SCM Press, 1989 (second edition); ISBN 0334 002370) Hooker, M *The Gospel According to Mark* (A & C Black, 1991; 07136 3284 4) Hooker, M *Endings* (SCM Press 2003; ISBN 978-0334028871)

G575: AS Developments in Christian Theology

AS Foundations in Christian Theology and Liberation Theology

AS Pupils

1. Foundations in Christian Theology

Bath, K *Dogmatics in Outline* (SCM, 2001; ISBN 978-0334028383) Chapter 3 'Faith as Knowledge' *Barth's summary and of the Calvinist position*

Cone, J God of the Oppressed (Orbis Books, 1997; ISBN 1570751587) chapter 6 A good introduction to Cone's presentation of Jesus and how he can be 'black'.

McGrath, A *Christian Theology* (Blackwell, 2001 (third edition); ISBN 0631 22528 5) *Covers all areas needed for this aspect of the specification.*

Marshall, IH Biblical Inspiration (Paternoster, 1995; ISBN 978-0853647096)

Vardy, P The Puzzle of God (Fount, 1999; ISBN 978 0006281436) on Aquinas's view of God and causation.

2. Liberation Theology

Boff, L and Boff, C Introducing Liberation Theology (Burns and Oates 1987; ISBN 0860121569) Starts with some first hand accounts of the situation in Latin America and gives a clear outline of the main themes and ideas.

Berryman, P Liberation Theology (Taurus, 1987; 1850430543) Wide ranging and lucid survey of liberation ideas concentrating on Latin America but considers also other forms of liberation.

Ford, D (Editor) The Modern Theologians (Blackwell, 1997(second edition); ISBN 0631195920)

Grenz, S and Olsen, R 20th Century Theology: God in a Transitional Age (IVP 1992; ISBN 08308 15252) pages 210-224. Excellent survey.

McGrath, A (Editor) *Blackwell Encyclopaedia of Modern Christian Thought* (Blackwell, 1993; ISBN 0631168966) *Good clear articles with enough detail to cover the topics thoroughly.*

Messer, N Christian Ethics (SCM Press, 2006; ISBN 0334 02995 3) Chapter 8 A very helpful discussion of the way in which the hermeneutical circle can be used to do Christian ethics

Valentine, S 'Liberation Theology' in *Dialogue* (Issue 18 April, 2002)

Stevenson, L and Haberman, D *Ten Theories of Human Nature* (OUP, 1998; ISBN 0195120418) *Contains a useful chapter and analysis of Marx's ideas*.

Wilcockson, M A Student's Guide to AS Religious Studies for the OCR Specification (Rhinegold Publishing Ltd order from www.rhinegold-studyguides.co.uk).

AS Teachers 1. Foundations in Christian Theology

Augustine *City of God* (translated Knowles) (Penguin, 1972; ISBN 014041222) Book 14 chapters 16-26. *Augustine discusses the relationship between sin, sex and sexuality.*

Barton, J (editor) *The Cambridge Companion to Biblical Interpretation* (CUP, 1998; ISBN 978 0521485937

Morgan, R and Barton, J Biblical Interpretation (OUP, 1988; ISBN 978-0192132574)

Brown, P *The Body and Society* (Columbia University Press, 1990; ISBN 0231061013) Chapters 2 and 19 *on Paul and Augustine respectively.*

Clements, K (editor), *Friedrich Schleiermacher: Pioneer of Modern Theology*, (Augsburg Fortress, 1997; ISBN 0800634012) Introduction, Chapters 1 and 4.

Cloke, G This Female Man of God (Routledge, 1995; ISBN 0415 09470 4). Very clear introduction to patristic teaching on women and to the times in which Augustine was developing his theology. Chapter 9 is especially helpful for this unit.

Cone, J A Black Theology of Liberation (Orbis, 1970, 1986; ISBN 088344 6855) chapter 6.

Fiorenza, S In Memory of Her (SCM, 1994; ISBN 0334 02639 3) Introduction to the Second Edition

Gunton, C, Holmes, S and Rae, M (editors) *The Practice of Theology: A Reader*, (SCM Press, 2001; ISBN 0334028167), pp. 248-250 *The Calvin/Barth theology of the knowledge of God.*

Kenny, A Aquinas on Being (Clarendon Press, 2005; ISBN 978-0199279449)

McGrath, A (editor) *The Christian Theology Reader* (Blackwell, 2007 (third edition); ISBN 9781405153584)

Migliore, M Faith Seeking Understanding (Eerdmans, 2004; ISBN 080282787X)

2. Liberation Theology

Ford, D (editor) The Modern Theologians (Blackwell, 1997 (second edition); ISBN 0631195920)

Gibellini, R The Liberation Theology Debate (SCM Press, 1987; ISBN 0 334 0243 X)

Grenz, S and Olsen, R 20th Century Theology: God in a Transitional Age (IVP 1992; ISBN 08308 15252) pages 224-236. Excellent survey.

Gutierrez, G We Drink From Our Own Wells (SCM Press, 1983; ISBN 0 334 01754 8) A clear introduction to Gutierrez's own ideas.

Gutierrez, G A Theology of Liberation (SCM Press, 1974/2001; ISBN 0 334 02853 1) A classic. Read Part IV to gain an insight into most of the main themes and ideas.

Kee, A Marx and the Failure of Liberation Theology (SCM Press, 1990; ISBN 0 334 02437 4) An important and invaluable analysis of Liberation Theology and its use of Marx

McGrath, A (editor) *Blackwell Encyclopaedia of Modern Christian Thought* (Blackwell, 1993; ISBN 0631168966) *Good clear articles with enough detail to cover the topics thoroughly.*

Nickoloff, J (editor) *Gustavo Gutierrez: Essential Writings* (SCM Press, 1996; ISBN 0334 02663 6)

Petrella, I *The Future of Liberation Theology* (Ashgate, 2004; ISBN 07546 4051 5) *An important challenge to modern liberation is whether it can develop to deal with capitalism.*

Rowland, C (editor) *The Cambridge Companion to Liberation Theology* (CUP, 1999; ISBN 0521467071) *Series of very good articles. Too hard for most AS candidates.*

Sobrino, J and Ellacurua (editors) *Systematic Theology: Perspectives from Liberation Theology* (SCM Press 1996; ISBN 0 334 02646 6) *The usual range of systematic topics but unusually using Liberation Theological techniques.*

Church Documents: Conciliar and Post Conciliar (St Paul Multimedia Productions UK) Covers Vatican II and documents from John XXIII to John Paul II. CD

G576: AS Buddhism

AS Students

Carrithers, M **The Buddha** Oxford University Press (1983) 0-19-287589-2

Slim biography, which is excellent on the Buddha's social and religious background. Cush, Denise **A Student's Approach to World Religions – Buddhism** Hodder & Stoughton (1993) 0-340-54691-3

Written for A level courses; provides a brief introduction.

Gethin, Rupert **The Foundations of Buddhism** OPUS [OUP] (1998) 0-19-289223-1 Thorough introduction to fundamentals of Buddhism from a Theravadin specialist. Just one chapter on Mahayana. Advanced language level.

Harvey, Peter An Introduction to Buddhism Cambridge University Press (1990) 0-521-31333-3

Detailed coverage of almost the whole AS/A2 syllabus – excellent scholarship. Keown, Damien **Dictionary of Buddhism** Oxford University Press (2003) 0-19-860560-9 Useful as a classroom resource.

Klostermaier, Klaus **Buddhism – A Short Introduction** Oneworld (1999) 1-85168-186-8 Accessible language level; does not cover whole course in detail.

Rahula, Walpola **What the Buddha Taught** Grove Publishing (1995) 0-8021-3031-3 *Quite old now, but still a classic textbook on the Core Buddhist teachings.*

Williams, Paul **Buddhist Thought** Routledge (2005) 0-415-20701-0 *Coverage of most of the course*

AS Teachers

Eds. Bercholz, Samuel ad Kohn, Sherab Chodzin **The Buddha and His Teachings** Shamabala Publications (1993) 1-57062-960-9 *A wide range of useful articles and translations including karma, the eightfold path, and the bodhisattva path*

Gombrich, Richard **Theravada Buddhism** Routledge (2004) 0-415-07585-8 *A very useful section on the sangha*

Ling, Trevor The Buddha Temple Smith (1985) 0-85117-266-0

Nanamoli, Bhikkhu **The Life of the Buddha** Buddhist Publication Society (2001) 1-928706-12-6 *A useful account compiled from Buddhist sources.*

Schumann, H W The Historical Buddha Arkana (1989) 0-14-019203-4

Both books offer excellent detailed coverage of the religious, social and political background

G577: AS Hinduism

AS Students

Flood, Gavin **An Introduction to Hinduism** Cambridge University Press (2003) 0-521-43878-0 *A useful and detailed source for many areas of the specification*

Cross, Stephen The Elements of Hinduism Element (1994) 1-85230-569-X

Kanitkar, V P & Cole, W Owen **Teach Yourself Books – Hinduism** Hodder & Stoughton (1995) 0-340-61105-7

Cross, Stephen The Elements of Hinduism Element (1994) 1-85230-569-X

Kanitkar, V P and Cole, W Owen **Teach Yourself Books – Hinduism** Hodder & Stoughton (1995) 0-340-61105-7

Koller, J M The Indian Way Macmillan (1992) 0-02-365800-2

Sen, K M **Hinduism** Penguin (1991) 0-14-013650-9 an accessible introduction by a practicing *Hindu*

Shearer, A **The Hindu Vision – Forms of the Formless** Thames & Hudson (1993) 0-500-81043-5

AS Teachers

Fuller, C.J. **The Camphor Flame** Princeton University Press (1992) 0-691-02084-1 Useful chapters on the gods and goddesses and worship

Brockington, J **The Sacred Thread – Hinduism in its Continuity and Diversity** Edinburgh University Press (1996) 0-7486-0830-3

Klostermaier, Klaus **A Survey of Hinduism** SUNY (1994) 0-7914-2110-4 Thapar R **A History of India – Volume 1** Penguin (1983) 0-1402-0769-4

Web Sites

www.harappa.com/har/har0.html

G578 and G588: Islam

Abdullah, Yusuf Ali The Meaning of the Holy Qur'an Amana Publications (1995) (seventh edition) 0-915957-55-8. The definitive English version

Aktar, S A Faith for All Seasons: Islam and Western Modernity Bellew Publishing (1990) 0-947792-41-4. An interesting book by a modern scholar dealing analytically with Islam and the challenges of modern thinking.

Armstrong, Karen A Western Attempt to Understand Islam Gollancz (1991) 0-575-05012-8 A sympathetic Western biography of the Prophet

Ashraf, S Ali Islam Stanley Thornes 1-871402-10-7. An introduction to Islam originally intended as a GCSE text book. Useful for anyone needing a basic introduction to Islam.

Azzam, L & Gouverneur, A The Life of the Prophet Muhammad H The Islamic Texts Society (1985) 0 946621 02 0. Intended for children up to 15 but makes a very readable introduction to the life and teaching. A4 with colour illustrations and there's a hardback version too.

Bhatnagar, R S Dimensions of Classical Sufi Thought East West Publications 0-89581-649-0 Complex; intended for study in more depth than is necessary for teaching the course.

Bowker, J Voices of Islam, Oneworld (1995) 1-85168-095-0. Muslims living in the West speak about their experiences.

Bowker, John Westerdale World Religions Dorling Kindersley (1997) 0789414392 For consultation in library

Catalogue of publications from: Islamic Vision 481 Coventry Road Birmingham B10 OJS. Provides material accessible to students and teachers on a wide range of Islamic topics written by Muslims for Muslims.

Cragg, K Call of the Minaret Collins 0-00-599918-9 Element: reprint 2000 1851682104 Books by this renowned scholar are useful introductions for teachers.

Cragg, K The Event of the Qur'an Oneworld (1995) 1-85168-067-5

Denny Frederick M Introduction to Islam third edition Prentice Hall 2004 013183563-7

Esposito, J L Islam – the Straight Path Oxford University Press (1988) OUP New York 1992 0-19-507472-6. The recommended book for teachers.

Esposito, John L(ed) The Oxford History of Islam, Oxford University Press (1999) 0-19-510799-3

Fakhry, M Short Introduction to Islamic Philosophy, Theology and Mysticism Oneworld (1997) 1-85168-134-5. Useful to have in library.

Forward, Martin Muhammad: A Short Biography Oneworld (1997) 1-85168-131-0. Excellent short introduction to questions about the Prophet by a non-Muslim.

Gibb, H A R Islam Oxford University Press 1969 019-888017-0

Gilsenham, Michael Recognising Islam : Religion and Society in the Middle East I B Tauris & Co Ltd (updated 2000) 1-86064-409-0

Goodwin, J Price of Honour Little, Brown & Co 0-316-91074-0. Interesting anecdotal material about 'Islam and women'. New edition Warner (1995) 0-7515-1286-9

Green J Islam Hodder and Stoughton 2001 0-340-78963-8 GCSE text book useful as an introduction to the course

Guillaume, Alfred Islam Penguin (1956 reprinted 1990) 0-14-013555-3. Despite the obvious limitations of an old book, the fact that it is still in print is enough comment about its all-round usefulness.

Ibrahim, E & Davies, D J (trans) An Nawawi's Forty Hadith Islamic Texts Society (1997) 0-946621-65-9 A short collection of 40 'sound' Hadith. These help to deepen study and give actual examples.

Lewis, B The Arabs in History Harper Torchbooks 0-06-131029-8. A good introduction to the period of the Khalifas

Lewis, P Islamic Britain I B Tauris & Co Ltd 1-85043-861-7. Serious study of the subject in the title.

Lings, Martin Muhammad: His Life Based on the Earliest Sources Islamic Texts Society. (1992) 0-946621-33-0

Lion Hand Book The World's Religions Lion (1982 revised 1994) Useful to have in the library.

Macquarrie, John The Mediators SCM (1995) 0-334-02621-0. The brief chapter on Muhammad

is a relevant introduction to the course.

Maqsood, R W Islam Teach Yourself Books World Faith Series (1994) 0-340-60901-X Useful for background reading in library.

Maududi, S A Towards Understanding Islam Islamic Foundation (1980) 0-86037-053-4. most recent version (1996) 188 3591015

Mernissi, F Beyond the Veil: Male–Female Dynamics in Muslim Society Al-Saqi Books (1985) 0-86356-030-X. Considered a classic treatment of women and Islam.

Microsoft® EncartaTM. Caliphate

Murata, Sachiko & Chittick, William C The Vision of Islam Paragon House (1996) 1557785163

Musk, B A Passionate Believing : 'Fundamentalist' Face of Islam, Monarch Publications (1992) 1-85424-172-9. A study of Islamic Fundamentalism and the Muslim State.

Nasr, S H (ed) Islamic Spirituality Routledge (1987) 0-7102-1097-3 Useful for reference.

Nasr, S H Living Sufism Unwin (1980) 0-04-297038-5. A good introduction to the subject by a revered scholar and lecturer. RE writers exploring spirituality in world faiths (not forgetting 'values') as a key to the pluralist future increasingly refer to him.

Nazir-Ali, M Islam: A Christian Perspective Westminster Press (1984) 0-664-24527-7

Nicholson, Reynold A The Mystics of Islam Penguin (1989) 0-14-019168-2 Many re-issues but first published in 1914

Renard, John In the Footsteps of Muhammad Paulist Press (1992) 0809133164

Rippen, Andrew Textual Sources for the Study of Islam University of Chicago Press (1990) 0226720632

Robinson, Francis (ed) The Cambridge Illustrated History of the Islamic World Cambridge University Press (1996) 0-521-66993-6 (paperback) 0-521-43510-2(hardback)

Robinson, N Discovering the Qur'an SCM (1996) 0-334-02649-0. A thorough analysis of the compilation of the Qur'an

Rodinson, M Muhammad Penguin (1996) 0-14-024964-8

Sarwar, Ghulam Islam, Beliefs and Teachings Muslim Educational Trust (1982) 0-907261-03-5 An Islamic primer which is detailed, clear and useful.

Schuon, Frithjof Understanding Islam World Wisdom Books (1998) 0941532240

Shah, I The Way of the Sufi Penguin Arkana (1991) 0-14-019252-2. Could be a useful introduction to this topic with teacher guidance and selection.

Stewart, P J Unfolding Islam Garnet (1994) 1-85964-046

Tames, Richard Approaches to Islam John Murray (1982) 0-7 195- 3914-5 Very useful

Tayob, Abdulkader Islam – A Short Introduction Oneworld (1999) 1-85168-192-2. 'symbolic voyage of discovery around a mosque – from minaret to minbar'. An interesting approach which certainly beats starting with the history of Arabia but better edited by teacher because of style and some turns of phrase.

Waines, David An Introduction to Islam Cambridge University Press (1995) 0-521-42929-3. Revised and updated 2nd edition 2003. 052153906-4

Watt, W Montgomery Bell's introduction to the Qur'an Richard Bell (1995) 0748605975 In libraries

Watt, W Montgomery Islam A Short History Oneworld (1996 reissued 1999) 1-85168-205-8 Affordable, readable, comprehensive, relevant and up to date. Useful bibliography.

Watt, W Montgomery Islamic Philosophy and Theology Edinburgh University Press (1990 reprint 1996) 0748607498

Watt, W Montgomery Muhammad: Prophet and Statesman Oxford University Press (1961) Galaxy Books (OUP New York 1974) 0-19-881078-4. The classic biography Watton, Victor W Islam Hodder and Stoughton (1993 reprinted through until 1998) 0-340-58795-4. In a series called 'A Student's Approach to World Religions' edited by Brian Close, the book fulfils its brief as an affordable good all-round handbook.

Web Sites

www.islamic-foundation.org.uk/ The Islamic foundation

www.islam.org/ The Islam Page

wings.buffalo.edu/sa/muslim/isl/hadith1.html A Huge Hadith

www.al-islam.org/ Al-Islam

http://wings.buffalo.edu/student-life/sa/muslims/isl/isl.html Islam Texts and Resources Metapage www.jannah.org Women in Islam homepage: 'sisters'

G579 and G589: Judaism

Judaism Resources

Abramson, G (ed.) The Blackwell Companion to Jewish Culture, Blackwell (1989) 0-631-15111-7. A good general encyclopaedic guide to may aspects of Jewish culture and life.

Alexander, P S Judaism: Textual Sources in the Study of Religion Manchester University Press (1984) 0-8006-01460-7. Introduction to the principle textual sources of Judaism.

An interesting introduction to the women of the Jewish Scriptures and so the origins of Jewish life today.

Ben-Sassoon H H, A History of the Jewish People, Harvard University Press (1985) 0-674-39731-2. Very thorough study of Jewish history – too long to read, but a good reference source.

Berkovits, E Faith after the Holocaust New York (1973) Orthodox perspective on post-Holocaust theology.

Brenner, A The Israelite Woman: Social Role and Literary Type in Biblical Narrative JSOT Press (1985) 0-905774-83-3

Cohn-Sherbok, D A Popular Dictionary of Judaism Curzon Press (1997) 0-7007-1047-7

Cohn-Sherbok, D Holocaust Theology University of Exeter 0-8598-625-0

Cohn-Sherbok, D Judaism: A Short Introduction Oneworld (1999) 1-8516-8207-4

Cohn-Sherbok, D Judaism: A Short Introduction Oneworld (1999) 1-8516-8207-4

Cohn-Sherbok, D Judaism: History, Belief and Practice, Routledge 2003, 0415236614

Cohn-Sherbok, D Modern Judaism Macmillan (1996) 0-333-62102-6. Cohn-Sherbok's books are all readable, accurate and worth the investment.

De Lange, N Atlas of the Jewish World Phiadon (1985) 0-8719-6043-5

De Lange, N Judaism Oxford (1986)

Friedlander, A H (ed.) Out of the Whirlwind Schocken 0-8052-0925-5

Friedlander, A H Riders Towards the Dawn Constable (1993) 0-09-471180-1. These three texts approach the Holocaust and the concept of reconciliation from a Reform perspective. Friedlander, A H, A Thread of Gold: Journeys Towards Reconciliation, SCM (1990) 0-334-

02467-6

Gaster, T H Festivals of the Jewish Year Morrow Quill 0-688-06008-0. American publication very sound on the festivals and their observance.

Gilbert, M The Holocaust London (1987) The standard text.

Goldberg, D J & Rayner, J D The Jewish People – Their History and Their Religion Penguin 0-670-81219-6. Written from a Progressive viewpoint, an interesting introduction to Judaism. Greenberg, B How to run a traditional Jewish household, Simon & Schuster (1990) 0-671-60270-5. One of the best texts available to explain Judaism from the inside. Greenberg, B On Women and Judaism: A View from Tradition JPS (1992) 0-8276-0226-X An excellent text, written from an orthodox perspective.

Harris, L Holy Days, the World of a Hasidic Family Collier Books 0-02-020970-3. Hasidic life lived from within by a non-Hasidic Jew.

Homolka, W Gate to Perfection: the Idea of Peace in Jewish Thought (1994)

Jacobs, L Jewish Religion: A Companion Oxford University Press (1995) 0-19-826463-1

Jacobs, L Principles of the Jewish Faith J Aronson [US] (1989) 0-87668-871-7

Koltun, E (ed.) The Jewish Woman Schocken, New York (1989) 0-8052-0532-2

Kraemer, D (ed) The Jewish Family Oxford (1989)

Magonet, J The Explorer's Guide to Judaism Hodder & Stoughton (1998) 0-340-70984-7 Magonet, J The Explorer's Guide to Judaism Hodder & Stoughton (1998) 0-340-70984-7 Mayled, J Judaism, Hodder

Pilkington, C M Teach Yourself Judaism Hodder & Stoughton (1995) 0-340-61131-6. Good standard introduction

Pilkington, C M Teach Yourself Judaism Hodder & Stoughton (1995) 0-340-61131-6 Good standard introduction.

Rayner, J D & Hooker, B Judaism for Today ULPS (1978) 0-900521-09-0 Introduction to Judaism from a Progressive perspective.

Rubinstein, A (ed.) Hasidism Keter 0-7065-1456-4. A relatively brief introduction to Hasidism, its history and life.

Schauss, H Jewish Festivals: History and Observance Schocken (1996) 0-8052-0937-9 Not a very exciting text but very sound on the origins and practice of the festivals.

Shamir, I & Shavit, S Encyclopedia of Jewish History Facts on File 0-81601120-2. Coffee table book but an excellent resource.

Unterman, A The Jews: Their Religious Beliefs and Practices Sussex Academic Press (1996) 1-989723-41-9. The best book on Judaism yet to appear.

Vital, D The Origins of Zionism Clarendon Press 0-19-827715-6

Wiesel, E & Friedlander, A H Six Days of Destruction Paulist Press 0-8091-2999-X A post-Holocaust liturgy.

CDROM, Encyclopaedia Judaica www.davka.com

CD-ROM Lest We Forget – A History of the Holocaust Endless Interactive distributed by Logos Research Systems, Inc. <u>www.logos.com/products/lwf/</u>

Web sites

www.afet.org.uk Anne Frank Educational Trust

www.jajz-ed.org.il Jewish Pedagogic Centre

www.jchron.co.uk Jewish Chronicle

www.jpost.com Jerusalem Post

www.myjewishlearning.com

www.shamash.org Shamash Organisation

www.torah.org Project Genesis

www.virtualjerusalem.com Virtual Jerusalem

5 Resources for A2 Units

G581: A2 Philosophy of Religion

A2 Students

CD ROM World Library & Encyclopedia of Philosophy (2nd edition) Eurosoft Available from Multisell Ltd., PO Box 2, Leeds LS9 0XJ http://www.multisell.com A massive range of primary texts. Davis, B (ed.) Philosophy of Religion: A Guide to the Subject Cassell (1998) 0-304-70369-9 A good generalist book. Helm, P (ed.) Faith and Reason Oxford University Press (1999) 0-19-289290-8 A very large collection of readings which covers most of the specification. [more suitable for A2] Hick, J An Interpretation of Religion: Human Responses to the Transcendent Macmillan (1991 reprint) 0-333-39489-5 Worth dipping into on a number of issues, especially religious experience/religious language. Covers the nature & attributes of God, arguments for the existence of God, religious experience, faith & miracles, death & immortality, etc.. Hick, J Death and Eternal Life Macmillan (1985 edition) 0-333-39485-2 Massive scope, covering body/soul, resurrection/reincarnation, etc.. Hick, J Philosophy of Religion Prentice-Hall (1989 impr.) 0-13-662628-9 Mitchell, B The Philosophy of Religion Oxford University Press (1991 impr.) 0-19-875018-8 Has a sequence of views/counter-views on religious language/verification & falsification. Peterson, M (et al.) Reason and Religious Belief. An Introduction to the Philosophy of Religion Oxford University Press (1991) 0-19-506155-1

Recommended for its extremely comprehensive coverage.

Rowe, W L & Wainwright, W J **Philosophy of Religion. Selected Readings** Harcourt-Brace 3rd edition (1998) 0-15-503687-4

Pailin, D **Groundwork of Philosophy of Religion** Epworth Press (1994 impr.) 0-7162-0418-5 Useful for its relatively concise chapters.

A2 Teachers

Craig, E (ed) **Concise Routledge Encyclopedia of Philosophy** Routledge (1999) 0-415-22364-4

There are any number of reference works on Philosophy which cover the Philosophy of Religion. This is one of the best.

Gale, R **On the Nature and Existence of God** Cambridge University Press (1991 reprint) 0-521-45723-8

Comprehensive.

Helm, P (ed.) Faith and Reason Oxford University Press 1999 0-19-289290-8

A very large collection of readings which covers most of the specification.

Kung, Hans Does God Exist Collins ISBN 0 00 626637 1

Palmer, M Freud and Jung on Religion Routledge (1997) 0-415-14747-6

Excellent for its analysis, particularly the chapters on 'Critical Appraisal' which conclude each of the two sections of the book.

Webber, J Life After Death Abacus (1996) 1-898653-13-5 (booklet) Wiles, Maurice Faith and the Mystery of God SCM Press ISBN 334 00447 0

A2 Students

Oliphant, J. Religious Ethics at AS and A2 Routledge (2007) 0-415-36631-3 Bowie, R. Ethical Studies 2nd edition (2004) 0 7487 8079 3

These two books provide a good basis for most topics

Ayer, J. Language, Truth and Logic Penguin (1936) (2001) 0141186046 Blackburn, S. Lust Oxford University Press (2004) 0195162005 Singer, P Practical Ethics Cambridge University Press (1993) 052143971X Gensler, H. Ethics: A Contemporary Introduction Routledge (1998) Gill, R. A Textbook of Christian Ethics T&T Clark (1995) 0567031128 Gill, R. The Cambridge Companion to Christian Ethics Cambridge University Press (2001) 0521779189 Hoose, B. Christian Ethics: An Introduction Cassell 0304702633 Lafollette, H. (ed) Ethics in Practice Blackwell (2002) 140512945X Mitchell, P. The Philosophy of Religion Oxford University Press (1971) 0198750188 Good on Free Will Norman, R The Moral Philosophers; an Introduction to Ethics Oxford University Press (1998)0198752164 Palmer, M. Moral Problems Lutterworth Press (1999) 0718827910 Pojman, L Ethics Wadsworth (1998) 0534551815 Singer, P. Practical Ethics Cambridge University Press (1993) 052143971X Singer, P. One World Yale University Press (2002) 03100096860 Vardy, P. & Grolsch, P. The Puzzle of Ethics (second edition) Fount (1999) 0-00-628144-3 Walker, J. Environmental Ethics Hodder Murrav (2000) 0340757701 Wilcockson, M Sex and Relationships Hodder & Stoughton (2000) 0340724897 Wolf, M. Why Globalization Works Yale University Press (2004) 0300102526 Vardy, P. The Puzzle of Sex Fount (1999) 0006280420 A2 Teachers A New Dictionary of Christian Ethics and Pastoral Theology IVP (1995) 0-85110-650-1 Can be used for many religious traditions Baelz, P. Ethics and Belief Seabury Press (1977) 0859691101 Useful reference on most topics. Crisp, R. and Slote M. Virtue Ethics (Oxford University press (1997) 0198751885 Contains good bibliography Honderlich, T How Free Are You? Oxford University Press (1999) Hursthouse, R. On Virtue Ethics Oxford University Press 1999) 0198238185 Lovelock, J. Gaia: A New look at Life on Earth Oxford University Press 0192802189 MacIntyre, A. After Virtue Duckworth (1985) 0715616633 Mackie, J Ethics Penguin (1990) 0140135588

Good discussion on relativism.

Macquarrie, J & Childress, J **A New Dictionary of Christian Ethics** SCM (1986) 0334022045 Useful reference on most topics.

The Blackwell Guide to Ethical Theory Blackwell Publishers (2000) 0-631-20119-X Warnock, M **An Intelligent Person's Guide to Ethics** Duckworth (1998) 071562

See page 77. G573 and G583: Jewish Scriptures

G584: A2 New Testament

Books for Pupils

Barrett, C *The New Testament Background: Selected Documents* (SPCK, 1987 (revised edition); ISBN 0 281 0494 2) Drury, J *The Parables in the Gospels* (Crossroad, 1985; 978-0824509477) Keck, L *Who is Jesus?*(Augsberg, 2001; ISBN 978-0800631703) Rowland, C *Christian Origins* (SPCK, 2002; ISBN 978-0281041107) Sanders, E *The Historical Figure of Jesus* (Penguin, 1995 (new edition); 978-0140144994) Stanton, G *The Gospels and Jesus* (Oxford, 2002 (second revised edition; ISBN 978-0199246168) Stanton, G A *Gospel for a New People: Studies in Matthew* (Continuum, 1992; ISBN 978-0567292391) Theissen, G and Merz, A *The Historical Jesus: a Comprehensive Guide* (SCM Press, 1998; ISBN; 978-0334026969)

www.ntgateway.com

Books for Teachers

Borg, M Jesus: a New Vision (Harper 1991; ISBN 978-0060608149) Davies, W The Sermon on the Mount (iUniverse.com 2006; ISBN 978-0595411061) Esler, P Community and Gospel in Luke-Acts (CUP, 1999 (new edition): ISBN 978-0521388733) Harvey, A Jesus and the Constraints of History (Duckworth, 1988; ISBN 978-0715615980) Chapter 5 On miracles Horbury, W Jewish Messianism and the Cult of Christ (SCM Press, 1998; ISBN 978-0334027133) Jeremias, J The Parables of Jesus (SCM Press, 2003; ISBN 978-0334029175) Knight, J Jesus: A Historical and Theological Introduction (Continuum 2004; ISBN 978-0826469816) Kee, H What Can We Know About Jesus? (CUP, 1990; ISBN 978-0521369152) Longenecker, R The Challenge of Jesus' Parables (Eerdmans, 2000; ISBN 978-0802846389) Luz, U The Theology of the Gospel of Matthew (CUP, 1995; ISBN 0521 4335765) Tuckett, C Luke (T & T Clark Continuum 2004: 978-1850757511) Sanders, E Jesus and Judaism (SCM Press, 1985; ISBN 978-0334020912) Schrage, W Ethics of the New Testament (Fortress, 1991; ISBN 978-0800624774) Harold Remus Jesus as Healer (CUP, 1997; ISBN 978-0521585743) Smith, M Jesus the Magician (Ulysses, 1991; ISBN 978-1569751558) David Tiede Jesus and the Future (CUP, 1990; ISBN 978-0521385817) Vermes, G Jesus the Jew SCM Press, 2001 (new edition); ISBN 978-0334028390) Vermes, G The Complete Dead Sea Scrolls (Penguin, 2004 (sixth revised edition); ISBN 978-0140449525) Wilson, S Luke and the Law (CUP, 2005 (new edition); ISBN 978-0521020572) Wright, N Who Was Jesus? (SPCK, 2005; ISBN 978-0281057412)

A2 Theology of Religions and Feminist Theology

Books for Pupils

1. Theology of Religions

Avis, P (Editor) *Divine Revelation* (DLT, 1997; ISBN 0232522006) Chapter 7 (by Gavin D'Costa) Useful analysis of inclusivism, exclusivism and pluralism.

Cupitt, D *After God: The Future of Religion* (Weidenfeld and Nicholson, 1997; ISBN 0297 81952 6) *Part III in particular*

Cupitt, D Solar Ethics (SCM Press, 1995; ISBN 0334 026180)

The Doctrine Commission of the Church of England *The Mystery of Salvation* (Church House Publishing, 1995; ISBN: 0715137786) Chapter 7. Sets out the three views - exclusivism, inclusivism and pluralism and considers the implication of each on the Christian notions of salvation

Dominus Iesus (Catholic Truth Society, 2000; ISBN 1860820921)

Grenz, S and Olsen, R 20th Century Theology: God in a Transitional Age (IVP 1992; ISBN 08308 15252) pages 65-77 (Barth); 238-264 (Rahner).

Hart, T (editor) *The Dictionary of Historical Theology* (Eerdmans Publishing, 2000; ISBN 9028 3907X) *Very good introductions to many of the topics covered in this unit*

Hick, J God has Many Names (Macmillan, 1980; ISBN 0333277473) Includes an autobiographical account of his conversion to pluralism.

Hick, J God and the Universe of Faiths (Oneworld, 1973; ISBN 1 85168 071 3) Note that this sets out his initial position which has developed since that time

Peterson, M; Hasker, W; Reichenbach, B; Bsinger, D *Reason and Religious Belief* (OUP, 1991, ISBN 019 506155 1) chapter12. *Good over view.*

Smart, N *The Religious Experience* (Macmillan, 5th edition 1996; ISBN 978-0024121417)

Wilcockson, M A Student's Guide to A2 Religious Studies for the OCR Specification (Rhinegold Publishing Ltd order from www.rhinegold-studyguides.co.uk)

2. Feminist Theology

Cahill, L Sex, Gender and Christian Ethics (CUP, 1996; ISBN 0521 57848 5)

Cone, J and Wilmore Black Theology A Documentary History Volume 2 (Orbis Books, 1993; ISBN 0 88344 868 8). Particularly helpful for feminist/Womanist developments in Black Theology

Brock, R and Thistlethwaite, S *Casting Stones: Prostitution and Liberation in Asia and the United States* (Fortress 1996; ISBN 08006 2979 5)

Cone, J and Wilmore, G (editors) *Black Theology* Volume 2 (Orbis, 1998; ISBN 088344 773 8) Part IV *This sets out a wide range of articles on Womanist and feminist theologies*

Daly, M Beyond God the Father (The Women's Press 1986; ISBN: 0704339935). Her famous radical post-Christian feminist position

Hampson, D *Theology and Feminism* (Blackwell Publishers 1990; ISBN 0631149430) *Outlines her post-Christian feminism but also analyses the various other feminist theologies.*

Loades, A Feminist Theology: Voices from the Past (Polity, 2001; ISBN 07456 08698)

Messer, N Christian Ethics (SCM Press, 2006; ISBN 0334 02995 3) Chapter 8 A very good discussion of feminist theologies and Christian ethics

Pagels, E The Gnostic Gospels (Phoenix Press, 2006; ISBN 0753821141)

Ruether, R Women and Redemption (SCM Press, 1998; ISBN0334 027349) A very clear survey of early Christianity, Augustine, Luther, Julian of Norwich, Mary Daly etc.

Tong, R Feminist Thought (Routledge, 1989; ISBN 0415 078741) A comprehensive introduction to all the main secular feminisms. Useful for Marxist, existentialist and radical feminism, motherhood and reproduction.

Trible, P Texts of Terror (SCM Press, 1984; ISBN 0334029007) Analysis of some Old Testament stories about the appalling treatment of women.

Wilcockson, M Sex and Relationships (Hodder and Stoughton, 2000; ISBN 0340 72489 7) Gives an introduction to the main secular feminisms and how this has affected moral reasoning in relationships. See chapter 8 on the family.

Books for Teachers

1. Theology of Religions

Barth, K *Church Dogmatics* (Continuum International Publishing, ISBN 0567090124) I.2 section 17 ('The Revelation of God as the Abolition of Religion').

D'Costa, G Christian Uniqueness Reconsidered: The Myth of a Pluralistic Theology of Religions (Orbis Books, 1990; ISBN 08834 4686 3)

Rahner, K *Foundations of Christian Faith* (The Crossroad Publishing Company, 1978; ISBN 0824505239)

Sinkinson, C The Universe of Faiths: A Critical Study of John Hick's Religious Pluralism (Paternoster Press, 2001; ISBN 1 84227 106 7) Explains how Hick's views have developed over time. Offers his own critical insight of Hick.

Ward, K A Vision to Pursue (SCM, 1991; 01334 02411 0) Ward's plural view of religions.

Webster, J Barth (Continuing Publishing Company, 1999; ISBN 08264 50792).

Webster. J (editor) *The Cambridge Companion to Karl Barth* (CUP, 2000; ISBN 0 521 58560 0) Chapter 15 (by J.A. di Noia) *on Barth's theology of religion*.

White, S Don Cupitt and the Future of Christian Doctrine (SCM Press, 1994; ISBN 0334 02563 X) A good summary and analysis of Cupitt.

2. Feminist Theology

Fiorenza, S In Memory of Her (SCM Press, 1994 (second edition); ISBN 0 334 02639 3) Important study and reconstruction of the place of women in the Early Church.

Fiorenza, S Miriam's Child, Sophia's Prophet (SCM Press 1994; 0334 02585 0)

Pagels, E Adam, Eve and the Serpent (Weidenfeld & Nicolson 1988; ISBN 0297793268)

Parsons, S Feminism and Christian Ethics (CUP, 1996, ISBN 0521 46820). Sets out clearly the liberal, (re)constructionist and naturalist paradigms.

Parsons, S (editor) The Cambridge Companion to Feminist Theology (CUP, 2002; ISBN 0 521 66380 6)

Ruether, R Sexism and God-Talk (SCM Press, 1983; ISBN 0334023297). Useful for considering language and re-imaging of God from a feminist theological perspective.

Russell, L and Clarkson, J *Dictionary of Feminist Theologies* (Mowbray, 1996; ISBN 0264673875) *Useful general resource.*

Sawyer, D and Collier, M (Editors) *Is There a Future for Feminist Theology?* (Sheffield Academic Press, 1999; ISBN 1 85075 979 0)

Tong, R Feminist Approaches to Bioethics (Westview Press, 1997; ISBN 08133 1955 2)

Wilcockson, M 'Is There a Future for Feminist Theology?' in *The New Theologian* (Volume 13 Number 1, Winter 2002)

Williams, D Sisters in the Wilderness (Orbis 1993; ISBN 157075 0262) The classic work on Womanist theology beginning with the story of Hagar.

G586: A2 Buddhism

A2 Students

Most of the books used at AS will continue to be useful at A2

Conze, Edward **Buddhist Scriptures** Penguin (No *longer in print, but still the most convenient collection available, containing all the scriptures necessary for the course).*

Lopez, Donald Buddhist **Scriptures** Penguin (2004) 0-140-44758-x for those without access to Conze this is best alternative, containing the Questions of King Milinda, The Sutta Pitaka and the Vinaya Pitaka. Unfortunately the Lotus Sutra and Heart Sutra will have to be accessed separately.

Video pack: **Buddhism Today – Buddhists in Britain respond to ethical issues** The Clear Vision Trust (2000) <u>www.clear-vision.org</u>

Senior representatives of five Buddhist traditions in Britain discuss their central principles and position on ethical issues. The traditions are Theravada, Tibetan, Soto Zen, Pure Land and the Western Buddhist Order.

A2 Teachers

Cheetham, Eric Indian Mahayana available from: The Buddhist Society, 58 Eccleston Square, London SW1V 1PH. Tel: 0171 834 5858 fax: 0171 976 5238 *Excellent analyses of the Lotus Sutra and other Indian Mahayana teachings.*

Gyatso, Geshe Kelsang **Heart of Wisdom** Tharpa Publications (2001) 0-948006-77-3 Again many suitable translations are available, but the commentary in this book is quite comprehensive

Hyers, Conrad **Once-Born, Twice-Born Zen** Wipf and Stock publishers (1989) 1-59244-496-2 Written with regard to Zen in Japan, but useful for information on the Soto and Rinzai Zen schools

Keown, D. Prebish, C. Queen, C. Action Dharma RoutledgeCurzon (2003) 0-7007-1594-0 useful for the ethics section

Keown, Damien **Contemporary Buddhists Ethics** Curzon (2000) 0-7007-1313-1 has useful articles applying Buddhist ethical theories to contemporary issues.

Kulananda Western Buddhism Harper Collins (1997) 0-7225-3232-6 useful perspectives on Buddhism in the West

Watson, Burton (trans) **The Lotus Sutra** Columbia University Press (1993) 0-231-08161-8 *This* seems to be one of the best translations available at present, however teachers are welcome to use other translations if they prefer.

Williams, Paul Mahayana Buddhism – The Doctrinal Foundations Routledge (1989) 0-415-02537-0

Detailed study of Mahayana doctrine including important studies of the Lotus Sutra and the development of Pure Land Buddhism.

Web Sites

Access to Insight - <u>www.accesstoinsight.org/index.html</u> - vinaya rules, extracts from the sutta pitaka, and short biographies of Thai forest dwelling monks, as well as extensive links to other useful sources of information.

Buddhanet - <u>www.buddhanet.net/</u> - useful on-line magazine with many relevant articles and an interactive tour of the wheel of life, as well as a useful e-library containing amongst others an abridged version of the Questions of King Milinda (called The Debate of King Milinda on the site).#

G587: A2 Hinduism

A2 Students

Feuerstein, G (tr) **The Yoga-sutra of Patanjali** Inner Traditions International [US] (1992) 0-89281-262-1

Kinsley, D R **Hinduism – A Cultural Perspective** Prentice-Hall (1993) 0-13-395732-2 Zaehner, R C **Hinduism** Oxford University Press (1992) 0-19-888012-X Zaehner, R C (tr & ed) **Hindu Scriptures** Everyman's Library (1992) 1-85715-064-3 *For the Bhagavad Gita.*

A2 Teachers

Bartley, C.J. **The Theology of Ramanuja** RoutledgeCurzon (2003) 0-7007-1459-6 Chatterjee, M **Gandhi's Religious Thought** Macmillan (1985) 0-333-39950-1 King, R **Indian Philosophy** Edinburgh University Press (1999) 0-7486-0954-7 *useful sections on Samkhya and Yoga* Lipner, Julius **Hindus** Routledge (1994) 0-415-05182-7 *useful sections on the Vedas and varnashramadharma* Moore, C. Radhakrishnan, S. **A Sourcebook in Indian Philosophy** Princeton (1989) 0-691-01958-4 has extracts from Samkhya, Yoga, Sankara and Ramunuja

Sharma, Arvind **The Hindu Gita** Duckworth (1986) 0-7156-2229-3 *includes commentary on* Sankara's and Ramunja's perspectives on the Gita, useful for highlighting the differences in their thinking.

Spear, P A History of India – Volume 2 Penguin (1983) 0-1402-0770-8

Richards, G A Source Book of Modern Hinduism Curzon Press (1985) 0-7007-0317-9 a collection of articles related to modern Hindu developments.

Web Sites

www.religioustolerance.org/hinduism.htm A good page for useful links to many sites on Hinduism covering just about all aspects of the course. http://www.advaita-vedanta.org/avhp/ An introduction to advaita philosophy. www.iskcon.org.uk/whatis/index.html useful information from ISKCON's own site www.thebrahmosamaj.org/ the site has useful information on the key figures from the movements foundation

www.haryana-online.com/People/arya_samaj.htm a useful site on the Arya Samaj

G588: A2 Islam

See page 83. G578 and G588: Islam

G589: A2 Judaism

See page 86. G579 and G589: Judaism